

This is a digital copy of a book that was preserved for generations on library shelves before it was carefully scanned by Google as part of a project to make the world's books discoverable online.

It has survived long enough for the copyright to expire and the book to enter the public domain. A public domain book is one that was never subject to copyright or whose legal copyright term has expired. Whether a book is in the public domain may vary country to country. Public domain books are our gateways to the past, representing a wealth of history, culture and knowledge that's often difficult to discover.

Marks, notations and other marginalia present in the original volume will appear in this file - a reminder of this book's long journey from the publisher to a library and finally to you.

Usage guidelines

Google is proud to partner with libraries to digitize public domain materials and make them widely accessible. Public domain books belong to the public and we are merely their custodians. Nevertheless, this work is expensive, so in order to keep providing this resource, we have taken steps to prevent abuse by commercial parties, including placing technical restrictions on automated querying.

We also ask that you:

- + *Make non-commercial use of the files* We designed Google Book Search for use by individuals, and we request that you use these files for personal, non-commercial purposes.
- + *Refrain from automated querying* Do not send automated queries of any sort to Google's system: If you are conducting research on machine translation, optical character recognition or other areas where access to a large amount of text is helpful, please contact us. We encourage the use of public domain materials for these purposes and may be able to help.
- + *Maintain attribution* The Google "watermark" you see on each file is essential for informing people about this project and helping them find additional materials through Google Book Search. Please do not remove it.
- + Keep it legal Whatever your use, remember that you are responsible for ensuring that what you are doing is legal. Do not assume that just because we believe a book is in the public domain for users in the United States, that the work is also in the public domain for users in other countries. Whether a book is still in copyright varies from country to country, and we can't offer guidance on whether any specific use of any specific book is allowed. Please do not assume that a book's appearance in Google Book Search means it can be used in any manner anywhere in the world. Copyright infringement liability can be quite severe.

About Google Book Search

Google's mission is to organize the world's information and to make it universally accessible and useful. Google Book Search helps readers discover the world's books while helping authors and publishers reach new audiences. You can search through the full text of this book on the web at http://books.google.com/

PROBABLE

TALES

_____ **___**__

Ô

•

.

.

PROBABLE TALES

-

-.

•

•

PROBABLE TALES

•

EDITED BY

W. STEBBING

.

LONGMANS, GREEN, AND CO. 39 PATERNOSTER ROW, LONDON NEW YORK AND BOMBAY

1899

All rights reserved

AQA7584

PRINTED BY WILLIAM CLOWES AND SONS, LIMITED, LONDON AND BECCLES.

•

.

· ·

.

.

PREFACE

THE following notes of travel have reached the Editor's hands from various quarters, and he does not vouch for the literal accuracy of all of them.

Their essential truthfulness is too apparent from their intrinsic probability to need, or be the better for, any extraneous testimony, which indeed he could not offer.

For the same reason he has thought it superfluous, while allowing the several narrators to speak each for himself, to add names and addresses.

April, 1899.

CONTENTS

														PAGE
A QUARTER OF AN HOUR A	FT	ER		•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	1
MARKS AND MONOGRAMS .		•						•	•			•		17
A SURVIVAL			•	•	•	•			•	•				27
A Condensing Process .			•		•	•		•	•	•				41
A FAMILY ARMISTICE			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			•	53
BEGINNING AT THE RIGHT E	ENI	с.	•				•	•	•	•		•	•	67
Ipsiland			•	•	•	•		•	•	•		•		77
A FEMININE PLOT			•		•	•	•			•				89
A REMEDY FOR THE RISE O	F	Fr	IEI	D S			•				•			109
ANOTHER JUBILEE														121
TOO LITERAL		•	•			•								131
SHOW SUNDAY AT KOMOTAU	Ţ			•										143
ULTRA-INVENTIVENESS			•											151
IN RETIREMENT		•												163
A SOCIAL COMPROMISE		•	•						•	•				169
Conscience-money	,										•			181
DOING WITHOUT				•		•		•						191
A BALANCE OF TEMPER .														207
EXCHANGE NO ROBBERY .														217
Hollow														229

. . . • . -

A QUARTER OF AN HOUR AFTER

.

.

.

A QUARTER OF AN HOUR AFTER

None of the circular tours have coupons for Dampfbootlos-land. That may account for the ignorance in this country of one of the quaintest and most interesting usages ever noted by me in my very extensive experience of foreign customs. Only by an accident did I myself become acquainted with it. I had been making a short trip in the charming Mersegebirge, when I lost my Cook's tickets. They worked their way through a hole in my coat-pocket, as it flapped over the gangway of a Dantweiss packet-boat. They were at the bottom of the river before I was aware that anything was wrong. So strange is human nature that I rejoiced at my loss. The next port at which the steamer called was marked in my Baedeker as a stage on the way to Dampfbootlos-land, where I had never been. Here was my opportunity. I hoped to recover from Messrs. Cook the value of the drowned coupons, and I should be able, at little additional cost, to visit an unexplored district. Who knows?—perhaps I might even find matter for a paper which would cover me with glory, though a mere male pedestrian, at the next meeting of the British Association.

The captain, a simple soul, credited my explanation of the absence of a ticket for Merseburg, and I disembarked, haversack on After dining at the Erzherzog shoulder. Stephan, I commenced my march. By the following evening I had crossed the border of Dampfbootlos-land, and had reached the haupstadt, Dorfeln. An inn in the High-street had an air of comfort, which was not deceptive. I saw my bedroom, washed my hands, and descended into the coffee-room. A waiter was standing there, and I ordered tea. The interval I employed in surveying from the window a picturesque group of gables. After a sufficient pause I returned to my table, which remained still unfurnished, though the same waiter stood

by it in a kind of expectant attitude. By way of saying something, I inquired if tea would be ready soon, as I was hungry and thirsty with my walk. A little to my disgust, he asked what I wanted, as if he had not heard before. I repeated the order, with a variation as to the cooking of the eggs. In a very short time my meal was laid, all but they. I filled my cup, buttered a roll, and began. After some minutes I ventured upon a query concerning the eggs. Very civilly the man asked if I would like some. In surprise rather than anger, I replied affirmatively; and off he went and fetched them.

I soon went to bed, and was up early to see the sights of Dorfeln. Fortunately, as solitary sight-seeing is dull work, I lighted on another guest at my hotel, who was bound on a similar errand. Though well acquainted with the city and people, he had been on previous visits hindered by business engagements from amusing himself as a tourist. He was a capital companion, and we supplied one another's wants. I was able to tell him why he should admire Rembrandt, and sneer at Carlo Dolci, in the well-filled art-gallery. For his part, 6

he gave me much more valuable information on the manners and customs of the Dampfbootlos-landers themselves.

Of one remarkable usage in particular he told me à propos of a small incident at the Campanile. I had wished to mount to the top for the sake of the view, which, however, my friend assured me would not repay the labour, the morning being wet and misty. I had insisted, and we went to the wicket. T mentioned our intention to the old custodian, and he promised to find the key. Meanwhile we stood outside in the drizzle. After a tedious pause, as it appeared to me, I went in, and reiterated my request. On that, after a look at the cuckoo-clock, he lifted his hand to a rusty key overhead, and fitted it into the lock. Now, I had happened to observe that key hanging there before, and felt I had been robbed of precious Perhaps I may have uttered some warm time. expressions; but my companion came up, and we made the ascent. He had been right. The stairs were dirty, broken, and dark, and there was nothing to see from the top. Down we quickly came. At the bottom stood the gate-keeper,

A QUARTER OF AN HOUR AFTER.

with a scrap of paper, which he handed to me. Glancing at it, I saw, not, as I expected, a legend of the tower, but a parcel of oaths in several languages, which, I dare say, I may have scattered about before our climb. "Pish! Psha!" said I, as I tore the scrawl in bits. "I only wish, my good man, you had kept us for a twelvemonth from going up your rascally cockloft, and fraying my only decent coat with its filthy walls." The elderly janitor looked pleased and satisfied as we went forth, and we resumed our explorations.

During luncheon the curious episode of the transcript of my flowers of speech came to my mind, and I mentioned it. My companion took it so very much as a matter of course, that, I suppose, my face showed surprise. "Bless my soul!" he ejaculated, "you surely have not been half a day in Dorfeln without understanding the rule of the 'Quarter of an Hour After'?" I asseverated my ignorance, and he explained. As there may be others as unacquainted with it as myself, I had better give his description.

Dampfbootlos-landers, it seems, have Celtic

7

blood in them. They are naturally rash and impetuous. For centuries, "Leap before you look" was their favourite maxim, and it brought them into frequent trouble. Outside and inside they were perpetually in hot water through their addiction to inconsiderate action. Never was there a people which was more chronically on the verge of an explosion both at home and abroad.

At this point I interpolated that the natives appeared to me extraordinarily peppery still. "Yes," said he; "that is the beauty of the thing. Dampfbootlos-land is always boiling, and nobody is scalded. This is how it is managed. A hundred and fifty years ago, as every schoolboy knows, there was a revolution. A new constitution was framed by the wise Periobolos. It consisted of a single article, the rule of the 'Quarter of an Hour After.' By this ordinance it is made the indefeasible privilege and the binding duty of every resident, native or alien, in the country to revise his words, and, so far as is possible, his acts, within the quarter of an hour ensuing upon their original manifestation. The obligation is

A QUARTER OF AN HOUR AFTER.

bilateral. As speaker, writer, and doer may, and should, go through a process of re-editing, so every Dampfbootlos-lander is bound, by his love and fealty to his mother country, to efface from heart and brain the memory of all that speaker, writer, and doer has by the end of fifteen minutes disavowed."

My companion mentioned many particulars, showing the loyalty of the population to the new social compact. I had myself an early opportunity of testing the theory by facts. As we finished luncheon, we heard a rush of feet pass the restaurant. We followed, and were witnesses of as spirited a faction fight as Doneraile ever saw. The scene was the marketplace, where, in opposition to popular feeling, some official had put up posts and fences. They were pulled down, and instantly a battle royal commenced between the malcontents and the police, backed by the superior tradesmen. Crowns were freely broken, and blood rained from hundreds of noses. Then the hubbub ceased as abruptly as a June hailstorm. The fallen picked themselves quietly up; the conquerors retired with no exultant shouts. Torn

coats were worn with the most self-respecting decorum, and eyes peered without shame from black, blue, and green cheeks. Which side was right and which was wrong, in the quarrel, few seemed to seek, and none cared. The important matter was that everybody concerned had wiped from his mind all sense of responsibility for the outbreak. Anointed with the balm of full power of revision, bruises, bumps, and sprains speedily left off smarting.

As I grew more familiar with the country, I was constantly recognizing the utility of the institution. For instance, thanks to my friend, I received, a week after my arrival, an invitation, repeated a quarter of an hour later, to a large and magnificent dinner-party. Other guests informed me of the motive of the entertainment, which was given to celebrate a piece of domestic good luck. The eldest son of the house had offered marriage to an insinuating barmaid. As might, or might not, be expected, he perceived his folly shortly afterwards, and disavowed the engagement. The doubt was whether the quarter had not been passed. Happily, the evidence of the Astronomer Royal

proved that the public-house clock was a minute and a half fast, and the honour of the Spitzbergens was saved.

Less vital illustrations of the convenience of the custom came daily under my observation. Husbands and wives, mothers-in-law and daughters-in-law, authors and publishers, would hurl the most libellous epithets at each other. Long before the close of the quarter of an hour they felt the absurdity of the splutter, and recanted. Lawyers have complained to me that scarcely a bare livelihood was to be made. By a law of human nature, everybody who has entered into a contract desires to cancel, or essentially vary, it a few minutes afterwards. The other side resists, and hence we lawyers live. In Dampfbootlos-land, as a purchaser knows he is free to call off, he feels no temptation to do it. The humbler branch of the profession, which depends on assault and battery, is equally starved with the haughty Nisi Prius and Chancery advocate. I have known two bosom friends fall out over the Pragmatic Sanction, and enforce their historical arguments with their fists. Properly they should both have adjourned to



the nearest police court. As it was, on the stroke of the quarter the tempest utterly subsided, and the disputants finished between them a second bottle of old port.

Good intentions have been said, not by King Solomon, to make a dangerous pavement. In Dampfbootlos-land the pavement is not in the least slippery. The virtue of the ordinance, as well as the secret of its practical success, is that it does not exist merely on the surface of the statute-book. In the course of its operation it has created a solid substratum of national character to support it. So far as I was able to observe within the limits of an autumn vacation, Dampfbootlos-landers enjoy through it the advantages of two distinct existences. Elsewhere persons of hasty temper buy dearly the pleasure of yielding to their emotions. Whether they cause pain or not, they surely are punished. It is give and take in these matters. He who inflicts is in his turn afflicted. The more pardonable the actors upon impulse are, the heavier the retaliation upon them. They let fly things in their passion which too faithfully come home to roost a very short time after. They gnaw their

12

hearts in unavailing regrets that they have rendered a wife, a parent, a child, a servant, or a friend, permanently unhappy or vindictive. They are tempted by a malicious wit to a jest which stings others, and shames themselves. They strike a bargain, of which they immediately repent. One thoughtless act pledges them often to another, from which their souls helplessly revolt.

The misfortune is, many natures are so constituted that it is necessary for them to do or say in order to comprehend the folly of the deed or saying. If they simply constrain themselves to be passive and silent, they do not know how unwise it would have been to do or utter that which, once done or said, proves glaringly its own absurdity.

Dampfbootlos-landers are insured by their glorious institution against most of these inconveniences. They are perfectly natural. They have not the discomfort of walking about with a rasping padlock on their lips. They act on their impulses—brawl, strike, curse, slander, howl, to their hearts' content. I have seen dishes thrown by a flourishing attorney and

member of the Peace Society at a hardworking plain cook. I have heard husband and wife nagnagging at one another in a leafy villa, till I blushed to the nape of my neck, for a good fourteen minutes and three-quarters. I have been present when the craziest bids were made at auctions of old masters and sham Lowestoft. I have casually seen the patriarch of a highly respectable family pay ridiculous court to a giggling barmaid. There is no country more spontaneously or more exuberantly festive, where choleric tempers are more liberally indulged, where more frolicsome tomfooleries are practised, or where there are fewer after-headaches, throbs of self-disgust, vendettas, and poisoned dreams of the kind from which the day-sleeper does not wake up.

Through the quarter-of-an-hour-after rule everybody has a locus pœnitentiæ; and the benefit of it is largely taken. One most useful effect is, as I have intimated, the growth of a time-instinct. In other regions people indulge their tempers for various periods. One Norfolk acquaintance of mine goes on cursing and swearing, audibly or sotto voce, for half a day at a stretch. Another is abusive, and very, for a short five minutes. A third will have a week's bout of variegated recklessness. In one such fit he compromised for ever and a day an all but absolute expectancy from a maiden aunt. No regularity in the exercise of the emotions is observed anywhere but in Dampfbootlos-land. There it is as if a physician were superintending a cat-o'-nine-tails performance, watch in hand, and finger on pulse. The tempest rises to a climax, and lulls, like a typhoon, in a dozen minutes, more or less. Yet just as furious enjoyment is extracted from it as if it had been convulsing the domestic hearth for days or months.

Remember, as I have said, that all is over as soon as the little bill is on the point of being presented for payment. The angry man, improvident dealer, or impetuous lover, merely snatches the permanently attached sponge, passes it across the slate, and the whole is as if it had never been. There is no legacy of heart-burnings, though there may be black eyes. Now and then, very rarely, that is not the result. The curser sticks to his curses, or the plunger to his plungings. In such cases things follow their course, as in less enlightened lands; but these are exceptions. For the most part, the slate is perpetually being cleaned, and no entry is allowed to leave a durable impression.

Defects may, I dare say, be discovered in the plan. The world in general advances by irreversible and incurable jerks, out of which are hammered the springs for more jerks. I have heard it objected that the jerks in Dampfbootlosland quietly resile, so that the prevailing national characteristic is immobility. The immobility, however, it cannot be denied, has all the appearance of the most entertaining activity, which, to sensible minds, is as good as the reality, if not better. At any rate, that is my view; and if my people happen hereafter to miss me, they may know whither, with my bit of temper, I have migrated. 3

MARKS AND MONOGRAMS

. .

MARKS AND MONOGRAMS

SEVERAL of us were in Meridew's rooms last Tuesday. We were talking of the difficulty of distinguishing rogues from men of honour, wise men from fools. virtuous women from vicious, the generous from the selfish, brazen trumpets from silver. One of us had lately been shamefully defrauded by a solicitor, whom he had regarded as the soul of honour. Others of the company were capping his tale with woeful experiences of their own. All who had spoken agreed that it was the duty of every member of a community, with a clue to the depravity of persons in positions of trust, to save his neighbours from injury by plucking off the mask. At the same time, the opinion was as loudly expressed that the attempt is hopeless. Everybody who had been cheated declared that his particular traitor had been so

specious as to defy the insight of a Solomon, or of one of Dickens's, Conan Doyle's, or Wilkie Collins's detectives.

Our host, who had been silently listening, interposed. He was not sure, he said, that any supernatural acuteness was required for the discovery of base metal. He was more confident that nobody, whatever the facilities, would take the trouble to avail himself of them. He travelled a good deal, as we knew. Two years before he had visited Saxe-Hinter-Hausen. Probably all there had been to Saxe-Hinter-Hausen, and had never remarked the peculiarity which he was about to describe. That helped to prove his conclusion.

Well, in Saxe-Hinter-Hausen he had come upon an institution, which, he had no doubt, could be copied elsewhere, and with no better effects than had attended its introduction there. Every one in Saxe-Hinter-Hausen, it seems, is obliged to have a mark, just like Sèvres porcelain, explaining his capacity, proclivities, moral and intellectual, his temper, his hidden vices, and the amount of his available income and expectations. A very ingenious system—involving a surprisingly small quantity, for the results, of espionage—exists, by which every Hinter-Hausener's character, in these respects, is accurately known. At a given age every citizen comes, quite spontaneously, to have the proper stamp impressed. The individual chooses where it shall be put, provided it be visible for any who care to examine. No more absolute security, it might be thought, could have been afforded against imposition. Yet, as James Meridew proceeded to show, Saxe-Hinter-Hausen is understood to harbour rather more profligates and swindlers of all sorts than neighbouring states.

In itself, the arrangement, he admitted, is delightful. Nothing ought to be more effectual for the prevention of uncertainty and deception. Suppose a farm bailiff is wanted, and a candidate applies, with blunt honesty disfiguring the whole of his face. Here he is accepted at once on the credentials of his disobliging countenance. The Hinter-Hausener can inspect his stamp, which proves the roughness to be only skin-deep, and show the fellow out. A Hinter-Hausener may be on the look-out for a wife, and be anxious

especially to secure good humour, the quality in which he is himself lacking. Each suitor for the post has the stamp for temper, and he can judge infallibly for himself. If he wish for comeliness, on which opinions widely differ, he need not run the risk of admiring incorrectly. Every woman is officially certified for beauty, du diable, or otherwise. It is the same with health, wealth, morals, and manners-all matters in which imposture has a free hand, and men cannot safely trust their own discernment, even when it is nobody's interest to deceive. The brand would seem to be invaluable in the infinity of cases in which, from the nature of things, no guidance elsewhere is procurable. It is hardly less important as a substitute for the fallacious certificates in common use. Take, for example, the ordinary instance of an appointment to the headmastership of a great public school. Tn England the unfortunate governing body sits knee-deep in a litter of unconscientious testimonials, and records, as worthless, of University Saxe-Hinter-Hausen electors have honours. but to inspect the marks for firmness, sympathy, practical scholarship, enthusiasm for

good, and resentment of evil; and they cannot go wrong.

Meridew was asked, as he had mentioned that each had the right of deciding the situation of his marks, how an inquirer was to know where to look. That seems to be settled mainly by small brass plates on the houses, resembling those affixed by insurance offices. They explain by simple and perfectly intelligible signs the spot on which each occupant's stamp is to be Sometimes it is the arm, sometimes found. the palm of the hand, sometimes the cheek, where it answers the purpose of a mole, sometimes the top of the forehead, sometimes the crown, as if it were a priest's tonsure. Meridew had known it to be on the ankle or the nape of the neck. Wherever it is, the first section of the Saxe-Hinter-Hausen Code ordains solemnly that it shall be deemed in conformity with the most polished manners to demand permission to look.

We all of us admired the custom, which, it was clear, put everybody where he ought to be. The value of men, women, and children, which elsewhere is the source of insoluble

controversy and perplexity, manifestly need never be disputed in Saxe-Hinter-Hausen. Almost indignantly we inquired of Meridew the meaning of the doubt he had intimated on the perfection of the system in practice. He told us that eyes in Saxe-Hinter-Hausen have in some odd way contracted a remarkable habit of never fastening themselves on the place where the mark is. A lock of hair may fall over it, and people would not for their lives request its removal. In exact proportion to the completeness of their right to look is the delicacy which forbids them to see it, though it stare them full in the face. Meridew assured us that he has been gazing for an hour at the stamp on a banker's brow of audacious dishonesty, while half a dozen beneficed clergymen and a Queen's Counsel, bred in the Old Bailey, were committing all their savings to his keeping. Hinter-Hauseners, moreover, have become, more by instinct than intention, exceedingly crafty in the choice of positions for the marks where they are least likely to be noticed. Though anybody can discover the places simply by a walk past the houses, and though the owners,

it is asserted, would never exhibit the smallest umbrage were use made of the knowledge acquired, there is a tacit conspiracy to hide and not find. Every Hinter-Hausener acts as if he might, could, and should conceal his brand from his fellow-citizens. They, in their turn, strive, very successfully, to have the air of being wholly ignorant of the existence both of marks and of a title on their side to study them.

A fashion even has grown up of leading and being led elaborately astray. Meridew informed us that the obligation, religiously observed, to be stamped has rather oddly induced a taste for the impress, in addition to the true, of counterfeit marks. The fashion is followed by the most straightforward Hinter-Hauseners no less than by the shiftiest. A lady who has been stamped for beauty will, at her own expense, have blazoned on her chin a mark, as spurious as it is superfluous, for wit and genius. A statesman will exhibit a cipher implying that he is an Antinous, when he is more like Silenus. A lawyer, as clever as his clients in Portland, will be labelled prosaically veracious. 1

An incurably stuttering poet will be inscribed an orator. Obviously such monograms can have been assumed merely as ornamental trifles or watch-chain charms. In Saxe-Hinter-Hausen, however, while the real marks are utterly neglected, the make-believes are contemplated with as admiring gravity as if they alone were realities. Whenever, by an accident, probably through the gaucherie of a foreigner, a genuine mark has actually been perceived, and there can be no pretence that it has not been, Meridew declared he had seen both owners and spectators blush, as if they had been caught looking into a shop window at an immodest photograph.

His general moral from his Saxe-Hinter-Hausen experience is very paradoxical. It is that men prefer equally to deceive and to be deceived, and that it is an absurd waste of time to try to disclose to one what sort of being another is.

A SURVIVAL

•

.

•

A SURVIVAL

WHEN I am tired out, I confess there is no place to which I better like to go than to Baranel. Old-fashioned, sleepy, unprogressive, guide-books say. Very possibly; and that is why I like it. But, though everybody fancies that he knows Baranel, I do not believe there is a less understood principality in Europe.

I am not at all sure that I shall myself be able to describe it as it really is. To begin with its geographical situation, even that is remarkable, and not generally comprehended. For example, it lies in the Ardennes, and yet possesses a minute morsel of seashore. The peculiarity is convenient for me, as it enables me to journey thither by water, as I prefer. I am fond, too, of its single little coast town, Port de la Cour d'Amour, as it is quaintly called. Imagine a fortified citadel on a cliff, overhanging a harbour, with not a collier or a gunboat, yet in which a fleet of ironclads could ride without jostling. This is Port de la Cour d'Amour.

You leave the quay, climb to the gate, step under the lowered portcullis, and are back in the Middle Ages. Of course, you will have taken letters of introduction. You had better put off delivering them till the morrow, or you will be allowed no chance of trying a Port de la Cour d'Amour inn. Nothing is burnt but wood, and, as it will be autumn when you arrive, a fire is comfortable. You will soon be ensconced in a huge ingle, which has room for a supper-table as well as yourself. The claret is certain to be perfection, as will be the broiled chicken and mushrooms, with the attendant kickshaws. Then to bed, to sleep the slumber of the just in lavender-scented sheets, under the tutelary guard, inside, of a pictorial galaxy of fox-hunters leaping breakneck ditches, and of a watchman calling the hours, and the quarter of the moon, without.

Here are my notes of my first visit to Baranel which all its successors have generally resembled. Immediately after breakfast the blast of a horn announced the arrival of the Baron de Courbevoyes. He had received by flying post overnight the letter with which my friend, the Baranel minister in London, had furnished me. He was come in his coach-and-four to carry me to his chateau. The moment we quitted the little city, with its gabled houses, we plunged into a vast forest, with occasional clearings and hamlets. I caught glimpses of merry peasants dancing on village greens. I saw troops of deer flitting down the woodland glades. After a drive of a dozen miles we reached the house. The exterior is just as Van der Stern, the Flemish contemporary of William of Wykeham, left it. The baying of hounds signalled our arrival, and half a dozen lacqueys in gorgeous liveries hurried out to welcome us.

In the hall blazed a huge fire of oak logs. The walls were hung with antlers and arms. Madame de Courbevoyes received us in a parlour exquisitely tapestried, crowded with hawthorn porcelain, and adorned with Persian carpets. My host escorted me to my room, where he left me to rest till.dinner-time. That was proclaimed by bugles, and I returned to the hall, where a large company was assembled. The retainers sat below the salt, and behaved with perfect decorum. During the repast a minstrel played and sang of the famous deeds of dead and gone Barons de Courbevoyes. Everybody retired early to bed, in preparation for a boar-hunt on the morrow betimes. The Baron has the exclusive privilege of the chase for thirty miles round; but he rejoices to see his tenants and the lesser gentry gathered about him and enjoying the pastime. A gay throng surrounded the chateau in the morning. The Baron took me under his especial charge; and I had the honour of planting the first spear in the quarry. I never spent a more delightful day from the commencement to its close, when a torch-lit procession, bearing the slain beast in triumph to the chateau, wound up the festival.

The day after opened with a trial, at which the Baron presided. Though no lawyer, he arrived intuitively at the right decision, which the audience entirely approved. He possesses absolute criminal jurisdiction in his domain, and has been known to send an offender to the gibbet. Hanging in chains is still a regular

punishment in Baranel, though, through the Baron's liberality in inviting to his huntingparties, the necessity for practising it seldom The Baron owns all the land in the arises. country, except a few old allodial patrimonies. Nowhere, however, are rents lower. He has even been able, in periods of dearth, to return, by means of his foreign investments and estates, much more than the total of his receipts for several previous years. His only real peer is the mitred abbot of the neighbouring monastery of St. Hubert. One afternoon he drove me over to see its marvellous scriptorium, which goes on being continually enriched by its staff of indefatigable penmen and illuminators. Everywhere, indeed, throughout Baranel the arts flourish in their best mediæval form-only the results necessarily are expensive. Tourists must not expect cheap reprints or photographs. The introduction of such things is strictly prohibited. The penalty for violation of the law is nearly as severe as for the shooting of a deer. On my visit to the Courbevoyes Gaol, which has nothing of the character of a reformatory, I found that the single inmate was a man caught

in the act of smuggling into his cottage a chromolithograph.

As pretty a sight as I remember ever to have seen was a wedding the week before my departure. Marguerite de Spenholme was the bride, and Hugo de Valence the bridegroom. The whole had been arranged, I heard, by the Baron. Both were his wards, and he had the disposal of their hands at his unchallengeable discretion. After much deliberation he decided upon their marriage without consulting them. He judged the union of their contiguous properties convenient. By a happy accident the two discovered, after their guardian made them pledge their mutual troth, that they had long been in love with one another. Baranel, I need hardly say, is without railroads and tramways. There is no penny post. If agriculture is rather primitive, farmers never go into the bankruptcy court. Serfdom has not been abolished, and all the Baron's servants belong to the estate. No domestics understand their duties more completely, or discharge them more cheerfully. Neither they nor the outdoor hondsmen have been educated at board schools.

Generally they do not know how to read or write; but they have received an admirable practical training in manners and morals—the girls at the Béguinage, and the lads from the Order of Teaching Friars. The lack of booklearning is the less felt that, for the amusement of the winter evenings in hall and cottage, scores of harpists and story-tellers perambulate the country, sure of a hospitable welcome.

In the villein class itself exceptions to the rule of illiteracy occur. One rainy afternoon the Baron, after beating me at tennis, fencing, and shovel-board, suggested a visit to Roger Wiseheart. Down stairs and along corridors he led me for a quarter of a mile or so, till we came to a little quadrangle encircling a bright, fragrant garden. In an angle was a door, at which he rapped. On hearing an invitation to enter, he opened it. We found ourselves in a large, low room, surrounded with books and pictures, in delightfully orderly disorder. At a spacious table sat an elderly man in a velvet skull-cap, whom I had encountered at different times about the chateau. His manner evinced courteous familiarity with the Baron.

who, on his part, showed a pupil's affectionate respect for a beloved master. We had a long and interesting conversation. Roger Wiseheart, it appeared, is the author of most of the lovely ballads sung at night. From his fancy have also emanated the fascinating tales, some comic, some tragic, which are recited about the hamlets and in the foresters' huts. He brought out for us several rare manuscripts, and an astonishing collection of Roman coins, belonging chiefly to the age of the Antonines. Referring to the , productions I now knew to be his, I expressed my regret that he had never published them. He seemed amused at the idea. He simply answered that when a poem is sung, or a story told, the author may be confident that it is because the singer, reciter, audience, appreciate it; when a book is bought, it is that the purchaser has no intention of reading it.

As we walked away, I was intimating my wonder to the Baron that M. Wiseheart had not travelled, to reap some reward of his genius in the shape of foreign flattery. "He has only to ask permission, if he would like it," said the Baron; "but I can imagine nothing more alien

ļ

from his taste." I could not guess how Wiseheart's travels should depend on the Baron's leave, though I did not care to inquire. Another guest enlightened me in the course of the evening. This brilliant man of letters is, it seems, a serf. He would be liable to arrest and a flogging if he tried to leave Baranel without a formal licence, though, in fact, the Baron has often pressed manumission upon him in vain. For one of his habits and temperament, after all, there could be, said my informant, no more satisfactory existence than confinement to a home like the chateau, with the adoration of all its residents, and the restful feeling that it is his fate never to be parted from it.

All the circumstances of life in Baranel have a charming congruity, which, to natures like Roger Wiseheart's, is better, I dare say, than any amount of freedom, flattery, or wealth. The fairies, of whom he dreams, still, unless evidence goes for nothing, frequent the hill caverns. Now and then they have stolen a babe, restoring it a generation later magnificently dowered with jewels, beauty, and health. Baranel houses have not lost the trick of being haunted. The ghosts of dead heroes and lovelorn dames flit, to the awe rather than terror of the wayfarer, among the sylvan solitudes. Tournaments are held, and courts of love and honour. They are the most serious business of a people which has neither manufactures nor politics.

The state is styled a Principality. More really it is a feudal Commonwealth, with a Doge at its head, whose duty as a ruler is to maintain a brilliant Court, and conduct incessant pageants. I do not suppose that the territory has ever contributed any notable scientific, or mechanical and industrial, inventions or discoveries for the world's use; but the standard of manliness and self-respect has always been high. Not seldom Europe has had opportunities of judging. Baranel gentlemen have a fashion in youth of accepting commissions in foreign armies. If a desperate feat has to be accomplished, they insist upon being chosen to do it.

Both Baranel and the rest of Europe being what they are, I cannot help thinking that the perpetuation of the little state is justifiable and desirable. Necessarily it is not practicable for the globe at large to be constituted on the same system. In the first place, room would fail. The Baranel population is at the rate of twenty to the square mile. If it multiplied, it would have to change either its manner of life or its country. Again, there is not money enough for a series of Baranels. The Baranel annual income is £175 a head, and two-thirds of it are derived from property abroad. Perhaps, too, the local demand for vice is insufficient, since the Baranel criminal average is represented by .65 in the thousand. It is the neighbouring principalities which, being rather disproportionately flagitious, bring the average right. As, however, there happens to be a Baranel, and only one Baranel, it is lawful to hope that it may continue for ever to remind modern generations of the pleasant features in the past, with few or none of the distasteful drawbacks. This, I have no doubt, was the view taken at the latest Aix-la-Chapelle Congress, which, by a distinct protocol, recognized the polity of Baranel as immortal, and outside alike the International Truant Extradition School Board Code and the Farthing Postal Convention.

A CONDENSING PROCESS

.

.

A CONDENSING PROCESS

IT has always been a subject of surprise how Mingrelia has run ahead of all its neighbours and competitors. The state is comparatively modern. Mingrelians, though intelligent and energetic, are not manifestly superior to corresponding classes elsewhere. Yet the fact is notorious. I happened to spend last winter in the country, and I think I have arrived at a solution of the puzzle.

Strangers seldom winter in Mingrelia. The climate is detestable, and the roads, being, from the enormous traffic, of the consistency of semolina pudding, are all but impassable. I had no choice, having been appointed commissioner to take evidence on the spot for use in a suit before Mr. Justice Shuttleworth. The business itself would hardly have detained me long enough to procure for me insight into the remarkable institution which I am about to describe, except for a little legal accident. By Mingrelian law it is, it appears, criminal for a foreigner to administer an oath within the local jurisdiction. Consequently I was prosecuted. I was obliged to give bail not to return home till I had been tried for the unintentional offence. I had no briefs waiting for me at Lincoln's Inn, and I drew five guineas a day as long as I was in Mingrelia. So I did not much mind, especially as the trap into which I had stumbled was made very soft and comfortable by the courtesy of my legal Mingrelian brethren.

One morning after breakfast, when I was wondering how I could kill time, one of my native bail, who amiably looked after my entertainment on the pretext that he was bound to see I did not expose my recognizances to estreatment, ran in with a proposal. "I dare say," he remarked, "you have never been at a Condensation. One is to be held this afternoon, and I have brought you a ticket." Not knowing in the least what he meant, I thanked him profusely. Putting on my hat and overcoat, I accompanied

him to a great hall not far off. We showed our cards, and were ushered into a gallery. The area was filled with a large number of youths of all conditions. After we had waited a little time, an usher came to the entrance and called out a name from a list. Its bearer speedily passed back through the hall on his way out with a certificate, which he showed with a self-satisfied countenance to the acquaintances he met. Another was summoned, and reappeared quickly in his turn.

In and out they walked in rapid succession. Sometimes they held certificates, sometimes not; sometimes they were cheerful, sometimes rueful. One of them called was a lad seemingly known to my companion, who watched for him with a little anxiety. As he re-entered the hall he flourished a paper in the air, together with a collar of S.S. In a tone of the greatest pleasure my friend cried out, "Well done, my Lord Chief Justice!" Turning to me: "Not three and twenty," he said, "and at the head, or all but the head, of his profession! How pleased, to be sure, will be his father, the attorney!" It was clearly, I thought, some elaborate joke, of which I did not choose to seem unaware. However, after a time, the proceedings grew tedious. My acquaintance saw I was tired, and proposed an adjournment. "After all," he remarked, "you see here only preface and titles. You would be more interested with the inspection. I might get you in with a little brass."

He led me downstairs and into a labyrinth of corridors. We stopped at a door, which he boldly opened. "Witnesses to character," he cried to the official, who let us in without remonstrance. Inside there was a court fitted up with a bench for the judges, others for counsel and solicitors, and a box for witnesses.

A young man, evidently of the class which composed the crowd I had been observing in the hall, stood in a kind of dock. Counsel for the Crown was examining him. He was asked for what he was a candidate. He replied that he hoped to be a bishop. Thereupon ensued a long investigation. The candidate, who had an eye-glass, with a supercilious smile, and wore his hair parted in the middle, back and front, was made to explain why he considered the episcopate his vocation. His answers seemed not entirely

to satisfy his interrogator. At last he was put aside in a room by himself, with sherry and biscuits. Then the witnesses for and against him were called in turn. From them all the youth's idiosyncrasies, his likings, and the likes and dislikes of others for him, were elicited. Afterwards the advocates were heard. Finally the bench, after painful deliberation, decided adversely. The aspirant for lawn was called in, and informed, politely and sadly, that he had passed for a ladies' doctor. He bowed and left. Next entered a young fellow of much assurance. To the inquiry as to his choice of a career, he responded that he meant to be a tea-broker. He did not seriously mind, however, whether he were that or something in currants. The Court decided that he would make an excellent attorney-general by the time he was twentyeight. In the mean time he was bound apprentice to an ex-lord chancellor to be trained.

The celerity with which the tribunal transacted its work was astonishing. It adjudged privy-councillorships, millionaireships, deaneries, the poet-laureateship, aldermen's gowns, bank-directorships, rate-collectorships, and a PROBABLE TALES.

seat in a scavenger's cart, without the slightest Occasionally there was a grim hesitation. episode. A youth would come in with a gay, bright, conquering air, and go off with a term of penal servitude. One, or I am much mistaken, withdrew straight to the gallows. Was it all a farce, or a charade? When I intimated as much to my friend, he looked to see if I were affecting ignorance. "Bless my soul!" he ejaculated, "I supposed everybody knew our ways. No, indeed; it is all serious enough. We let our children develop freely, and according to their bent, till they are twenty. Then the State interposes paternally. You know, the character is formed by that time, and most of the faculties are fully matured. A young man has made up his mind who and what he will be, and elsewhere may or may not reach his object. At any rate, he arrives, if at all, when he is worn out in body and brain, and is no better than his own shadow.

"We had," he continued, "the same institutions as the rest of you. Our generals and our admirals were all gamey; our chancellors were jobbers who had forgotten their law; our

statesmen were wordy windbags; our popular authors wrote 'Daniel Derondas,' 'Lothairs,' and sequels to 'Locksley Hall,' without having composed the first parts. Suddenly we resolved to act with common sense. We arranged means for discovering the end to which special talents naturally lead. On adequate proof of their possession by a candidate for any appointment, we ordained that indisputably, and the moment he was fit for it, he should have it. We assure him of the prize he deserves, instead of leaving him to the wasteful agony of pushing or, worse, of waiting. I do not mean that he is given it at once; but he has the proper training in place of a miserable suspense, which answers no purpose unless to sour and debilitate. We put him where he is judiciously ripened for his work, without the needless consumption of fruitful energy. We reckon that we save, on the average, a dozen or a score of years at the most telling period, and that no successful men in existence have half the amiability of ours.

"A man usually," he went on, "is the soundest judge of his own capacity. We,

therefore, give the initiative to the individual, reserving to the tribunal the right of affirming or negativing. Though you happen to have witnessed a few misapprehensions, I can assert positively that the errors in the selection of a vocation are, on the whole, rare. Often the Court, at its fortnightly sittings, has only to assent to proposals. The most painful case is when a lad, having reached the stage of life at which the law requires a choice, can or will make none. In general, the reason, as might be imagined, is because he has depraved proclivities. Any one finally adjudicated incapable of a healthy preference for a particular pursuit is quietly put out of the way in such a mode as not to vex his worthy family. The result is that our leaders in every profession, our eminent merchants, manufacturers, ecclesiastics, lawyers, doctors, writers, are enriched and glorified without the soil upon their souls of preliminary intrigues and trickeries. Our burglars, swindlers, and cutthroats similarly are comfortably lodged in gaol, or beneath it, many years before, abroad, they are still sowing their wild oats. Our system simply is to

dispense with the second volume of a threevolume novel."

I had always noted how young the celebrities in Mingrelian public life, in every department, looked. Now I discovered that they are young, and not merely well preserved. After moulding on the right patterns their brains, hearts, and ambitions when youth has all its springs in working order, they had been furnished with abundant opportunities for growing into their exalted places. There is no flavour of parvenus about them by the time they have mounted. To the nation the economy of mental and moral raw material has been inestimably large. The system has been to it just what the invention of the spinning-jenny was to cotton a century ago. No envy, jealousy, or spite is harboured at the news of the elevation of this or that personage. Years previously his destination was known, and no Mingrelian ever questions the infallibility of the decision. The country is too grateful for having its work done effectually to guarrel with the arrangement which has brought about the result. In the method consists, in fact, the secret of the

notorious ability of Mingrelia to do everything, except perhaps road-making, at once more cheerfully, more generously, more promptly, and more completely, than any other community has found to be practicable.

A FAMILY ARMISTICE

•

· ·

• •

A FAMILY ARMISTICE

I AM acquainted with a town, I need hardly say not my own, where a curious custom is followed. In Kampen on the Yssel all families are bound by law to celebrate a species of jubilee every three years. An annual festival was tried at first, and found to be too severe a strain. So the Council and Stadtholder decreed five centuries back that it should be triennial. The Jubilaum is not a make-believe, a mere commemoration; it is a real bonâ fide jubilee, when things are done, or rather replaced. The idea of the Israelitish institution was that men should be given fresh chances. The same is the intention of the Kampen festival-only at Kampen the revival is of a less materialist character than in Palestine. Kampeners are accustomed to make large investments in plant,

both manufacturing and agricultural. They have timber-yards full of seasoned and seasoning pine and ash; they have prize cattle, and dairies lined with Dutch tiles. In every way it would be too inconvenient for them to have to turn out and begin life anew at the end whether of three years, seven, or fifty.

Their system is different, but as real; and at my last visit to the Zuyderzee I had abundant opportunities for seeing how admirably it works. As everybody knows, no family circle exists without serious and lasting feuds. They may have arisen out of important conflicts of interest, or from the veriest trifles. Dissimilarities in the nature of the source do not affect appreciably the gravity of the inconvenience, alike to the individuals concerned and to their neighbours. With time the intensity of the discord deepens, while the area widens, till the abyss tends to appear unfathomable, and incapable of being bridged. When, in the year 1093, Stadtholder Jan Meer was compiling his code for Kampen, it seemed to him that compulsory but temporary refraternization was the true mode of dealing with the trouble. He was

aware that it would make a hell upon earth to attempt to force relatives to live together when they hate one another at heart. His scheme, which finally he persuaded the burghers to adopt, was for short periodical reunions. The plan has long survived him, and almost the memory of him, and is still the most cherished of Kampen traditions.

No day is fixed for the whole population; on the contrary, the object is to spread the festivity over as wide a space of time as possible. Every family, at the taking of the triennial cheese census, has to notify its next Jubilaum. The local authorities then proceed to arrange that the various days shall not clash. At Kampen itself every street probably will have one each week, or each fortnight. A village in the Kampen territory may have one or two a month. After the settlement of these preliminaries the head of the family, three months before the celebration, sends out invitations to the adult relatives. If, as often, genealogical controversy render the headship uncertain, a person is designated for the duty by the Butter Market Inspectors. The invitations

PROBABLE TALES.

must not be for less than a day, and frequently are for a day and night, or several. The duration of the gathering varies with the means of the family, and, yet more, with the normal character of its feeling. In all cases the spirit manifested at the time is identical.

The Kampen point of honour is that, from the minute of arrival to the departure, goodfellowship and amiable affectionateness should reign. Thus I have myself seen how entirely put aside for the Van Heyden Jubilaum was the interminable lawsuit about the respective rights at Newmarket of the seven spinster Van Heyden sisters in their grandmother's gingham umbrella. At dinner at the mansion of Dierick Bouts the guests were telling good-humoured stories of the mode in which the silver saltcellars had come into the household. I happened to have heard a week before that murder had nearly been done when the host seized possession of them on his father's death. One afternoon in the public Lustgarten I noticed a couple of gentlemen playing a tennis match with the most delightful thoughtfulness for one another's weaknesses. The taller was a little handicapped

by a patch over his right eye. My companion explained that it was the consequence of a tussle the week before with the other, his brother, in church; the dispute had ended in an appearance of both before the burgomaster for brawling.

By practice, and from a keen sense of the merits of the institution, Kampeners have reached all but absolute perfection in the art of burying the hatchet at a Jubilaum. For the anniversary, low and high, rich and poor, ignorant and accomplished, manage to be courteous, genial, and even loving. They tell old stories, and do not look bored. They are not above receiving good advice. They can skate over the thinnest ice without breaking it. It might be supposed that the players in the comedy would be ashamed of being observed performing; that they would keep to themselves, like a wounded crustacean, until their claws were grown again, and they were free once more to nip. On the contrary, they act the parts of happy kinsfolk so naturally that it never occurs to them to be shy of notice. They ask strangers without scruple to a Jubilaum; they

arrange parties of pleasure to public places. One of my greatest treats at Kampen was to saunter about watching jubilee manners. The custom, by the way in which the celebrations are spread over the year, gives Kampen the air of perennial gaiety for which it is famed.

When, however, a tourist becomes acquainted with the people, an even odder experience is to see the same persons immediately after. There would, it might have been supposed, be some awkwardness in reverting on the morrow of a Jubilaum to the attitude of spiteful animosity habitual among near relatives. For Kampeners there is no such difficulty. They resume the normal temper and the normal demeanour the instant they have said good-bye and passed the neutral boundary, commonly the first railway station, or penny-omnibus-fare stage, at the termination of the anniversary. They send to and fro their lawyers' letters, they taunt, they slander, they recriminate, they bully, they cozen, they envy, they overreach, they undermine. They behave in general after the fashion inevitable with humanity, when the accident

of sharing the same sort of blood has forced it to compress contradictory likings into a cast-iron mould they do not fit.

That is the beauty of the Kampen institution, which alone has enabled it to weather the ages. If the Legislature had sought to make citizens fraternal and kindly by Act of Parliament, it must have miserably failed. Its success is due to its full recognition that relatives will and should be let bicker-"it is their nature to "---but that, at the same time, in the flood of congenital bitterness there is a drop of native blood-bred affection. The infusion is much or little, according to circumstances. But, at all events, a single day out of one thousand and ninety-five, or six, may fairly be appropriated to its service. To strive after more would have introduced a hypocritical farce, with the danger of an abrupt reaction to murderous, Cain-like enmity. By proclaiming nothing beyond a twelve or twenty-four hours' truce, the lawgiver has secured simply a brief respite, of which the best haters are pleased to avail themselves, in order to brace their tempers for fresh paroxysms.

So carefully is the article framed to ensure against Utopian extravagances of a show of mutual loving-kindness, that it expressly forbids engagements during the Jubilaum to abandon lawsuits or other manifestations of ill will. Pledges of the sort are treated by the courts as acts of duress, and are liable to penalties as contempts. Beyond the day itself a species of neutral territory in point of time extends, during which compositions of domestic quarrels are regarded by justice with marked disfavour. I myself heard Baron von Schwag, one of the kindest of men in private life, refuse, with very warm expressions as to the quarters probably occupied by the testator, to take out probate of the will of Jacob Lerius, which had been executed the morning after the Lerius Jubilaum. Jacob Lerius, by this will, with expressions of regret that the Lerius family should have been rent in pieces for twenty years by a dispute over the Van der Helst succession, consisting of a Delft tea-set, renounced his own share therein. In addition he left £2000 to each of his male and female Lerius relatives out of his deceased wife's property, on condition that

they agreed to keep the crockery in a cabinet inscribed with the family name in the Leyden Museum.

Baron von Schwag, when rather more cool, took occasion to comment generally on the intention of Jubilee Day law. It was designed, he showed, simply to keep alive the spark in everybody of family affection. For that the sacrifice of a day was not too much. To infer thence, or to suffer, that the emotion of a few hours should obliterate the settled rage and mutual dislike of years was absurd. If the consanguineous instinct had genuine power, it could exert it in the many months before Jubilee Day came round again. It had no warrant for relying on the casaal intoxication of a dozen or more hours. Wise Kampeners of my acquaintance have always upheld strenuously the truthfulness of the Baron's principle. They have mentioned various cases in which unstable emotional relatives have let themselves be impelled by the effervescence of Jubilee Day to simulate abiding affection towards brothers, sisters, stepmothers, or cousins, with the worst effects. Just for an interval they have preserved the peace. Then

Nature has avenged herself by deplorable outbursts.

On the other hand, I have heard of cases not a few in which, with proper caution and delay, the due nurture of the tiny element of family kindness at the triennial festivity has developed a really delightful and permanent glow of instinctive sympathy. A longing has set in which distance from Jubilee Day has intensified instead of chilling. Months and weeks have been counted to the next celebration. The pleasure of saying "Check" in one or another paltry squabble with kinsmen has perceptibly abated. At last sworn foes, having contracted insensibly a habit of passing their time together in the friendliest intercourse, have been astonished by a formal summons to lay aside rancour they no longer feel, with their overcoats, hats, and umbrellas, in the cloak-room of their jubilee host.

Obviously such consequences, when they occur, deserve to be cordially welcomed. For the credit both of human nature and of Kampen legislation, they are honourably recorded in the civic annals. I must confess that one or two

candid friends of mine among the burghers have intimated a kind of satisfaction at the comparative rarity of these household reconciliations. They have boasted that a peculiarly agreeable feature of Kampen society is the celebration of jubilee days by circles which harbour a variety of reciprocal antipathies. I was myself present, I remember, at a gathering which was by no means entertaining. The guests were amiable and well bred; the host and hostess were attentive, cultivated, and opulent. Nevertheless, there was a want; and late in the evening one of the party explained it. 'You see,' he said, 'things have dragged a little in comparison with the affair at my wife's cousins', the Crazy-Medlars', where I had the pleasure of meeting you last week. The fact is, since last Jubilaum my own people have all become excellent friends. Though I do not mean that Jubilee Day is as flat among us as with the Van Gurglikows, who have carried off among them all the Dunmow and Monthyon prizes for universal benevolence and virtue, still, it is a sad falling off from what it was while we were incessantly in Chancery and the police courts.""

It is just as my acquaintance suggested. The special charm of a Kampen Jubilaum of the orthodox type is that it is an interlude in the midst of an anarchy of cross words, cross looks, and cross thoughts. It is perfect holiday and rest; every minute is like a ray of sunshine in a dark place, the momentary vision of a very far-off home. After, or amid, thirty-six months of fiery temper-tortures, it is something to have a day's taste all round of fingers dipped in cold water from Paradise.

BEGINNING AT THE RIGHT END

.

•

*

.

BEGINNING AT THE RIGHT END

In the kingdom of Aral, where they do everything so much better than here, the national system of education is the most practical of any with which I am acquainted. Put shortly, it may be said to consist in the education of one's masters.

Education in Aral, as elsewhere, was not long since based upon the established principle of setting the elders in all degrees to train the juniors. As elsewhere, the results were only partially successful. Fathers formed their sons, and mothers their daughters. But households did not go on the better for the matured excellence of the discipline the children imbibed. The heads of the family were the rulers and managers, and the children suffered cruelly from misgovernment. The same was the school

experience. It was of little use that pupils tried hard to learn. All in after-life raised the constant and just complaint that their teachers had not known how and what to teach. So, again, it was as between employer and employed. From factories and farms rose the same cry. Masters were always endeavouring to instruct their servants, and the whole was lost labour. At the works the hands toiled skilfully and indefatigably. Suddenly it would appear that, acting faithfully as ordered, they had turned out goods of a sort which markets rejected on any terms. A household might be perfectly drilled and absolutely docile, when some afternoon an officer of the Bankruptcy Court would enter, and turn everybody into the street, because the head had been speculating for a month or two on a boom in Argentines.

Casualties like these were perpetually occurring. At length the entire junior and subordinate population of Aral, having just undergone a series of domestic and foreign crises, lost patience. It determined, in its various grades, to take the matter into its own hands. Beyond the possibility of contradiction it had been

discovered that the system of teaching at the Board and Denominational elementary schools, at the Aral equivalents, composed of unpronounceable syllables, for Rugby, Eton, Harrow, Marlborough, Westminster, and Winchester, and even at the establishments of the Aral Girls' Public Day School Company, Limited, was radically and scandalously wrong. All the Kangrad First Classmen and Urgenj Wranglers, as well as the students who had confined their ambition to a Testamur at Responsions, had discovered that they might as usefully have been picking oakum. Daughters, on marriage, lived in a vale of tears on account of the daily refusal of their husbands to dine on offal, as they styled their food, or to sit out animated debates between them and their maids. Sons cursed the folly which had thrown them upon life with no knowledge how to spend. Cottonspinners and iron-workers were not disposed to starve with Christian resignation because their capitalist paymasters had chosen to glut the world with their wares. Constituencies would have dearly liked to hang their representatives for the bad laws they passed and expected the

country to obey. Everything was perversely wrong, though, and it almost seemed because, no children, pupils, servants, and artisans could be more tractable, industrious, and pleasanttempered than juvenile and working Aralians.

Vast public meetings were held of all the subject ranks in their different degrees, down to the infants in perambulators. The children in arms sat heavily upon their nurses, and the maids upon their mistresses. Clerks arraigned the blunders of their principals, soldiers the awkwardness of their officers, congregations the stolidity of their pastors, artists the bad taste of patrons, wives the infirmities of husbands, railway passengers the obstinate incapacity of directors, and children of parents. In not a few instances a subordinate in one relation, after having adjudicated sternly on the shortcomings of his superiors, had the rope fastened about his own neck, or stood in a white sheet, in another character, an object for the ridicule and execrations of a crowd of other menial judges.

That was the beauty of it, which took the sting from the ordeal. Everybody had in turn to be condemned, as well as to condemn, and

BEGINNING AT THE RIGHT END. 73

the one experience balanced the other. The native sweetness also of the Aralian temper softened the roughness of the process. The so-called superiors recognized graciously their defaults, and submitted to their sentences with the most amiable candour. They admitted, one and all, their gross incompetence, though how, they asked, could it have been otherwise? They had themselves only been trained to obey; they had never been trained to train others. Education had commenced for them in the silliest way at the wrong end. They were ready enough to begin over again, if their young friends, their kind servants, and the rest would be at the pains to school them.

Obviously that was the proper course. With the assent, sooner or later, of all sides, arrangements were made for turning over a fresh leaf. Committees were elected in the schools, primary and secondary, for the reorganization of the curriculum on a sensible basis, and for fitting the teachers to conduct it. Years ago, on my first visit to Aral, I remember being much edified, on going into an infant school, at the sight of several most capable, if diminutive,

babies explaining to a new mistress, a full-grown giantess, that they did not require her to drawl idiotically and twiddle her fingers. I do not mean that there was no friction. At the famous school of Mount Airuk, where I was the headmaster's guest, I had noticed a little uneasiness, which, however, speedily subsided. The occasion, I learnt, was the decision of a majority of the boys, chiefly in the lower forms, to do away with "memoriter Virgil," and to substitute Browning's "Ring and the Book" for the first decade of Livy. At Kuna the nailers had, I heard, a slight difficulty a short time back in obliging an elderly millionaire to pass an apprenticeship to the management of works he had just bought, and fancied he could govern by the light of nature. But he saw the necessity, and put on an apron without further demur. I have even been told that the medical superintendent of the Asylums Board's renowned hospital at Port Aralsk was not always as courteous as eventually he showed himself, when the patients first enlightened him on the proportion of port they liked with their beef-tea. Still, in general, as everybody acquainted with Aral will admit,

74 ·

it was delightful to see with what urbanity and, gradually, even enthusiasm the old ruling classes fell into line.

I suppose the propriety of the revolution was so exceedingly obvious. The moment one comes to think of it, the system, as it exists, is seen to be preposterous. Parents manifestly discipline children for the children's sake, and not their own; yet they seldom have taken the least trouble to ascertain from the children what they want. In manufactories the prosperity of the operations is of consequence to the hands most of all. The barest justice, therefore, evidently requires that they should have the right to ensure that their employers are qualified to guide. Wherever you look, it is apparent that, for the world to be administered satisfactorily, they who are governed ought to be empowered to demand proof that their rulers have been effectually taught their functions.

To provide for the education of our masters thus is the primary business. It is much more important than the education of ourselves, which, for the most part, is other people's 76

affair. It is to be regretted that many states beside Aral have been very slow to appreciate the same truth, and slower still to realize it in action.

IPSILAND

.

. •

IPSILAND

IN Bruton's Collection of Voyages, I lighted the other day upon the narrative of Captain Amyas Sparfote's expedition to Ipsiland. Bruton is a very rare author, and it is at least ten thousand chances to one that my readers have never seen a copy of his book. So they may be grateful for an abstract of the description written by Captain Sparfote's rather long-winded chaplain.

Ipsiland lies, or lay in Captain Sparfote's time, in lat. 1037. H.M.'s frigate *Goshawk* touched there on July 29, 1863. The capital, Ipsiburg, had so very civilized and prosperous an air, as seen from the beautiful and capacious bay, that the Captain did not hesitate to land immediately. As the boat ran ashore, a welldressed and well-mannered gentleman accosted Captain Sparfote, inviting him and his brother officers to his house. Other Ipsilanders were present, and attended the strangers to the mansion of the entertainer. They were all human beings; that was certain; and they were very courteous. They even spoke excellent English, only with a slight and agreeable Somersetshire accent. Yet, as the Chaplain, the Rev. Hugh Greenhatch, explains, the Captain, himself, and the rest found it harder to render themselves intelligible to their hosts than if they had been cast away among gorillas.

The difficulty commenced very soon. After the party had walked some distance, the Captain happened to inquire if his host's residence were much farther. The islander looked surprised, and civilly regretted his absolute inability to gather the meaning of the question. On their arrival, wine was brought, and the butler was serving the third lieutenant. He declined, remarking that his betters should be helped first. The Ipsilanders wanted to know what was meant by betters. Apparently the new English books circulate in Ipsiland, and a famous poet's latest production was discussed. IPSILAND.

The Chaplain expressed his view that the writer was more successful with lyrics than with the drama. Again the natives stared. They saw that something was meant. Nobody could for the life of him guess what it was. On their way back to the quay they strolled about the market-place, where a fishmonger was selling. A salmon attracted the purser, though he thought the price exorbitant. He said he would give fivepence a pound less. The vendor could not make out whether the stranger were not mocking him with nonsense words. A lofty mountain overhangs the harbour, and the officers began comparing its height with Teneriffe. A crowd gathered to listen to their odd ideas. "Higher than!" mimicked the bystanders, much as if they were calling out "Godam!"

The ship needed careening, and the Ipsiburg dockyard contained all appliances and skilful workmen for the purpose. There could not, moreover, have been more civil and complaisant officials. As the country is exceedingly fertile, and happens to produce commodities much valued in Great Britain, and to be defective in staple British goods, it might have been hoped

G

that the expedition would be the cause of the commencement of mutually advantageous relations between the two Governments. The happy prospect was entirely marred by the two short words, "more" and "less." The more the ship's company and the Ipsiburgers saw of each other, the deeper and wider yawned the abyss. Both sides became more and more indignantly conscious that they possessed no common ground.

An extraordinary session of the Ipsiland Royal Society was held for a debate on the nature of the curious strangers. It had been positively ascertained that they were virtually incapable of considering any subject by itself. Everything was less or greater than something else, better or worse, cheaper or dearer. These were not mere figures of speech, as had originally been supposed. Investigation had proved that the minds were as cranky as the dialect. Every thought had to prop itself up and measure itself against another thought. "The poor, depen-. dent folk!" was the conclusive and irrefutable verdict of the Ipsiland philosophers.

It might not have mattered so much if the

IPSILAND.

strangers had recognized their defect, or, at least, had been tolerant of Ipsiland prejudices. But they were as contemptuously compassionate, and at length there was an explosion. The Chaplain and Surgeon were guests at a very intellectual tea-party given by an Ipsiburg lady of culture and means. They had rendered themselves familiar with the local literature, and joined in the conversation on a recent publication by a celebrated Ipsiland novelist. In all innocence the Chaplain, while lauding the work, observed that nevertheless he could not rank the humour of the tapster as highly as that of Paul Pry in the writer's earliest production. The Ipsiburgers present could not comprehend the drift of the criticism. They inferred, however, not entirely without ground, an intention to insult their favourite author, and to represent him as in his dotage. They grew incensed by the well-meant efforts of the Surgeon to explain. Gradually they became so wrathful that both he and the innocent offender took their hats and retired. The outraged company ran after them to the beach, reviling.

Captain Sparfote, from his quarter-deck, noticed a gesticulating group, and supposed some of his sailors had been drinking. Being a strict disciplinarian, he had his galley at once out, and hastened to arrest the culprits. He landed at the same moment with the commander of the Ipsiland corvette Positive, whom he acquainted with his surmise. They walked together to the scene of the agitation, and, as ill luck would have it, Captain Sparfote chanced to mark the number of buttons on the other's uniform. For the sake of talk, he observed that his companion was fortunate in having fewer to do and undo than himself. Somehow the Ipsiland officer, who was yet more puzzled by comparisons than the philosophers, imagined a sinister significance in the words. He retorted with heat, and a fresh little mob assembled round them. All Ipsiburg seemed gathering on the shore. Captain Sparfote, recollecting the fate of Captain Cook, slowly and cautiously beat a retreat with the Chaplain and Surgeon. As soon as they were safely on board, for precaution he had a few shots fired to disperse the rioters. The Ipsiland corvette commander,

IPSILAND.

who also had embarked, replied from his vessel, and speedily a naval fight was in full progress. H.M.'s frigate *Goshawk*, having sunk the *Positive* with her whole crew, steamed out of reach of the shore batteries. The next morning she quitted the Ipsiland waters, none too soon. Since that period, as may easily be believed, there has been no intercourse between the isles of Ipsiland and Great Britain.

On the Goshawk's return. I find from Bruton that a learned debate was held at the Philological Institute in Camden Town on the supposed habits, tenets, and tongue of the Ipsilanders. I do not find that the Institute came to any definite conclusion, except that the Ipsilanders represent the Lost Tribes. The majority otherwise were clear only that life without a more and a most, a less and a least, is simply impossible. The scanty minority was led by one crusty and antiquated member, who declared it both practicable and convenient to judge things and men on their own merits, and not by reference to something else. As, however, his habit for the half-century, during which he had been a member, had been to characterize any who disagreed with him as each one more of a born idiot than another, his judgment can scarcely count for much in the controversy.

More to the point, perhaps, is a statement which the steward of the Institute extracted in the taproom after the meeting from the ship's cook. He inserted it in his ledger, whence Bruton disinterred it. He has printed it as a note to the Rev. Hugh Greenhatch's account. Samuel Spratt, H.M.'s ship Goshawk's cook, had no prejudices or prepossessions against or for degrees of comparison, since he could not spell, and stuttered. Having to market to supply the messes, he necessarily, however, saw much of the natives. He appears to have described them accurately to his interviewer. Ipsilanders, it seems, are all of the same height, though no sense of a monotonous uniformity is produced; on the contrary, the prevailing impression is of variety. Each is of his own type, and has to be classed separately. So with the houses. They cannot be described as little or big, superior or medium-sized. Each is itself, and fits its tenant. Distinct ranks and social

IPSILAND.

differences do not exist. Yet everybody has his own place.

Spratt evidently had little trouble with the people. He was not shocked by their downright simplicity, as were his officers. Ipsilanders liked him, too, and his common sailor mates, while they looked suspiciously at the Captain, Lieutenants, Doctor, Chaplain, and even the boatswain. He did not know why they favoured him, unless it were that they once happened to hear him and a gunner say to one another that "comparisons are odorous." The Ipsilanders had no notion of the meaning of the saying, any more than the speakers; but they were fascinated by the sound. Whenever the men came ashore on a spree, a crowd would quickly surround them, and make them repeat the sentence for a half-hour at a time.

After all, Spratt's testimony does not amount to much. It is negative rather than positive. Still, there seems to be more substance in it than in that of the Chaplain. At any rate, it does not look as if we were ever likely to learn about Ipsiland from any other source.

A FEMININE PLOT

• · • •

A FEMININE PLOT

No more connubial land, I suppose, at the present, exists than Istria. From one year's end to the other it is all giving and taking in marriage. A stranger cannot go there on a week's ramble without receiving at least a couple of invitations to wedding-receptions. He had better have a known wife at home, or he may find before he leaves that he is himself newly engaged. The great champagne growers of Epernay have a particular brand for export, which is called "Istr. Hymen. Sweet." Every church you enter is dressed with orange flowers, and occupied by a wedding-company. All the public gardens are perpetually being paraded by cooing bridesmaids and best men, who have to while away the rest of the afternoon before the evening dance.

Truculent bachelors, who have never been to Istria, will sneer, "What a vista of livelong discord and squabbling!" No; that is the best of it. By universal testimony, nowhere is life more comfortable, cheerfully placid, and agreeable. Every sort of talent is admirably developed. Poetry is not, as elsewhere, an extinct art. It even has plenty of readers. Novels are bright, and racily flavoured. As in France, they do not invariably come to an end on the wedding-day, though, unlike the French habit, their heroes do not invariably make love, unless in the most honourable way, to their neighbours' wives. Women's rights are not the favourite topic in society; yet women enter into everything, and exercise illimitable influence. The country overflows with ideas, which are realized with masculine steadiness, and sparkle with feminine fancy. The single industry which does not thrive in Istria is the promotion of clubs. Clubs, while not absolutely unknown, are busy only in the afternoon. That signifies penury for stewards, secretaries, and the rest, who elsewhere count upon much evening conviviality, with the incidental commissions, for the accumulation of a provision for their declining age.

A few centuries ago, I am told, things were altogether different. Marriage, as a popular institution, was become almost obsolete. I do not mean literally that the custom had been abandoned. Persons of great wealth married that they might leave heirs to it. Likewise people with none married that the rich might have objects for the expenditure of their superfluity. The order, which in its several sections constitutes the real nation, had given up the practice. As everybody belonging to it freely acknowledges, the middle class is a land's true backbone; and when I speak of the middle class, I mean mainly, of course, the professional, in its many ramifications. There are the lawyers, from the Attorney-General to the unrobed magnates of Bedford Row. There are the doctors, medical and surgical baronets, and flourishing general practitioners. There are the tale-tellers, the historians, and the journalists, from the staff of the *Times* to magazine essavists. There are architects, clergy, military and naval officers, fellows of colleges, Civil servants, and

headmasters. With them have to be socially reckoned painters, sculptors, stockbrokers, publishers, and directors of companies. Many others are admitted, at their own request, within the circle, on proof of their capacity to speak the professional shibboleth. The middle class forms opinion, and has constituted itself the mouthpiece of Providence for the promulgation of intellectual fashions. Decorous and self-satisfied, it has always been the recognized model, above all, of Istrian domestic morality; and at the period of which I speak, it had begun to discover that marriage is a mistake !

The view, paradoxical as for depositaries of morality it appears, and fatal as it must be to half of humanity, was not, in Istria, altogether inexplicable. Istrian middle-class incomes were not, and are not, profuse. They commence at $\pounds 200$, and run up in time to sums varying from $\pounds 500$ to $\pounds 1200$. Naturally they sometimes transcend these limits. Middle-class Istrians, without quitting their order, may earn from five to ten thousand a year. That is neither necessary, nor common, nor, on the whole, convenient. Born and bred middle-class

A FEMININE PLOT.

Istrians do not disburse easily beyond three to four thousand a year within their class; and the vast majority of them strongly object to quitting it. In general, they cannot spend more than a certain moderate amount; and, equally, they cannot comfortably content themselves with much less than that amount to spend.

The scale of Istrian living had indeed been rationally, though rather rigidly, regulated from of old. Every middle-class man had so to live that it should be impossible for his circle to know for certain whether he possessed a revenue of hundreds or of thousands. He had to dress like a gentleman. He had to belong to a good club, where he passed most of his leisure hours. He dined there when he was not engaged to a friend's house. He had to keep cash enough in his pocket to play a game of billiards, or rubber of whist, and lose, though such diversions were not obligatory. He had to go to the Alps, Carpathians, or Corfu in the autumn. As his income in the ordinary course expanded more or less, he might increase his outlay. Concert and opera tickets would occasionally be bought. He might venture upon the luxury of

a little charity. He might give more little dinners at the club, or at Barcola. He might possibly join in hiring a wild-boar chase, or mile of a salmon river. Even, little as it mattered where he slept, he might move into the Ring from Wasagasse.

The accidents of life changed for him according to the ebb and flow of his pecuniary circumstances. The modifications were all immaterial. The one essential point was that he should be seen, on a footing of apparent equality, where the best members of his class were seen, at all the hours, after sunset, during which his class is on view. That was the law of life and the decree of fate in Istria. from the beginning of legal memory, as it is the rule still. It is a beautiful ordinance; but at the period in question circumstances were rendering its observance, in matrimony, difficult. As men grew up, and slipped, after the customary manner, from the parental nest, they found they could manage fairly, on the whole, on the £200 a year which destiny, whether acting through the family purse or through professional earnings, supplies to all well-conditioned young

gentlemen at twenty-five. At thirty it was better still for a bachelor; for probably the income had by that time moderately risen. Only, about that period also an idea would spontaneously spring up that it was convenient to marry and settle. About that period their fathers and grandfathers had married and settled; and why should not they? When, however, they acted on the principle, or impulse, the consequences were extremely serious.

Apparently their fathers and grandfathers were not accustomed to live at clubs. They had not regarded a little card-playing, operagoing, whitebait-eating, Chateau-Margaux-drinking, and grouse-shooting as the necessaries of life they were to their sons and grandsons. They had lived humdrum, poky lives up and down the Istrian Fleet Street, Bloomsbury, and Strand. Married life on £200 a year was no more commonplace to them than had been bachelorhood upon £60. Luxury commenced for them, if ever, after marriage, when their incomes had mounted among the thousands.

Their children began where they had left off, and did not at all like to climb down. They

could not, whatever their inclinations, with the brides they chose. Istrian middle-class young ladies acted as if from twelve to fifteen hundred a year were an elementary condition of respectable human existence. They dressed, danced, fed, accomplished themselves, and talked, from the society papers, at that rate. They had never learnt to manage a household, and, least of all, a household of a couple of maids. The unfortunate husband of one of them had to divest himself of the whole of his waistcoat pocketmoney, and her, too, of hers. Gradually it dawned upon the middle-class male that there was a remedial alternative to an unendurable Purgatory before the Paradise of £2000 a year was reached. Simply he had to refrain from He could leave the recruiting of marriage. the invaluable middle class to immigrants forcing their way in, with less fine feelings than his, from below. It mattered little to the newcomers that their early married days were sordid and prosaic. They had not been born in the purple. They lost nothing in having to put off to mature manhood the enjoyments of clubland. The leg of mutton and rice pudding, and other

penurious incidents of matrimony at thirty, were no privations to men who had never been parties to the domestic outlay of more than a hundred or two a year.

No arrangement could have been more rational for the youthful philosophers who framed it than the acceptance of a class celibacy. It would have been a perfect solution of the difficulty had it not left rather out in the cold the middle-class young lady. To be a middle-class young lady till five and twenty is sufficiently pleasant. A girl in that rank is well educated and well dressed. Her parents have, or live as if they had, a large income for their highly reputable station. She shares in all the innocent amusements of her circle. She enjoys the full benefit of picture-galleries, concerts, plays, balls, at-homes, society scandal, and lending Very possibly she drives and rides libraries. sometimes in the Park. She can count upon a large circle of intimate friends. In the autumn she goes to the seaside, country, or Highlands. After twenty-five it is less delightful. She knows she is tending towards confirmed spinsterhood. That might not be a melancholy fate, in

the existing circumstances, if they were sure to go on existing. Their abrupt termination is not unlikely; and, at all events, they cannot go on for ever. If her father leave a fortune, as he may not, her part of it is sure not to be much. An unmarried lady with £150 to £200 a year is in a dissimilar situation to a bachelor brother with the same income. That, however, was the end to which, it was manifest, in the mass, middle-class young ladyhood was inevitably approaching in the Istria of several centuries back.

Its doom would have been irreparably sealed but for the wisdom and courage of a new and more glorious Joan of Arc, Arabella Smith. Miss Smith organized a movement which has absolutely regenerated Istria. By her oratory, by essays, by letters, she awakened her sex, of the middle class, to the frightful danger, which had already begun to reveal its calamitous reality. Her method was at the first to bring home to young women of her rank that, as they were, they were a poor price to offer to middleclass young men of thirty to forty for what they gave up. She commenced by instilling humility. She explained the comfort in which men lived, and at how moderate a cost. She exposed specimens of club cookery side by side with the domestic joint, or with the horrible made-dish of the west and south-west regions. She showed how smoothly the wheels run in a Ring club, and how sadly unlike is the experience of family life on $\pounds 200$ or even $\pounds 300$ a year. Under her direction, Herr Ziller composed a striking fantasia of familiar nagging on a single string, which was adopted as the Istrian national anthem.

When the female middle-class audience was immersed in speechless despair, she would open another phase, of possibilities. Appealing to the feminine spirit of adventurousness, she would dilate on the glory of leading a forlorn hope, and planting the connubial flag on the citadel of the originally celibate enemy, man. It could be done, she showed, only by demonstrating that a wife was the most economical, labour-saving apparatus that had ever been invented; that she was more ornamental than Birket Foster's cottage-door sketches, or Rhodian plates; that she was more entertaining than a club smoking-room; more even-tempered than a club coffee-room waiter; that she was better fun than the noisiest variety singer. Middleclass single women, she urged, owed it to their order to devote themselves, severally and collectively. Any who had the exceptionally good luck to capture a husband, must, openly and unmistakably, for all the world to note, so bewitchingly flatter and cajole him as to set his free brethren longing for slavery.

The crisis was recognized as extreme, and her protests convinced the dullest and most arrogant. Rome was not built in a day; and men, after being out at grass, were not persuaded in a moment to resume the bygone collar of wedlock. They resisted stoutly, and even called in the aid of legend. Positively it passed current in the secret places of Pall Mall, against all physiology, as well as against the Book of Genesis, that middle-class man and middle-class woman are descended from a different middleclass Adam and Eve. At all events, with or without the concurrence of science and theology, they were determined not to put their heads into the halter.

Nevertheless, they were caught at last. With mild persistency, by precept and by example, it was proved to them that two human beings, a young man and a young woman, being of the right class, do not spend, as had been calumniously alleged, three or four times as much as one, but less than twice. They spend less than twice, and derive twice the comfort and amusement. That was not all. It was established indisputably that marriage is a profitable partnership. While the original income is more advantageously spent, the breadwinner learns how to double or treble it. Whenever he has the germ of a remunerative thought, his wife seizes its various bearings, and encourages and assists its development. Without being the least of a taskmistress of the Frau Dürer type, she will throw about the theme such a happy radiance of interest and curiosity, that he cannot but nurse and ripen it as a labour of love into paying flower and fruit.

Half a man's energies, especially in an intellectual career, are wasted upon the worries of life. These Istrian conspiratresses cultivated the art of mitigating and healing worries, which henceforth ceased to exact their normal toll. Their predecessors had been rather famous for chafing a scratch into a sore. If a friend exerted the duty, or privilege, of candid criticism of an article, speech, sermon, or sonnet, a wife, after bringing and reading the review or letter to her husband, had exhibited her sympathy by detecting and imparting to him a multitude of ill-natured motives in the censor. Acting on Miss Arabella Smith's perhaps not very moral counsels, they of the new school adopted an opposite method. Naturally and affectionately they invariably took their husbands' side, right or wrong, with the most unscrupulous partisanship. At the same time, they poured in oil and honey, or even wine. On her own account as well as his. and for the maintenance of her respect for human discernment, a wife could not bear to suppose that others were too malignant or too stupid to perceive and admire genius. She made herself to believe, and him to believe with her, that the assailant was merely playing at sarcasms; that, in earnest, he was either only desirous to prevent his idol from sleeping on his laurels, or afraid, on his own behalf, to be accounted too indiscriminate a worshipper.

Matrimony, in short, revived and cultivated on the Arabella Smith basis, became, in time, as may readily be understood, a Paradise, into which the whole of Istrian middle-class youth grew eager to rush. The wedded state became the fashion, as celibacy once had been. Apart from the material end, Istrian young ladies themselves discovered new charms in the hunt for husbands, as remodelled. Formerly they had betaken themselves to it, and they had regretted the threatened prospect of its termination, chiefly because they had no alternative pursuit. Henceforth a genuine taste for husbands, as pleasant companions, and not only relieving officers, sprang up. It was felt to be delightfully exciting to be training and running a lawyer, a doctor, a politician, a writer, an artist, in the race of life, where the prizes were undoubtedly due to the woman not less, if not much more, than to the man. There was no little pleasure, moreover, feminine nature being what it is, in something of a virtuous and kindly sense that the rougher and more

unperceptive masculinity was being wound round the little finger, and induced to feel acute pleasure in doing, as it imagined, of its own mere motion precisely what finer wits had predetermined for it.

A foreigner, even on a first visit to Istria, has no difficulty in comprehending why matrimony is there the most cherished of institutions; his only wonder is that there ever was a period at which it appeared to be on the point, for the reigning middle class, of downright extinction. I am not sure that the revolution has been altogether beneficial to the manners and modesty of the masculine sex. It may have led to a certain arrogance in husbands, plunged into a domestic Capua, and taught to esteem themselves born autocrats. That a body of very poor creatures should be suffered to cheat themselves into the undoubting faith that they have wills of their own, when they have none, can scarcely be right or entirely moral. I confess I have myself no very strong liking for the prosperous middle-class married Istrian man, whom every vacation tourist meets in the Alps and all frequented reputable holiday

resorts; but I fully share the general admiration for the middle-class Istrian girl, whether married or apprenticed to the matrimonial calling.

Marriageable Istrian women of the particular rank in question are indeed, in these modern days, commodities so notoriously precious and coveted, that I have heard the males of the class are somewhat jealous of their attractiveness. At home it has been suggested that the spectacle of Istrian connubial felicity might excite a middle-class matrimonial epidemic in both hemispheres. Such a demand, it is threatened, might be raised for Istrian girls to teach abroad the mystery of economical domestic happiness as to starve the supply, still at present abundant, for the home market. Rumours are current of the formation of an Istrian league pro aris et focis, to arrest the danger. I cannot believe that a liberal Government like the Istrian would ever permit itself the violence of an inhibition of the export of brides. Yet, in these days of protectionist recrudescence, it would be rash to trust much to the strength of free-trade orthodoxy. The one safe course is for

other states to render themselves independent of foreign political caprices by adopting the easy Istrian system, and furnishing adequately their own matrimonial bazaars.

108

A REMEDY FOR THE RISE OF FRIENDS

, •

A REMEDY FOR THE RISE OF FRIENDS

EVERYBODY, who is not a dog-in-the-manger, or a vintager hired in the morning, hopes that his or her friends will rise in life. All well-constituted persons, among whom none of the few aforesaid exceptions can be reckoned, rejoice when the hope is fulfilled. Briefless Smith and Brown are delighted at the accumulation of papers on the table of Jones. They mention with keen pleasure that, after twenty years of plodding, he is at last reaping the advantage of having been born with a fifth cousin in the other branch of the profession. Their feelings are ecstatic when, finally, the favour of a Lord Chancellor's sisterin-law procures for him elevation to the Bench. An extensive circle of clerical college acquaintances partakes the same sentiment on the

nomination of that worthy, but not very eloquent, divine, John Robinson, to the See of Newport. Painters are equally grateful to an obtuse public for running wild with admiration of Cockaleekie's "Herod contemplating the Dead Infants after Supper by Torchlight." They read, with a tolerant smile, the prophecies in the weekly papers of his certain election into the Academy at the next vacancy. Soldiers and sailors gloat over the birthday-lists of honours secured somehow by their comrades. Mrs. Hewitt, the wife of Colonel Hempson Hewitt, loves the sound of "Lady," as she has to entitle the wife of the new Sir Alan, who was with them in India. Every one knows the eager sympathy with which the T. Mulready Smiths admire the lovely place the Pogsons have just bought, out of tallow, for some £20,000 at Wimbledon. In short, nothing in the frequent vicissitudes of human existence is more gratifying to its students than to observe the derivative happiness of the unfavoured majority in the reward of the merits, such as they are, of the lucky minority.

Still, there is another, and less pleasant,

side to the picture, everywhere except in Araucania. At the bestowal of the decorations, offices, and prizes, all is pure enthusiasm. The circle to which the recipient belonged states how highly it esteems itself honoured in his person. Then a little reaction occurs, from no fault of anybody, only of circumstances. It is so difficult for either side to be sure how it ought to be treated by, and how to treat, the other. Is the Judge to be called, as of old, Jones, out of court, by his old companions practising before him? How is it fitting to accost the Right Reverend Johnson, with his Fatherly legs full in the public view? It is troublesome to have to consider when to put in, and when to leave out, the prefixes of honour to which intimate acquaintances are become freshly entitled. It is a perplexing question to answer whether to continue or to sever old social relations. Mrs. Twentydrop does not like either to ask, or to leave off asking, the Margaretsons to bring the brougham and highsteppers to dinner at six o'clock in Barnsbury from their new mansion in Mayfair. A vast heap of embarrassments is connected with the

Ι

ordinary incident of the ascent of most worthy individuals out of their own class into a higher region. So far as I am aware, England has never elaborated rules for mitigating the inconvenience. It is the more astonishing, as in a country with which all travelled Englishmen are familiar the problem appears to have been solved most completely.

Last winter, out of the season, which may account for the phenomenon that the usage I am about to describe remains a local peculiarity, I happened to be in Araucania. I was staying with the King, whom I had known in Paris. They sleep softly, and dine luxuriously, at the Araucanian Court. As we strolled along the boulevard in the evening after dinner, I saw carriages setting down at the door of a public edifice, something between a church and a town-"Ah!" said his Majesty, "the new hall. Chancellor's friends, I suppose. Bv-the-bv." he went on, "you were at his lordship's installation this morning. You might like to see the sequel." Naturally I said I should. Consequently his Majesty tapped at a low side-door, which was opened by a discreet official. This

A REMEDY FOR THE RISE OF FRIENDS. 115

gentleman led us up a little staircase. From a window at the top I could see into a spacious room occupied by a score or more of persons, chiefly men, tolerably well dressed, and apparently intelligent. They were seated at separate small tables, drinking a dark liquid, hot and steaming. His Majesty remarked the number, which, he said, was larger than usual. Probably, he conjectured, the suddenness of Lord Kaskkow's rise accounted for it. He must have had many close acquaintances, whom his brand-new grandeur would perplex.

After a few minutes I felt a heaviness in the air. I wondered whence it came. "Oh!" replied the King, "only from the laudanum-andrhinoceros-brain mixture; but we have had as much as is good for us; come along." We left the place, and continued our saunter. As we walked, it occurred to me that laudanum-cumrhinoceros-brain, which could only for a few minutes be safely inhaled at a height of thirty feet, must be very unwholesome for the potations of elderly gentlemen. "At all events," explained the King, "you must admit that it is very effectual; it is warranted to kill in half an hour." Hardened as are the nerves of old travellers to fresh experiences, I confess that I stopped in some amazement. "Do you mean," I asked, "that by this time they are all dead in there?" "Dead," said he, "as red herrings. Why, that is what they went for. Nobody made them. All volunteers, you know."

I inquired further, as may be imagined; and this is what the King told me. Araucania, as everybody is aware, is a stirring country with an active population. Men constantly are emerging from their own classes. The nation, as a whole, benefits greatly by the movement. For the residuum of the circles from which the successful issue the displacement is, the King said, rather troublesome. He mentioned a variety of cases resembling closely those to which I have alluded as occurring in England. He was much interested when I told him of the similarity, though surprised, as he thinks highly of British practical sense, at the failure here to apply a remedy. In Araucania they have a very simple specific, which I had seen that night in operation. It seems that, whenever an Araucanian gains a step, it is lawful

116

for companions, who must remain in juxtaposition to him, while socially and officially estranged, to commit a sort of Happy Despatch. Suicide in all other instances is severely forbidden. In this it is encouraged, though without any compulsion.

The procedure is beneficial, according to his Majesty, from two points of view. Necessarily it frees the new-great man from a dilemma. He is glad not to have to be hail-fellow-well-met with a man who can no longer think his thoughts, return his dinners, or speak his language. Tt. is a relief not to have to be civil to the other's middle-class acquaintances, to the daughter's husband, the managing clerk, and to the family friend, the curate, who would soon be writing to beg for a Crown living. He is pleased, and her Ladyship yet more, not to be invited to luncheons, at-homes, garden-parties, in stuffy little rooms, and villa croquet-lawns. But it is for the sake less of him than of his late equals, that the sacrifice really is sanctioned. For them it is intolerable to be always knocking against him. They do not know how to look. or how to speak. As he is obliged to be just above their heads, and they cannot avoid being down below at the foot of the ladder, there is no way out of it but an anæsthetic dose.

His Majesty went into details. The law, he said, endeavours to hinder needless withdrawals. A soi-disant old friend has to prove his status before he may order a glass of laud-cum-rhin. It is not enough for a girl to declare that life is not worth living since dearest Gladys was engaged to the nephew of an Ulster baronet. She has to demonstrate that the bride and she will be continually liable to meet in the same drawing-rooms, and will not know how to behave to one another. The arrangement has been instituted to save respectable people from mutual embarrassment, to which no fault of theirs, and circumstances alone, have exposed them. The privilege is grossly abused when it is made to subserve the fatuous fancies of foolish creatures. who are angry at being left in their proper obscurity.

The fact is, said his Majesty, that the single defect of the system is its excessive popularity. For example, on his own election to the throne, some hundreds of men, whom he did not know

A REMEDY FOR THE RISE OF FRIENDS. 119

from Adam, had insisted upon drinking the mixture. He could preserve half the landlords in the west-central quarter of his capital from ruin through the premature deaths of their best tenants only by the publication of a solemn declaration, under the Privy Seal, that he should never think of confusing them by references to schoolboy acquaintanceship, for that, on his Royal word, he had never set eyes upon one of them all his life long.

However, these are petty difficulties, which beset the working of every useful institution. Altogether, the practice, his Majesty repeated again and again to me, has answered admirably. I can easily believe it. Since I returned to Addlestone to find that James Ghrimes, gentleman, the worthy though scarcely world-renowned Town Clerk, has been knighted, my wife, daughters, and myself have been seriously tempted to wonder why Araucania should retain a monopoly of so satisfactory a social sedative. . · · ·

.

ANOTHER JUBILEE

.

.

•

•

.

ANOTHER JUBILEE

JUBILEES of a peculiar kind are among the institutions of Kurile. To the founders of the State of Kurile it seemed ridiculous that men should not have a chance of beginning over again in a lifetime. The body renews itself frequently. It should be the same, they considered, with the social, mental, and moral circumstances of human existence. At moderate intervals they invited the entire community to recommence. Ten years was the period they fixed for their Jubilee. It is not exclusively a material recommencement, as with the Hebrews. Kurilians, who have forfeited their inheritance, certainly may, if they like, as in ancient Palestine, re-enter. The actual owner never resists; and occasionally the right is claimed. It is regarded as rather a trivial thing. Naturally it could not be as important

as in some countries; for in Kurile everybody is well provided for pecuniarily. Every Kurilian is held to have a title to as large an income as he can prove himself, according to his class, competent to spend on himself, by himself, and for his own proper needs and enjoyment. The amount varies with the rank and position. Thus, as each Kurilian's individual wants have been cut down to a point at which the State can and does, when requested, satisfy them, the Jubilee title to the resumption of estates is more of theoretical than practical interest. The one theme of real importance to the community is the fresh start the Jubilee offers in non-material questions, matters of character, sentiment, and conduct. I was myself in Kurile last year, which was Jubilee year, and witnessed the work of the institution.

When the silver trumpets are heard at dawn on June 1, which is Jubilee Day, every Kurilian wakes with a thrill at feeling himself his own master once again. So that he abstains from interference with the liberty of his neighbours to act likewise, he is absolutely free to think and be thought of without respect to the past. He may in politics for ten years have been a red-hot Tory. He can wake an Advanced Liberal. He may have been a member of the English Church Union. Henceforth, without the least fear of being reproached by its council as a pervert, he may resort to the hall in Farringdon Street. Some ancient sorrow may have been bowing him to the earth, a blight of the affections, or grief for departed relatives, who have not remembered him in their wills. Jubilee Day rolls the healing waters of oblivion over the pain. The past ten years may have been a time of disappointment and defeat. He may have had a farce hissed off the stage. From rivalry for the Laureate's succession he may have subsided to the post of poet to Pears' soap, or patent braces. His Muse will recover full power to preen her feathers once more on Jubilee Day, and wing Parnassus-wards.

There is no weight which Jubilee Day does not remove. Some highly respectable persons have been known to be betrayed into writing another man's name at the foot of a cheque or bill. They may have strayed into a habit of wife-beating, or other peccadillos. Courts of justice properly look with severity upon such transgressions. With less discrimination, society follows suit. A gentleman or lady, who has purged an offence by a term in prison, finds it nevertheless very difficult to revolve subsequently in the ordinary circle of dinners and evening receptions. On and after Jubilee Day the oyster-knife is given back to the hand. A convict can from that moment, if otherwise qualified, open the shell of society with as little protest from itself as if his penal record were immaculately clean.

With a Kurilian himself it rests altogether to decide what of the past he shall retain, and what expunge. Unless he choose to remind people, he will never be reminded that he has been a gaol-bird, that he has been jilted, or damned, plucked for his degree, or gazetted as an undischarged bankrupt. The Jubilee necessarily is negative. A cross-grained, ill-mannered reprobate will not be hailed at Kurile clubs as a courteous, frank, honest gentleman, because it happens to be Jubilee year; but his past is not cast up in his teeth. He has the option for it of complete forgetfulness and forgiveness.

In Kurile no uncomfortable embarrassment is, I can state from my own observation, ever experienced at the process of clearing the old tablets. The sole sensation, as the anniversary comes round, is curiosity concerning the new revelations of character. All the world is on tiptoe to ascertain, on the first blare of the silver trumpets, the fresh light in which individuals will show themselves. Husbands, wives, parents, children, friends, customers, employers and employed, are all on the alert to discover changes for the better, if not for the worse. Α finished coquette, who has been tightening her waist and rouging her cheeks for the last decade of her sixty years, suddenly turns into a comfortable elderly aunt, to the relief of her whole family. A broken-down penitent upper-circle thief leaves off his contrition, with less danger to the pockets of his neighbours than when his remorse was most demonstrative. Everybody goes about peering into everybody's face to see in what colours the owner intends for the next cycle to appear. Whatever the result, no surprise, so far as I could perceive, is ever evinced, or, I should say, felt. Habit has made a second nature of the Kurile code of politeness, which would be fatally infringed by any expression of amazement at the repudiation of old brands, or by a suggestion of inconsistency.

Socially the effect of the system is delightful, if at times bewildering to a foreigner. All stagnation is at an end. The fountains of the great deep are broken up. The wettest of human wet blankets grows instantaneously lively and festive. Ultimately, as might be expected, the change is less extraordinary. Just as a recipient of the Grand Cross of the Philanthrope à la Soubise of Samoa is content, after the first rapture, to lay it in silver paper in a quiet drawer, so a good many Kurilians, at the close of a gay Jubilee Day, would like to wrap their Jubilee talent up in a napkin. Not a few ex-forgers, who began life ten years since with brilliant prospects, now capable of reopening, have even been known, I was told, to slink back on June 2 to their local police stations, and beg leave to go on reporting themselves on their tickets as before. On the Superintendent's remonstrances, they have pressed trembling hands on their hearts, and asked whether the Kurile Charter could take

128

the pain and the identity out of those. But the Constitution is positive on the point, and they have been obliged to become again free agents.

It is satisfactory to be able to add, on good authority, that in several cases of the kind the rigour of the rule has been justified. Criminals have resumed their original careers of virtue, and verified their early promise. On the other hand, the consequences, I am informed, have often been found less agreeable in instances in which the privilege of letting unsavoury bygones be bygones has been seized most greedily. But that is the fault of the men, and not of the system. At all events, though they may have terminated the second decade worse even than the first, they have had their other chance, as all humanity ought to have it. By law they might even enjoy a third, or a fourth, though it seems they do not commonly avail themselves of their full statutory privilege. The principle of justice, as well as the sentiment of compassion, is not the less contented that a short shrift and a long rope are rumoured to be more than usually in request in Kurile on the immediate eve of Jubilee Day.

K

.

TOO LITERAL

• .

TOO LITERAL

THE Mesopotamian people, not the present very different and more rational nation, but its predecessor, once, being very prosperous, comfortable, and a prey to ennui, determined to try Christian charity "brut," for a change.

As everybody knows, the Church, being constantly inspired, and at liberty therefore to interpret her principles for practical use, has introduced rather considerable modifications. With liberal common sense she has diluted most of the over-strong precepts of brotherly love, good will among men, kindness to neighbours, especially the malevolent, and the rest of the Sermon on the Mount. Mesopotamians, as her faithful sons and daughters, had for ages acted on the regulated theory, and flourished under it exceedingly. By land and sea they had fought with every State they could provoke to arms, big and little, particularly the little. For the sake of their antagonists, who required gentle compulsion to understand the merits of Mesopotamian wares and institutions, they had made them all in turn to bow the head. They had trafficked with them, above board and below board, selling poisonous drugs to one, fire-water to another, and muskets warranted to burst to everybody. In no transaction had they come out the losers. Now, at last, in the satiety of ease and affluence, they passed in a fortnight through three readings in both Houses a Bill for the establishment thenceforth throughout the United Kingdom of Mesopotamia of Christian Charity pure and simple.

What is more, they observed it. I have read the history of the transaction in the Continuation of the Mesopotamian Alison, in fifty volumes royal octavo; so there can be no doubt about the matter. The results seem to have been the funniest imaginable. With much self-denial the State had agreed to be itself bound; and it forthwith showed its sincerity. Among the territories, accommodation land, as it styled them, which it had wrested by force or treachery

from other friendly nations, was the impregnable fort of Bussorah, on Karasmian soil. Mesopotamia never found it of much utility; but its appropriation certainly was very vexatious to Karasmia-which was always something gained. Well, when, a month after the Bill became law, the Karasmian Government lodged its customary formal annual demand for the retrocession of the enclave, to its profound surprise the Foreign Secretary of Mesopotamia answered "Yes." The Imperial Parliament acted analogously on the subject of Wessex. As every schoolboy knows, Shah Muley Hassan, in the fifteenth century, annexed the Isle of Wessex, in the German Ocean. Ever since it had been a Mesopotamian dependency. Probably, as the islanders are ignorant, turbulent, and conceited, freedom would at any period have been a dangerous boon for them. They are, however, poor. Consequently they had some right to grumble that wealthy Mesopotomia, which properly maintained a costly diplomatic staff throughout the European continent, had been in the habit of throwing the entire burden upon the Wessex Exchequer. The Mesopotamian

plea was beautifully logical. It was that Mesopotamia, being in Asia, could not need European embassies. Obviously they were maintained for the sole benefit of Wessex. Wessex litigiously demurred; and had to pay. In the first Mesopotamian Budget introduced after the enactment of the Christian Charity ordinance, a charge actually appeared for the European Legations !

The effects upon private Mesopotamian life were still more remarkable. The lawyers had genuine cause to complain. They had gone through an expensive training, and married, and had families-only to find their knowledge of legal subtleties, and the art of aggravation, for the most part, superfluous. The doctrine of easements, and ancient lights, and specific performance might as well have never existed, for all the benefit they yielded now to the profession. No third mortgagee any longer seized hold of a plank by buying up a shadow of a first mortgage in order to squeeze out a second. When a series of contradictory decisions proved that neither plaintiff nor defendant was right or wrong, the litigants would divide the subject of dispute, and the costs.

In every quarter all sorts of neighbourly-in the Samaritan's sense-offices were continually being done. A poor man might have been run over in front of a nobleman's palace. Without more ado the doors would be thrown open. Instead of being doubled up in a cab, and transported to the hospital, the patient was nursed into health in a splendid apartment. He never fancied, on recovery, that he was entitled to outdoor relief for the rest of his life from the same source. One of the most agreeable consequences was the disposition which gradually grew up to take for granted that nobody desired to deceive, defraud, or pain. Words which previously would have been resented rancorously for the innuendoes discoverable-without the smallest real basisin them, would furnish nothing but genuine amusement both to speaker and to hearer, when the possibilities they contained of a malignant construction were detected. A customer buying pears at a strange greengrocer's was not afraid to let the fruiterer choose for him. A mistress trusted to her cook's superior sharpness in marketing without injurious suspicions that her account would include a commission upon

. •

purchases. Kindness, honesty, veracity, and self-sacrifice worked and throve side by side without mutual detriment.

A clergyman was not afraid to mount the pulpit and preach the most candid and the roughest truths on commercial rectitude to a congregation of small shopkeepers. A collector warned an uninstructed dealer that a priceless Persian saucer was not Delft. A wit at a dinner never tried to cap his rival's pet story. The wife of a workman earning fair wages gratefully, declined a share in a city church dole. A rich man's clever son won a scholarship, and refused to touch the proceeds. A schoolmaster worsted in an argument confessed that he was beaten. No one imputed to another that taste, or French accent, or manners, or bonnet, boots, or the use of aspirates might advantageously be mended. A society had to be founded to preserve, for antiquarian purposes, family nagging from becoming a lost art. The offer of a warranty with a horse was treated as an amiable formality. If occasionally a dispute on some business transaction arose, the sole question was how most liberally to apply the rule that everybody

should do to others as he would that others should do to him.

The wonder was how simple the system was as soon as it was brought into working order. At first there was a little natural doubt how far the sense of righteousness and generosity would compensate good citizens and good Christians for the spoliation they apprehended they should have to bear from adherents to the old paths. The presumption was that the abiders by the law would be in the minority. Nothing of the kind. Practically all classes accepted the new or old-new polity. They found that it made marvellously little difference in the long run. It appeared that for ages they had all been plotting, cheating, plundering, bullying, plaguing, and tormenting one another, with the same general results as if they had been following the Christian ideal.

No doubt there were exceptions. Some bill-discounters and West End money-lenders, burglars, receivers, wife-beaters, habitual drunkards, horse-coopers, intriguers with friends' wives, and the like, rejected the law, in accordance with an option which it gave. They might have gone on living in Mesopotamia, if they chose, and as they chose. There it seemed as if a richer harvest than ever awaited them. Somehow they did not choose. Thev were peevish, captious, and discontented. They called the forbearing, generous attitude of the population religious persecution. They declared that they could not breathe; that there was a plot to choke them. In a brief time they concluded their pending housebreaking jobs, sharp practices, and verbal brutalities. Then, after just enough delay to make a grievance that no notice was taken, they deported themselves, their goods, and professional tools into Khorassan.

It may be asked why the Christian model thus successfully revived in Mesopotamia ever ceased to exist, as unfortunately and notoriously is the case. The reason, I understand, was that the surrounding nations, after a time, could no longer endure to be treated in a Biblically neighbourly fashion. Every transaction with Mesopotamia set their blood boiling furiously. At length they united in a mighty confederation for the suppression of the anti-social fanaticism, as they held it to be. After remonstrances, met with a mild doggedness which intensified the rage of the Orthodox Allies, war was declared. The proclamation would have been issued long before, but for a fear that Mesopotamia would insolently turn the other cheek to the smiter. They need not have been alarmed. The ideal Christians discovered in their faith a well of heroic patriotism. They defended their natural frontiers with the most brilliant and the sweetest courage.

All the spite and forces of the League were unable to produce the slightest impression, when artifice did what strength had failed to accomplish. The Allies pretended contrition for the attack, lying like Trojans. They proffered friendship with apologetic meekness. Their overtures were willingly accepted; and both sides solemnly agreed to disarm. Mesopotamia acted loyally on the covenant, whereupon, without preamble or notice, the hostile legions crossed the border, and massacred the whole guileless population. The victors, who had to bury the dead for fear of a pestilence, found, I have somewhere read, the silly bigots lying one and all with a smile upon his or her obstinate countenance. In place of the extirpated race the Allies settled the Mesopotamian emigrants, whom their hosts in Khorassan could no longer stand. From them they exacted no other condition than that they should rob, cozen, lie, lust, hoard, and self-torment, and call themselves Christians still. Hitherto, travellers in Mesopotamia say, they have given no cause for complaint of a breach of these engagements.

SHOW SUNDAY AT KOMOTAU

.

SHOW SUNDAY AT KOMOTAU

BUSINESS took me last autumn to Prague, where I fell ill of typhoid fever. In consequence I was unable to travel homewards till the first week in November. I took my seat in the night express, which arrives at Komotau a little after eleven, and halts just time enough for a cup of coffee. Nobody stays at Komotau, at all events in November. Neither should I if the engine had not broken down. As it was, I alighted, pretty well by myself, for the train was almost empty. I drank my coffee, and then the solitary waiter in attendance proceeded to lock up. I asked how long I should have to wait till another engine, for which they had telegraphed, came from Teplitz. I was told it could not be at Komotau till two, at earliest.

It was a disagreeable dilemma for a convalescent. The night was damp and cold. The

buffet was about to be shut. No waiting-room was open. The sole refuge from the gusty platform was the reeking buvette, which the thirdclass passengers, though few, crowded, and poisoned with bad tobacco. I turned to the departing waiter, who was yawning. He lived near, and was in haste to reach home. But he made a suggestion. It was Komotau Show Sunday, he said; and-foreigners were queerhe did not know but that it might amuse me, as there was nothing else to do, to go into the town. I supposed he meant that some local festival had been held. Though I could not hope it would have lasted to midnight, I had no preferable use for my compulsory leisure. Ι plunged, therefore, down the muddy road which led, I was told, to the city a mile off. I soon saw lights which guided me, and, after a dismal walk, I entered the streets.

To my vexation rather than surprise, nobody remained abroad. Yet every thoroughfare was brilliantly illuminated, from the houses, not from lamps on the pavement. Each ground floor had at least one window lighted up, in a way to show as distinctly as possible some object

within the room. I had struck the place at its fashionable quarter, and here the decorations were exquisite. Komotau is wealthy, if not very large, and its prosperous citizens have taste. On an easel before one window was a glorious canvas, nymphs and Pan in pursuit, which it needed no signature in the corner to trace to Titian. Another exhibited a lovely Venus, a statue, Canova all over. Hard by I gazed upon a diamond tiara, which outshone the lamps. Elsewhere were plates by Palissy, or engraved gems, the handiwork of Cellini. Here rested a gorgeously inlaid Stradivarius; and there an illuminated Book of Hours, or a first state of an Albrecht Dürer etching. No house displayed more than a single treasure; and the variety of the exposition was inexhaustible.

The clue to the enigma was not extremely obscure. Every household showed its most precious possession, and to no spectators. Komotau is, as I have said, a thriving town, populous for its size, and, normally, as dull as ditchwater. Now, it was a city of the dead, beaming with light, and marvels of art. The owners themselves were not present to see or be seen. Apparently, by an unwritten law, households stay away from their Show-room, but within, on Show Sunday. Komotau has no criminal class against which it is necessary to guard, and the railway brings no strangers thither in November. It could occur to nobody that the night express would break down and disgorge an Englishman on Show Night.

So, on and on I strolled, contemplating the strangest museum I had ever entered. I explored the poorer as well as the richer In all Show Sunday was being localities. honoured. The borderland of bare respectability and the one-storied tenements of the working classes had their goods of price, like their betters. A gorgeous chrysanthemum embellished one window. Another paraded a toyship in full sail. In another an uniform coat with gold epaulets recalled the pride of a decayed family. Everywhere, too, was the same characteristic, of utter loneliness. None appeared, to proclaim ownership and challenge applause.

I recollected at last that it must be time to turn towards the station. By good luck, a lamp

148

in a window lit up at a street corner a direction to the railway. Without retracing my steps I followed it, and was quickly on the outskirts of the town. Severely well-behaved though Komotau is reputed to be, the quarter wore the dishevelled, untidy look of a refuge for the shamed outcasts of civilized existence. The dark suburban road, which I had originally traversed, I could see opening a little further on, when, from the opposite side of the way, I noticed a flicker from a small window half underground.

I crossed over, speculating what there could be to display. One feeble, glimmering taper made darkness visible. I could just make out a cradle, and within, calm, content, fearless, a tiny figure with closed, blue-veined evelids, and hands folded on its breast, grasping a violet. At first I fancied it was a waxen image, though none but a Gilbert or a Thornicroft-and the notion was absurd there-could have moulded Then, as my eyes grew accustomed to the it. gloom, I thought I saw a second figure in the poor cellar; and it, at all events, was alive. It was the only life I had perceived that night in Komotau. Yes, I was right. Bowed down

beside the cradle, with wild eyes fixed upon that it held, I made out a meanly clad, shrunken woman. How woe-begone, and hopeless! How proud! Was it a baby she was showing for her treasure—her baby, and dead?

But I had no leisure to wait; and when I reached the station, the train was preparing to start. The borrowed Teplitz engine shrieked as I climbed into my carriage. Off we sped into the night, leaving Komotau and its silent Show little more than a dream. I have since searched every guide-book, and never discovered an allusion to the custom. A queer business altogether! Strangest of all, whenever the spectacle comes back to me, it is the cradle and its hungry-eyed guardian that fill the forefront of the scene. Somehow, that dead babe seems to my recollection to have been the only living love in Komotau.

150

ULTRA-INVENTIVENESS

.

.

ULTRA-INVENTIVENESS

LAST autumn, in the course of a pedestrian tour, I found myself in Hohenbrettel. Everybody knows Hohenbrettel on the map. Most schoolboard children could describe the Hohenbrettel watersheds, the amount of its national debt, and the form of helmet worn by its police constables. But I much doubt if a score of Englishmen have in the flesh crossed its borders since the Foreign Missions Committee of the defunct Social Science Congress held one of its feasts of reason there.

I do not suppose that I am likely myself to repeat my visit. Never was there a more forsaken, retrograde land. No electric bells, no water-gas, no microphones, no aërated bread, no halfpenny post, no steam-hand-painted Japanese crockery, no house-to-house-delivery railways. I was at the principal hotel, so ranked by

Baedeker. The rolls were of the morning's baking, made by hand. The tea was simply tea-leaves in boiling water. The eggs were common natural hen products. The beef, served at dinner, had been fed on mere grass, not on the nutty, aromatic oilcake from the Huddersfield shoddy mills. The coffee had been roasted over a wood fire, and ground in a little mill on the cook's knee. The beds had the oldfashioned, superannuated feather compilations, instead of patent watch-springs, which repeat the hour whenever you turn over. I was awakened by cock-crowing, supplemented by the voice of an antediluvian boots, and not by a steam-whistle. The wine tasted of unadulterated grape-juice, without a drop of St. Helen's sirup in a hogshead. Everything was coarsely innocent, even to the rain, which was allowed to drop from the clouds as it would, without a reminder from dynamite spray.

The novelty pleased for a day; but I became impatient at the absurd length to which the joke was carried. If Hohenbrettellers were country bumpkins, I should not have minded so much. In fact, they are persons, for the

154

most part, of brilliant imaginations. I have never known a race more apparently ingenious or bird-witted. Yet the entire state and its citizens have, as it were out of malice prepense, been stagnating for a hundred years at least.

One evening at supper, after a day spent in observing curious indigenous oddities, I fell into conversation with a native in the coffee-room. He was friendly and agreeable, and asked me how I liked Hohenbrettel. I evaded a direct and ungracious answer by mentioning, as in reply, that I had stayed a fortnight, though I came for a day, and that I had worn out a pair of boots on the city pavement. He proceeded to inquire what I thought of the Royal Patent Museum. I had to confess that I had never seen or heard of it. That, he remarked, was unfortunate, since unquestionably it furnished the most interesting spectacle in the metropolis. But, as he consolatorily added, the want could readily be repaired, if I did not object to a I said what was fitting and companion. courteous, and he made an appointment for us to meet the next morning. Both of us duly kept it, and he escorted me to the building. which certainly I should never have found by myself.

He lighted upon a curator he knew, by name Herr Güngl, and, introducing me, begged him to point out the principal curiosities. With this invaluable assistance I passed a most improving morning. Nowhere have I inspected a more extraordinary miscellany of engineering wonders. It is a museum and works in one. The cases contained examples, exquisitely kept, of every invention devised by human brains, from the days of Prometheus and Tubal Cain. Below, in the immense range of shops, hundreds of machines were all in operation, turning out innumerable marvels of art and science. In a noble library, to which not a murmur from the manufacturing babel could penetrate, sat scores of sages elaborating infinite new mechanical combinations. Nothing, I am persuaded, exists, or can be conceived as existing, which this institution, in its several departments, is not capable of constructing with a rapidity, certainty, and minute completeness unattainable in any other known region.

After my fancy had been intoxicated into

156

a species of delirium by a legion of new ideas, my two acquaintances carried me off to lunch at the Museum restaurant. We had chops from the gridiron, and ate them, and the toasted cheese which followed, with three-pronged forks. The repast was washed down with home-brewed. At the risk of impoliteness, I could not help intimating my sense of the contrast between actual life in Hohenbrettel and the spectacle presented at the Patent Museum. Herr Güngl finally caught the drift of my comments, and explained.

The Hohenbrettellers, as I had perceived, are conversant with all the arts and their applications. He could not, nor did he wish to, deny that they practise none of them. It was, he told me, not always so. A couple of thousand years, more or fewer, since, they were in the habit of utilizing mechanical comforts and luxuries in every conceivable direction. Unfortunately, at last, the whole population, being cumulatively, and in each fresh generation increasingly, quick-witted and energetic, forced the inventive faculties to such a pitch of restless progress as absolutely to defeat its object.

PROBABLE TALES.

Herr Güngl is deeply read in the ancient Hohenbrettel annals; and they tell, as he sketched it to me, an almost tragical story. The instant that, in any field of industrial investigation, a discovery had been made, another, in slight advance, superseded it. Expensive plant had no sooner been set up than it was rendered obsolete. A week after families had transformed their kitchen ranges. so as to cook by hydrochloric acid, a new gas would be patented which dispensed with stoves altogether. Coffee beans would give way to horse-liver powder, only for that to be ousted in favour of Barking Compost extract. The Guncotton Battery Emission railway system had been hardly a year at work, when the Balloon Bicycle Company sent the whole of its stock down to zero, ruining half the clergy and half-pay officers in the kingdom.

The result appears to have been a positive deadlock so far as commercial enterprise was concerned. Mills and forges could not be worked with profit. Consumers did not care to cultivate a taste, not knowing how speedily they might not have to leave it off. A lady

158

would scarcely think it worth while to buy an iron-slag cloak for the winter, when it was nine `chances to one that, after the first week of frost, every self-respecting woman had to dress in aluminium-waste. Ultimately the Legislature intervened with an utter change of the Patent law. Patents hitherto had been granted to individuals for all things, and for unlimited periods. Henceforth, Parliament enacted, there should be but one patentee; and that is the State. All inventions are held to be made on behalf of the State, which rewards the authors according to their merits. By a fundamental article of the Constitution, the State is bound both to buy, like bullion, every one which is offered, and to keep it. By an unwritten ordinance the State is equally obliged to refrain from any utilization of such deposits.

According to contemporary chroniclers, the revolution was received with an universal sigh of glad relief. The law is popularly known as the Hohenbrettel Magna Charta; and no suggestion for its repeal or modification has ever been mooted. The fire of Hohenbrettel brains is as intense as of old. Inventors pursue

their researches and compare notes with indefatigable zeal and corresponding success. The Patent Museum every few years has to expand itself with a wing here and a wing there. More and more students frequent it. Only, the general scientific fervour is contented to exhale itself philosophically in theories and models. Were the ancient inhibition to be taken off, Herr Güngl expressed his undoubting belief that his countrymen are grown much too wise to be tempted to abuse, for the confusion of domestic life, researches which have their proper destination in the domain of pure intelligence, and nowhere else. Certainly I can so far corroborate his assertion that I have since visited him at home, and have seen that he must hang up at night his singular mechanical sagacity on the Museum pegs along with his working-coat. His standard of domestic comfort is not at all superior to the average level in the country at large, which is very much that of a company of Englishmen hunting in the Rockies, or Mashonaland.

Meanwhile, as the November afternoon drew in, we went on with our talk by the light of four wax candles. I had seen in the Museum a

new kind of water-gas in use, unimpeachably safe, and as extraordinarily cheap. At the cost of a penny a day, it was warranted to give the light of a thousand candles. It had, I was assured, been illuminating an empty cellar in the Museum for upwards of six months without supervision. In fact, its existence had been forgotten. I could not forbear hinting at the wasteful blindness implied in the neglect of such a cheap substitute for extravagant beeswax close to the building which held it. Herr Güngl did not detect the irony in the remark. He merely assumed that I was interested in the principle, which he in consequence very lucidly discussed and illustrated. It did not occur to him that a point was involved of practical utility, still less that there was money in it. That, I need not say, is not a common-sense-like manner of regarding the proceeds of human science. But, at all events, British commerce is not bound by the irrational self-denying Hohenbrettel ordinance; and some ingenious friends of mine intend to take out a patent for the Hohenbrettel "Ignifat."

М

• . . . •

IN RETIREMENT

.

•

.

•

• . •

IN RETIREMENT

It is quite a mistake to suppose that people, when they are dead, go far away from their usual haunts. They remove simply, as it were, into the next street. Like a fashionable but devout Roman Catholic, or a Ritualist lady, they enter a retreat. Numbers of my dead friends I am constantly running up against as I walk about. I know them, and they know me—only, it is not good manners to show recognition.

They have grown tired of the occupation they had taken up, or which had taken them up, and they have chosen to go dead in order to break with it. One of my intimates, for example, was thrust into a Judgeship, when he would have preferred to be deciphering corrupt Greek texts. He had to die to be free for the pursuit he loved.

I sometimes pass him, on a side-path, taking a constitutional in the Park after a hard spell of Æschylean puzzles, and looking supremely contented. Not a few others of my acquaintances have had no way of escaping from their stucco South Kensington mansions but by giving formal notice through the *Times* that they had shuffled off their mortal coil. They are lodging in Pentonville, and saunter up and down the City Road rejoicing in their release. Some of the most inveterate diners-out of society I have recently seen, from the hot rooms in which I was cooped in evening-dress, inhaling the cool June night air, and gazing placidly in. Tt must be the merest chance if an At-Home card ever penetrate to their retirement. Sometimes, however, it will. Intermittently I have gazed into the eyes of a soi-disant ghost elbowed about a drawing-room, and looking as bored as in what by a polite fiction is called life.

The world is packed more closely than many people fancy. It is divided into layers; and death signifies only a migration from one compartment to another. If the dead choose, they

166

have but to come back. Ordinarily they do not choose. Some day or other they may. What a hubbub there will then be with the interchange of reflections, and criticisms, and mutual claims, a hundred and fifty deep, to the same things, to the same ideas! For the present, naturally enough, the dead are satisfied with their solitude. But even there they are entirely accessible to anybody who would see and talk with them. They are close by all or any of us. ь.

A SOCIAL COMPROMISE

. -

A SOCIAL COMPROMISE

THE Principality of Lichtenfels is not one of the Great Powers of Europe. Perhaps not all foreigners who even have happened to visit it may be aware of its existence. I myself remember discovering, to my surprise, by an inscription on an upright post, that I had unwittingly traversed its whole extent. Yet it deserves to be remarked for an experiment it tried, or, for all I have heard, may be trying now.

Once upon a time the State of Lichtenfels had fallen morally into a bad way. The pure deevilry of Peebles is matter of history. Peebles can have been nothing to Lichtenfels. The whole body of citizens, Prince, nobles, burghers, soldiers, peasants, traders, artisans, and menials, had contracted a promiscuous habit of depravity. They were a scandal to their neighbours for the license they took and gave. Each had many vicious propensities, and indulged them all freely. At length their cup was full. The Grand Council of the Grisons was out of patience with the evil example the Lichtenfelseners set. It had seriously discussed the question of abating the nuisance by force. Condign action was threatened, and doubtless would have been undertaken but for a revolution in the offending country.

A friar of holy life and burning eloquence from Bermondsey chose this hotbed of dissoluteness for his field of labour. His name was Roger Boanerges, and he justified it. After six weeks of indignant oratory, he produced among Sovereign and subjects the most overwhelming contrition, and then he disappeared. Possibly it was as well. Had he remained, he might have persuaded the population to affect an ascetic self-control which could not have lasted. Happily a worthy local politician, of much influence with his countrymen, caught their hearts at the rebound. He turned to serious good the emotional spasms. When he had matured his scheme, he introduced it before the Legislature in statutory shape. He had to contend both with the Conservative Sensualists and with the Radical Puritans. In a plainspoken, sensible address, he set before the Assembly the limits of its powers. While he expatiated on the abominable tedium of a national course of miscellaneous vice, he gently ridiculed the good friar's notion that full-blooded Lichtenfelseners could be induced permanently to lead the lives of saints. The utmost, he said, to be required of them, or desired, was that they should not all run mad together.

His specific for the consolidation of a feasible modicum of decorum was that everybody should be bound by law to select a vice, and register it. Any subject, on reaching years of discretion that is, legal discretion—was to be called upon to engage that he should go wrong in a particular direction, and not otherwise. If, after a sufficient trial, he should find that he had mistaken his sort of vicious proclivity, he would have to apply to the Court of Quarter Sessions. That authority was to be empowered to dispense him from its further pursuit, and to license him to a different weakness. The rule was to apply, with his Serene Highness's entire assent given in advance, to the Prince as well as his people. The sole distinction proposed was that the Sovereign, on account both of his temptations and his responsibilities, should be invited to register two legitimate vices instead of one. I may, however, incidentally mention that his Highness obtained a special enactment in the next Parliament abolishing his prerogative. He found one legitimate vice as much as body, soul, and Civil List would comfortably stand.

So convinced was the lawgiver of the wisdom of his golden mean, and so desperate was a majority in the Parliament at the actual dilemma, that, after a cynical discussion, it was resolved to let the experiment be tried for a term. On my second, and conscious, visit to Lichtenfels it had become an institution, to which the nation was fondly attached. Lichtenfelseners attributed to its adoption the high level of moral excellence to which, as they informed me, the world agreed that they had attained. No arrangement, at all events, could be at once simpler and more subtle.

Full age in Lichtenfels is deferred somewhat beyond the customary period. For males it is fixed at thirty, and for females at twenty-five. At those ages all are summoned to present themselves at the Town Hall, and declare their respective vices. Generally there is no difficulty, and everybody has his or her choice. At the same time, there necessarily is a possibility of some inconvenience, if the whole of a rising generation happened to select one identical depravity. The result would be a wearisome monotony in the local society, and also a risk of jostling. Consequently a census is periodically held of the number of owners of the several ordinary vices. In the rare event of an excessive run upon one in particular, young persons are requested to accept another as like as may be in spirit to it. I was told that they seldom object.

In general the ceremonial is brief, and of course. The youth or maiden certifies, with witnesses, his or her specific foible, and is given a warrant to practise it without penal liabilities. That is all, except payment of a fee graduated according to the applicant's circumstances. Thenceforth, within bounds of the ordinary rights of others, the ticket-of-leave holder is at liberty to go and be vicious along a definite groove.

One gentleman I myself saw certificated, just in time, as of an irascible temper. As he went away, he met face to face a quiet citizen, who, to leave the path free, began dodging him, first on one side and then on the other. Nothing to the irritable can be more exasperating. Losing his temper, if he ever had it, the licensee at last struck smartly at the other with a heavy cotton umbrella. A tussle followed, and the combatants had to go to the police office. There it came out that the object of the attack had a license for nervous stolidity. The magistrate decided that neither was criminally to blame, as each had kept within his indemnity. None but civil compensation could be exacted. Thus, the aggressor had to make good to the other the hat he had battered. The prosecutor, having shown himself handier with his fists, had to pay the artist who painted out his adversary's black eye. Each left the court without a stain upon his character.

177

On a subsequent day I assisted at the registration of a kleptomaniac, an interesting young lady, with an air of innocence irresistible for shopwalkers. She was well off. A friend has since informed me that she moves in the best society of the Residenz Stadt, though no silver spoon is safe within a hundred yards of her. Fortunately she is rich enough to be able to pay for all she appropriates.

Really some of the scenes, as the swearing in proceeds, are most instructive and entertaining. I recall with constant amusement the catechizing by the clerk of the court of a fellow who had come for a "romancing" paper. As the examination continued, it was clear that by romancing the most audacious lying was meant. Still, lying is an ordinary vice, like picking and stealing. Obviously it is convenient that the leading practitioners shall be identified.

At first, I have been told, the ecclesiastical authorities opposed the system. After an Archbishop had been convicted of indulgence in half a dozen separate forms of misconduct, Convocation gave in at the request of his grace, who took the benefit of the Act. Provision has long

been made for it in the Church Services, where a blank is left in several prayers for an exception of the one legalized temptation. The arrangement has been found comforting by the devout who happen to be naturally unable to abstain from sanding the sugar, or cheating at cards. On the whole, the decided official view, both clerical and secular, when I was in Lichtenfels, was that the system worked well. The quantity of the individual vices had diminished; and the authorities dwelt on the immense advantage they derived from the facility for tracing evils home to their sources. Vices being known can be guarded against. Anybody who objects to having his portable property abstracted, his character filched away by slanders, his quiet disturbed by a neighbour's outbursts of anger, or his domestic peace endangered, has but to migrate to a quarter fairly free from adepts in the special moral obliquity he dislikes. Even if he cannot interpose a barrier of space between it and him, he may at any rate console himself with the scientific principle that gases pent up are more noxious than when they are free.

Certainly it is astonishing to what a degree

the flavour, according to Lichtenfels experience, fades out of depravity when a man is at liberty to indulge it as he will. The zest of vice, affirm the sages of the Principality, is its lawlessness. It loses its sparkle in the grey light of a certificate. At worst, they argue, it is satisfactory to be secured against the growth of a crop of wild oats from a single germ. Commonly there is a gregariousness in vice, which, they boast, is absent from vice in their country, though that, I feel obliged to observe, is not entirely a spontaneous effect. The truth is that, when a Lichtenfelsener will not be content with a proper single-barrelled misbehaviour, he is deported to a neighbouring spa. But we have to do with things as they are in Lichtenfels, and with Lichtenfelseners in Lichtenfels. People who are not satisfied with the moral health of a Sovereign State in which every resident citizen has but one besetting wickedness, must be hard to please.

·

.

CONSCIENCE-MONEY

.

• • •

CONSCIENCE-MONEY

I do not suppose it would be easy to find a more commonplace town, in its general aspect, than Campolato, the capital of the little free state of the same name in Dalmatia-at any rate, in comparison with its notorious opulence. For centuries it has been accumulating riches out of the dress beads called bugles. Thus, from a fashionable and peculiarly odious feminine taste in dress, it has gradually become one of the most populous towns in Europe. Though personally I detest bugles, my visits to the anti-rheumatic baths of Basso often take me through it, as probably they take many of my readers. Like other people, I have been always in the habit of entering with reluctance, and leaving with pleasure.

Now, last autumn I discovered reasons for

reconsidering my dislike of the place. A friend travelling home with me fell ill there, and I had to stay to nurse him. The bankers on whom I had letters of credit proved extraordinarily courteous. One of the firm in particular, Signor Bruno, insisted on showing me constant attention. One evening I was dining with him, when he expressed his regret at my compulsory detention. However, he said, Campolato possessed curiosities precious, if not regularly beautiful, which escaped notice among its more conspicuous attractions. Mv stay, which had never before been prolonged beyond a couple of days, would now, he proceeded, enable me to study these at leisure. Τ trust that I managed to prevent my countenance from betraying acquaintance with the acknowledged fact that Campolato is, as it is styled in the guide-books, the dullest, ugliest city in Europe. At all events, I accepted the offer with effusion, when, as he said the next morning happened to be a free time for him, he asked if I would allow him to act as my cicerone.

He arrived in due course at my hotel, and by ten in the forenoon we started. Certainly

he was right. A few doors from my hotel he rang a bell at a shabby house. A slatternly maidservant answered. He said we wanted to see the pump, and she ushered us into the back yard. There stood the pump, the loveliest bit of wrought-iron work that Quentin Matsys ever turned out. Signor Bruno conducted me thence to a blind alley close by, directing my notice to a bust above a squalid little porch, Michel Angelo all over. Retracing our footsteps to a main thoroughfare, we paused before a grocer's shop. Over the front window ran a frieze of coloured pottery. Whenever I traversed the street, I had been in the habit of keeping my eyes carefully turned away from what I had a right to assume was a vulgar advertisement. Now, at the Signor's request, I examined it. "Luca della Robbia!" I exclaimed : "by all that's wonderful ! "

Up and down he guided me. Here it was an exquisite oriel from Venice in a police station. There it was a Nuremberg gargoyle at the end of a broken gutter-pipe. He brought me inside a brick box, called a Wesleyan chapel, to admire a painted glass window, which Chartres could hardly match. Buried in the sooty lilac bushes of a square was a perfect Venus, lovely though modern, with Gibson's name on the pedestal. In the Campolato equivalent of Wimpole Street a balcony, from which Spanish maidens doubtless listened in the days of Ferdinand and Isabella to love-lorn ditties below, absolutely enchanted me. In a dismal disused little churchyard we found a gigantic magnolia tree, full of the freshest and most fragrant blossoms, with a watchman, all its own, to keep it clean.

The wonders were innumerable. None had the least relation to the surroundings. They were all independent, with not the slenderest affinity to one another. They were so little appropriate to their localities that I could easily pardon myself for not having noticed them, or indeed one of them, on my brief visits. Whether the particular spot were, as often, peculiarly squalid, or, as not infrequently, decorated and pompous, the exquisite things were equally incongruous and exotic.

Naturally my admiration, which was sincere, was mingled with manifest perplexity. My

companion had anticipated both sentiments. By the time my brain was completely dazed with the extraordinary congeries of miracles of art, and some of nature, in unexpected quarters, he had compassion on me. He took me into a restaurant, a prodigy of bad taste in all its sumptuous embellishments, but able to supply a perfect risotto, and delicious ortolans, with lacrima Christi as unexceptionable. After an excellent luncheon, he explained :

By a statute of immemorial antiquity, estates proved over £100,000 within the territory of Campolato are liable to a special duty in the nature of betterment. Every considerable Campolato fortune is known to be due originally to commerce with the less fortunate outside world, and to owe something in return. Accordingly, each has to defray the cost of supplying a foreign ornament to a spot connected with the career of the deceased. The main object is to pay an equitable tribute to the region from which the dead man's prosperity sprang, by relieving it at a good price of some of its neglected products as unlike bugles as possible. As he has not himself performed the duty, it is necessary to saddle

his memory posthumously with it through topographical associations. Thus, the place selected for the monument may be the scene of his birth or his death. He may have sweated shirtmakers or journeymen tailors in a lane. He may have been caught picking pockets there in early youth. He may have made it the scene of a play, which, being damned, brought him back a penitent Prodigal to the paternal shop. Executors and administrators are allowed full liberty to choose both the site, so that they can show a certain moral appropriateness, and also the nature of the embellishment, if only by spending the statutory percentage they discharge part of the owner's obligation of conscience to the source of his opulence.

Generally legal representatives feel little personal interest in the matter. They are not usually, being Campolatins, enamoured of foreign art. Perhaps, on the whole, it is better they should not be. They escape a good deal of pain at the indigenous sights they are compelled to endure. But all, at any rate, cherish a generous scorn for parsimony, the money not being their own. Where there is an alternative

of more or less in the outlay, the more is constantly chosen. Rather reluctantly I must confess that the result is beneficial. Much of the work which I contemplated is not merely rich and rare, but charming.

However, while I admired many objects which I had passed by without notice previously, I was conscious, at the end, of equal disappointment at the pervading tastelessness and level dulness of this most uninteresting of big towns. Formerly I had accepted the vulgarity placidly. It was the nature of Campolato, and its inhabitants, I had thought, were without opportunities of knowing better. In the face of scores, hundreds, thousands of lovely works of art, they can plead no such excuse. Why are their area railings so hideous, when they could copy from Matsys? Why do not their local sculptors imbibe a little of the spirit of Donatello, half whose works they have transported from Florence? Why is their poverty so mean, and their wealth so tawdry?

I expressed my view freely to Signor Bruno, who was evidently a person of cultivation. He had demonstrated it by his very judicious 190

criticisms on the objects of imported art which he had pointed out to me. But I soon observed that, while he was not in the smallest degree offended, he did not follow my meaning. He imagined that Campolato, though curious in foreign antiquities, had little to learn from The reason why I, in common with them. other foreigners, had been unaware of the existence of the miracles of alien beauty in his city, he evidently thought, was the dazzling abundance of native excellence. I was too polite to attempt to set him right. My only fear is that on my next visit to Campolato he will be as benevolently pertinacious in exhibiting to me the atrocities of native art as he has been in guiding me to the latent specimens of a perfection which he and his fellow-citizens are determined shall not be contagious.

. DOING WITHOUT

• •

•

DOING WITHOUT

EVERYBODY knows where the Isle of Man is; but not everybody is acquainted with the situation of Sodor. Indeed, I have sometimes heard that former Bishops of Sodor and Man were accustomed to spend the whole of each Season in London for the purpose of ascertaining from the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel where their principal diocese was. Of late, however, the learned, that is to say, the very learned, have rediscovered the island group thus designated; and a most interesting country and people I can, by personal observation, affirm it to be. In recent years I have made several voyages thither, and have taken notes of many peculiar manners and customs.

It may, or may not be, a defect in the political education of the Council of Thirty,

which, from time immemorial, has ruled the group with absolute authority, that it has never heard of Mr. Herbert Spencer. The superiority of the community to the individual is its guiding principle. Provided the general welfare can be advanced, it does not mind in the least how far the comfort of individuals is sacrificed for the purpose. Consequently, it has always experimented freely with its subjects in the hope of arriving at the secret of human perfection. Humanity, in the present form, has been developed, in the opinion of Sodor statesmen, infinitely too much at its own casual discretion. As they have not been consulted in the process, they do not feel at all satisfied that the existing bundle of human attributes represents the best result. They suspect that even it often means the worst. In any case, they have thought it their duty to take specimens to pieces, and try the bits in independent combinations.

In the first place, they have always been much exercised by the tendency of humanity to run into the vice of redundancy. Development is a fine name often bestowed upon a depraved propensity; and civilization, falsely

so called, favours it. A habit of multiplying necessities and wants, with the corresponding physical apparatus, has been unduly encouraged. Sodor, as its administrators do not attempt to deny, has not in the mass escaped the vice. Certainly life in general is no less complex there than elsewhere. In some respects I should say it was more so. That, however, is not the fault of the Government, or of the Constitutional theory of existence, as expounded in the State Archives. On the contrary, without attempting forcibly to correct aberrations wholesale, the Executive Council has endeavoured to suggest to Nature the course she ought to follow by producing a reasonable number of living examples of the reforms in the matter of structural simplification, which it relies upon her good sense gradually to accept, and imitate at large. It will not require, I hope, many words to explain and justify the Ministerial mode of action.

A Sodalitian, like another man, occasionally meets with an accident which deprives him of a sense. His sisters may explode gunpowder in his eyes, and blind him, for fun. He may

grow stone-deaf from age, or annoyance at hearing the praise lavished upon a popular author. He may lose the power of locomotion from paralysis, or from the amputation of both legs. He may be deprived of the sense of smell from excessive snuff-taking, or of taste from indulgence in turtle, red pepper, chutnee, and curry. He may be converted into a mute through having his tongue, during his travels in Tartary, cut out for divulging the confidences of Mongolian Freemasonry. In all these cases manifestly extreme inconvenience will be suffered from absence of early training in the art of Doing Without. The Council of Thirty, being penetrated with pity for imaginable victims of these calamities, resolved long since to ascertain how far the several senses might be dispensed with, I will not say, voluntarily, but deliberately. That it has demonstrated the entire feasibility of the enterprise is obvious. Authority in Sodor. being autocratic, invariably proves its point, whatever that may be.

I found no difficulty in the collection of instances. Sodalitians are ordinarily a wellgrown, vigorous race, in full possession of all

the orthodox corporeal faculties. The presence, therefore, among them of an unusual number of blind, deaf, and dumb, of cripples, and of persons without the sense of smell, or any ostensible palate, was the more observable. I was constantly encountering one or another exemplar of such defects, and could verify his competence for supplying the want.

A blind man was the nimblest wicketkeeper in the Invincibles eleven. A second was champion racket-player. A third was a railway signalman, who had assisted at a dozen collisions, with loss of life, and been as often acquitted of charges of manslaughter. He did his duty by a conjunction of two senses-the most vivid hearing, and a marvellous sense of touch. He could have written a biography of an approaching train from the quiver of the spectacles, which, somewhat comically for a blind man, he was accustomed to wear. A deaf and dumb acquaintance, whom I frequently met at dinner, was rather more elaborate in his He could read the words on arrangements. your lips. That was easy enough. As the oral part of the Van Praagh system is unknown in

Sodor, it might be supposed that it was more difficult for him to keep his share in the conversation. He managed it by making your mouth do double work. In his waistcoat pocket he kept a minute silver tweezer. With it, whenever he wished to interpose a remark, as was uncomfortably frequent, he opened his neighbour's mouth, and rattled the right mechanical movement out of lips, tongue, teeth, and palate. I became used to it; but I recollect with a shudder my early experience of the forceps down my throat.

My perfumer in Sodor was born without the sense of smell. He had accumulated a handsome fortune out of patents for scents invented by him. Insects, as is well known to naturalists, particularly night-insects, have the most extraordinary subtlety of smell. Mr. Fetass, as he was named, utilized his keen sight and sensitive fingers for the observation of the nerve action of an insectorium stocked with nightmoths and beetles. In his living and buzzing laboratory you might see him gazing downwards, like a watchmaker, only more intently. A tiny lepidopter or coleopter would be in one slender hand, and an assortment of leaves and flowers DOING WITHOUT.

in the other. He saw, or felt, or both, the thrills of the insect, hardly conscious of captivity, as the breath of the plant struck its sensorium. Each varying pulsation was infallibly registered by him. No ordinary perfumer could rival him. All in the trade, with the gift of smell, were obliged to trust servilely to the gross human instrument battered by pocket-handkerchiefs out of all artistic delicacy. He was free from the clog, and was able to command the counsels of legions of ethereal coadjutors.

It is almost more surprising that the privation of a palate has been equally supplied in Sodor. The chef at the supremely Apician Locust Club, christened, not with relation to John the Baptist, but after that refined Roman dame, Locusta, is wholly palateless. He has never tasted, in the literal sense of the term, food in his life. Yet what an artist! His menus were a harmony. Hungry or not, you could no more pass a dish than tolerate a Beethoven sonata played by an infant prodigy.

He worked his miracles all by smell. The sense of smell vibrated in him as spontaneously as touch and sight in my perfumer. He sat on

the roof in a bower of Cairo lattice-work, listening, as it is no metaphor to say, to the scents from stew and fry, baking, braised, roast, and boiled, as they rolled in waves up the chimney. In the kitchen, over the pots and pans, they were, he declared, too much mixed. He needed to be a little way removed to discern each apart. I fancied that he alluded to the confusion of sweets and savouries in the different courses. which had to be dressed simultaneously. He corrected me rather sharply. He explained that he was not likely to be embarrassed by the conflict of scents from diverse dishes. He had to guard merely against the intersection and overlapping of various flavours from the same. Every dish, cooked by a cook, he showed me, has a number of strata of flavours. They should all be preserved in their correct order and gradation, or it is chaos. From his airy post by the chimney-stack he could intercept each fold as it rippled up.

Not for himself, whom Nature, assisted at a bygone genealogical stage by the Grand Council, had sufficiently provided, but for the benefit of destitute tasting cooks, he had devised

a very ingenious smell-gauge. The ozometer recorded every undulation of scent as it ascended. He would call down the chimney—a special one, not the cooking chimney, for fear of disturbing the flavours-and direct the preparation of a little kickshaw. As it was being dressed, I could observe the ozometer colouring as expressively as the blush in a maiden's cheek at her first proposal. One morning, when I happened to be up there with him, he wrote, in fun, a polite note to the chef-a full taster-at the Junior Lucullus Club, next door, to say he was out of sorts. He should be greatly complimented if his brother in art would stimulate a sick man's appetite by one of his delicious entremets. The rival chef accepted the little joke as serious, granted the request with effusion, and came to dress a masterpiece. With good-humoured malice my companion, seated with me aloft, pointed out the revelations of the gauge. At last he became frightened for his chimney. " T shall never get the flue clean," he cried, as he removed the instrument from the cowl. It was all muddy and streaky, with an utter discord of flavours fighting and embroiled. The finished

dainty was brought to us. I just tasted, and perhaps, if I had not witnessed the evidence to the contrary, might have been pleased. As it was, I knew better, and was disgusted. My friend did not need to taste. Indeed, he could not. He smelt very reluctantly, and tossed half to a hungry dog in the back yard. The rest he sent down with his grateful compliments to the glorious and esteemed chef, who, he hoped, would enjoy it as much as he had. "His poor œsophagus !"—for he is a man of education he sighed ; "but," meditatively, "that is used to it."

I may have somewhat enlarged on the success of the discovered substitute for taste; but I feel that a little prolixity on such a topic needs no apology. When it is considered that most cooks have physical taste, and how they use it, everybody will allow that the Council of Thirty is well advised in concluding that the sense is a calamity, and had better, for that profession at any rate, be suppressed.

I have heard patriotic Sodalitians boast that their wise Councillors have devised how to improve away even the recognized animal

appliances for locomotion without detriment to the exertion of the locomotive faculty. I am somewhat inclined to question their title to the particular triumph. Local men of science, I have understood, believe, indeed, they are on the track of learning how to insert electrical springs in the small of the back, thus enabling that part of the person to do double duty. They are alleged to have gone so far as to petition the Grand Council for authority to amputate a few score legs, in order to secure for the experiment the indispensable basis of a felt privation. But I do not know this of my own knowledge. The substitute for the usual limbs which I saw actually in use was not very different from that familiar among ourselves. When a Sodalitian has lost the physical power, or mental energy. for visiting interesting scenes on his feet, he visits them after the fashion of many Englishmen. That is, he simply says he has been there. For practical purposes the substitute is amply sufficient. That, however, as I remarked to a Sodalitian, is not to adopt a co-ordinate sense in the place of its lost peer. It is to enlist a superior gift, that of fancy, in place of an inferior,

legs and feet, which can hardly claim the dignity even of a sense.

Still, it seems hypercritical to point out flaws and failures when so much has been accomplished. Sodor science has succeeded in demonstrating that the senses are not several, but one in their source, and in their essential working. They are, in their diversity, convenient equivalents for the attainment of the same end, the establishment of communication between mind and the external world, which is represented by other human minds. When by an accident all five senses are not prepared to perform the duty, four have to do the whole. Conceivably the task might be thrown upon three, two, or one. Thus, in case of necessity, taste might bear the load alone. In accomplished elderly gourmands it frequently does. A world is easily to be imagined in which the entire race would be possessed of a single sense, and go on about as satisfactorily as existing humanity with five. For the purpose, all which is required is that none should have more senses than the rest. As soon as individuals have a plurality, they start a public opinion

that any with fewer than themselves are cripples.

Probably, if a whole people existed with less than five senses, it would arrange to put down insolent reduplicating monstrosities, for the comfort, ease, quiet, and contentment of the majority. In Sodor itself that consummation has not been reached, from some little defectiveness of public spirit in the masses. They are not ready in their thousands to let themselves and their issue. for a trifle of a few scores of centuries, be curtailed of one or more of their senses, which have been proved by irrefutable precedents to be virtually superfluous. Doubtless they would consent if they had the prospect themselves of enjoying the resulting simplicity of physiological structure. They are not equal to the self-denial of going blind, deaf, halt, dumb, or tasteless, that their rather remote descendants may be released from the yoke of carting about a quantity of mere encumbrances. Hitherto. therefore, the Thirty have had reluctantly to confine the learned societies to a limited number of subjects to illustrate the adequacy of four or three senses in the place of five. How even

this regulated supply is in the first instance obtained I could not learn. Apparently some gentle compulsion is practised. At all events, after a sufficient number of generations, Nature gracefully resigns herself to the requirements of philosophy. The progeny of successive witnesses to an heroic theory are born such as their forefathers were made, and, in addition, with the appropriate instincts to compensate excisions.

Experiments like those here described are not the only specimens—far from it—of the working of an enlightened autocracy in the Sodor archipelago. But they suffice to indicate the success of pure science collaborating with an iron will in pruning the extravagant luxuriance of uninstructed Nature.

A BALANCE OF TEMPER

.

•

.

.

• .

.

A BALANCE OF TEMPER

THE Arawakas are an Indian tribe settled in the depths of the forests of Guiana, which only within the past half-century accepted Christian civilization. By some mistake along with it they adopted a very curious institution, which may probably be taken as evidence that they retain a considerable element of original barbarism.

Naturally they are a hot-tempered race. An Arawaka flames up on the smallest provocation. He explodes if a cabman ask him a sixpence too much, if the moral of a play be not to his liking, if a fellow-guest at a dinner-party express political opinions opposed to his. Never was there a more peppery people, regarded individually. A word, or a look, acts as a spark ignited in a powder magazine. Any one among

them is constantly ready to suspect his neighbours of evil practices, and of the most shameless malevolence. Perhaps it may be supposed that this is what I mean by my reference to the partial character of their Christian culture. Nothing of the kind. Every Christian population manifests the same propensity, without detraction from the highest scale in the ranks of humanity. At all events, among the Arawakas there is an equivalent reserve of coolness, which ought to be counted in their favour. The moment one tindery temper in their midst begins to flame, the rest of the mass goes down to zero. In precise relation to the quantity of individual passionateness is the common fund of deliberate and chill reasonableness.

In fact, Arawakas, while they personally are addicted to fits of fury, collectively are peculiarly calm. No nation is more averse from noise and discord. All who happen not at the moment to have been put out are terribly afflicted at the spectacle of ungoverned wrath. It is a misery to third parties to be anywhere in the neighbourhood of such a scene. Till a few years back they endured the torture; and then they

found a way of escape. A sage among them made the great discovery of a Balance of Temper. He noticed that, as I have mentioned, one Arawaka in a passion means a score or a hundred in serene equability. Accordingly, he used the excess to qualify the surplus.

He proceeded by a measure which had the effect of hotchpot. As he could not extract anger and placidity, and pound them together, he mixed up the human subjects of the several emotions in active life. By a statute which he persuaded the Arawaka legislature to pass, he had it declared lawful and compulsory for all in a condition of placidity to interfere for the restoration of tranquillity among the explosives. Formerly they had looked on, uncomfortable but passive, while a tempest raged in a friend's or neighbour's breast. Henceforth it became incumbent upon all the sane to bring buckets and drown the conflagration.

In fully civilized countries, whenever a storm blows up, the undisturbed majority forms a ring within which the effervescence enjoys entire liberty. Arawakas in similar circumstances consider it their primary duty to smother it. They effect the end they desire with a scandalous disregard for natural equity. Persons who fly into a passion properly should suffer the consequences. They have no right to be immoderately infuriate without bearing the penalty, whatever it may be. Let them commit assault and battery, because they have been treated with injustice, and be condemned at Bow Street to pay forty shillings, or a month. It is highly moral; and they will have an opportunity at Holloway of learning a lesson of self-restraint. If they become more rancorous than ever, it is their own fault, and they may probably have fresh occasions for feeling their folly.

Under the Arawaka ordinance nothing of the sort happens. The crowd springs out of the earth, just as in a truly Christian land, at the first sound of strife. Instead, however, of fomenting the discord by its sympathetic and stimulating attitude, down it pounces upon the combatants. It commences by separating them with gentle violence, and then it catechizes each on the source of the outbreak. By the law, it is straightway answerable for a pacification on whatever terms. Usually both sides are in the

wrong, and ought to be exemplarily cuffed for flying out about nothing. The duty, nevertheless, of the bystanders is to make each regard himself as in the right, and as left in possession of the field. The struggle may be over an extra penny for an omnibus fare, or the title to a free fishery worth a couple of thousand pounds. The passenger has to be permitted to think he has resisted an unjust demand, and the conductor rides off triumphantly brandishing his penny. Similarly, the riparian owner is persuaded to take out of the rates the price of his alleged franchise, while the champions of popular privileges remain free to catch their gudgeons and sticklebacks.

The one unscrupulous resolve of the Arawakas is that on no account will they have brawling, and the sense of injury, which is like the letting out of water. They treat dissension, which is an individual and occasional evil, as a fire, or an accident, or death; and they have constituted themselves a vast insurance society for the grant of compensation. Without the least care for ethics, they do not pause to examine whether the sufferer be not the victim, as commonly,

of his blunders or intemperateness. Selfishly they regard solely their own nerves, and they insist upon sparing them the smallest jar. I wish I could affirm, from my repeated inquiries on the spot, that the moral order of the universe avenges itself for the audacious contempt of its rules. Individual peacemakers, and the State. ought to be seen to be subjects of organized and impudent pillage. A system of conspiracy should be found to exist for the extortion from the public of a solatium for unreal grievances. Tempers, so profitably soothed, should betray an unlimited and universal propensity to inflammability. On the contrary, statistics show a constant and steady decrease in the demands upon the funds, private and public, for the assuggement of choler since the statute in question was enacted.

The object of the legislation had nothing to do with the cure of passionateness and vindictiveness. The Arawaka community chiefly loves ease. It has accustomed itself to treat gusts of anger as necessities of humanity which are certain to arise, and must be pampered into repose, not stifled. I know no population less

imaginative, less prone to look ahead, or more given to consultation of its own temporary comfort. Yet, very curiously, its cold-blooded dilution of individual blasts of heat with the prevailing cool seems to be having the effect of reducing the average temperature all round.

I have myself observed a husband and wife manifesting every symptom of a tremendous altercation, when an acquaintance has chanced to be announced. He would have had a disagreeable time of it in persuading the disputatious pair that one or the other was outrageously in the wrong. He might even have had to divert the lightning from his own head by inviting the couple to a little fish dinner at Aromaia, or by buying a box of caramels for the children. His presence might have been thought a premium upon the continuance of the contest rather than a motive for its abatement. But with the ring of the obligatory peacemaker's bell faces have softened, and at the sound of the peacemaker's voice in the hall the combatants have regarded • one another as lovers.

That, I understand from the records of the Arawaka Charity Organization Society, which bears little affinity to its namesake in the Adelphi, is the general experience; and I hardly know whether to rejoice or to mourn over the phenomenon. I presume the truth is that barbarians, even though so pleasantly behaved as the Arawakas, retain certain savage instincts, and would rather dispense with their anger altogether than in the long run endure to be bribed and coaxed into parting with it.

EXCHANGE NO ROBBERY

.

EXCHANGE NO ROBBERY

I was reading the other day, in the new and revised edition of Hakluyt-Browne, an account of the manners and customs of Griqualand, which interested me extremely.

Everybody knows how very ill people do their own work. A congregation sits under a minister, and, when it attends to his admonitions, is astonished at their exceeding irrelevancy. As Robinson, the draper, is aware, the preacher might have chosen a text exactly adapted to pinch the corn of Weybridge, the grocer, and has absurdly neglected the opportunity. A client who has lost his action, in which right, if only rightly set forth, was transparently on his side, is painfully conscious of the failure of Nappy, Q.C., to take the proper tack. Parochial officials notoriously neglect their duty. A butcher does not cut his joints with understanding or justice. A noble and learned lord has shown over and over again how, to call in either an architect, or a physician, is to ensure the rottenness and ugliness of buildings, and the decrepitude of patients. Every mistress can see the incompetence of the modern housemaid to sweep a room. There is not a critic, who, to the manifest assurance of experts, like the writers of books, and the painters of pictures, has the least perception of the elementary conditions of literary and pictorial art.

Everything is everywhere, and flagrantly, out of gear, from the gross ignorance of the persons whose duty it is to perform special functions. So it is in England. So it was in Griqualand. At last, however, the Griquas, a woolly but intelligent race, and not half so patient as Englishmen, resolved to apply a drastic regimen to an acknowledged evil. They met in council at the royal kraal, with the medicine men, missionaries, travellers in schnapps, Bibles, and rifles, British South African Company's pioneers, and others, in attendance. After much discussion the assembly arrived

at several unanimous conclusions. It was agreed, firstly, that all who have work to do do it badly; secondly, that the work nevertheless has to be done; and, thirdly, that the remedy is to appoint everybody to conduct everybody else's business.

Not merely was the final resolution embodied in a law, with the consent of king, chiefs, distillers, and the Paramount Imperial and Royal Power, but it positively was carried forthwith into effect. The system was established, which now regulates affairs in Griqualand. To it the perfection with which the Grigua administration confessedly is conducted, doubtless is attributable.

This is the way in which things are managed. Every Griqua chooses, or has chosen for him, his vocation, as in Europe. As in Europe, he goes through the ordinary apprenticeship or other training. Indeed, I gather that more than European vigilance is exerted for the purpose of securing that he shall learn and be able to apply his knowledge. Clergymen are taught the signs by which a heretic may be scented, or, if more expedient, let alone. The intending lawyer is made to bristle with

special pleas and demurrers. The grocer is instructed as to the exact proportion of chicory requisite for olfactory demonstration to his customers, if not to the sanitary inspector, that the coffee is pure Mocha. The banker is nursed on the principles of political economy and the theory of exchanges. The laundress goes through half a dozen years of soapsuds without soda. The medical student must, for his diploma, produce proof of presence beside fifty hospital death-beds. In short, the curriculum in all respects, I understand, is most carefully arranged, and as sedulously followed. Then, when all are launched on their respective callings, it is strictly provided that none shall actually pursue any one of them.

That is to say, everybody does something, and most energetically—only, as it happens, the work is ostensibly his neighbour's, and not his own. A volume appears with the name of J. Ellis on the title-page. It is reviewed by a writer with the name, published or not, of W. Willis. The fact is that the book is by Willis, and the notice by Ellis. Occasionally the inversion of parts is both simpler and more

EXCHANGE NO ROBBERY.

collective. Thus, in a campaign, though the army is mustered for an invasion of the enemy's territory, it is the sailors who march. When a naval demonstration is ordered, the troops embark, and send the hostile fleet to the Each force, acting on a strange bottom. element, settles the matter with as much gaiety as if a game were being played. When a Griqua lady goes to market with her cook and housekeeper, it must be especially amusing to watch the proceedings. The market women, without hesitation, tell Madam what she wants; the cook prices the goods; and Madam pockets the usual commission. Nothing, I am assured, could be more satisfactory. There is no squabbling over figures; and it is Griqua wives, not husbands, who quarrel with their dinners, unless poor male human nature mix up temper and indigestion with the sauces.

The settlement is so ingenious and methodical that, it seems, a stranger would hardly detect the transposition of characters. A clergyman ascends the pulpit in the robes and hood of his profession and degree. There is no deception. He is the Rev. Charles Snellpost, as described

in the announcement of the charity sermon on the church doors. Even the handwriting of the discourse may be his own. All its topics, objects, and ideas have been contributed by a select committee of his hearers. Consequently they are much more to the point, and profitably personal, than had they been authentically the preacher's. In such an instance the substitution obviously is easy, and operates automatically. It is, however, really no less simple when a First Lord, who has had to be hoisted on board his flagship like a bale of cotton, takes the command of the Suaheli Squadron, and bursts the boom across the strait of Bab-el-Mandeb. Tt. works even yet more smoothly when an actor lectures Shakespeare on what he meant by Macbeth, or ought to have meant.

The exceptional dexterity of the Griquas is shown by the ease with which a man will adopt, not merely one but an entire series of characters for which he was not originally cast. In Hakluyt-Browne, Huntingdon-Jones, the South African traveller, in a note, describes a scene at which he was present in the Griqua Bail Court. A cause célèbre was being heard, in which the

public was concerned, on the score of morality, even more than the parties. Consequently the gallery was crowded. He says the laymen and laywomen aloft were by turns judge, jury, witnesses, counsel, and attorneys. The effect upon himself, the single neutral spectator, was extremely odd, on account of the unusual positions in which the performers sat, and also from the continual interchange of duties. Otherwise, the alien functions were discharged so naturally, and shifted with such versatility, that, he writes, unless he had been certified of the facts by One who Knew, he should have supposed the instructions to counsel, the arguments, the evidence, the verdict, the judgment, and the applause, promptly suppressed, from the bench, had all proceeded from the orthodox sources.

A little courage may have been needed to decide upon such a revolution. In its success there is nothing very surprising. Obviously, as a leading Griqua journalist remarked to Huntingdon-Jones, it is ridiculous not to commit the management of business to the people immediately interested in the results. For example, as between the clergyman and his congregation, lawyer and client, doctor and invalid, clearly the second member of each pair is better informed of the circumstances and requirements, is more nearly concerned in the efficacy of the treatment, and, therefore, should be more competent to apply it, than the first. Apparently, as I must confess, the same principle ought to apply to the prerogative of trying and sentencing, as between magistrate and prisoner. I do not observe in Hakluyt-Browne that the Griquas have gone as yet to this logical length. But, in general, there can be no doubt. Take, for instance, the common instance of vendor and purchaser. Is it not self-evident that the former best understands his goods, and the latter the state of his purse-that, consequently, the vendor should select, and the purchaser should regulate the cost?

All honour to the Griquas for having discovered this master secret of the way to obtain from men honest and zealous work! Yet, of course, such is human envy, the novelty of the institution has been questioned. Everybody knows Willson-Tucker. I was dilating to him at the club on the marvellous merits of the

Griqua system, when he rudely declared that Huntingdon-Jones need never have stirred a step from Bloomsbury if he had nothing fresher and better to see and describe. According to Tucker, the usage of attempting to do other people's business has been understood in England for centuries, and is at the root of all bad British work. On reflection, I may not be entirely sure that he is wrong about the presence of a germ, at least, of the institution, and about some results of its operation, in the United Kingdom. The more credit, therefore, say I, to Griqualand, where, if Huntingdon-Jones be right, it works admirably.

. . • . .

HOLLOW

•

.

. , . •

HOLLOW

MR. JOHN GRISLER is a gentleman of means, who at one time lived in a handsome villa outside Chipping Camden. He is also a student of human nature, and, when he was already middle-aged, he made an interesting discovery.

I knew him first in London, where he is passing the later years of his patriarchal life, having found that the air of Chipping Camden disagreed with him. You seldom meet a more agreeable companion than John Grisler. He takes things so easily, and things take him so easily. It is not that his path has been invariably smooth. He has buried three wives, each a treasure of conjugal devotion, as I have heard from himself, none too easy a critic. By each he had children, as well as a fortune. The

money, though in strict settlement, somehow made itself wings. So did the children. They have not all died. A few have, and, I am afraid, in rather sad circumstances. Mv heart aches for poor Mr. Grisler, as I think of one case. A daughter had married without his consent. Her share of her mother's property was, therefore, not available for her use. Her father, a good judge of the selfishness of husbands, would not allow the rash young couple to touch a penny. She had children; and her husband, who had the repute of an amiable, honourable gentleman, was a briefless barrister. They sank deeper and deeper into poverty, and she, from privations, at last into a decline. On her death-bed she sent entreating her father to come. He came, and she prayed him to take charge of her babies, if not of her almost equally helpless husband. But he is a man of principle, and refused, I have no doubt with agony. He has kept his word.

His sons quitted him too. By the time our acquaintance commenced he was perfectly lonely, yet not unhappy. We see much of one another at a club, a rather lively one for a person of his HOLLOW.

age and sorrows. By accident the name of Chipping Camden was once mentioned. I had recently spent a day there, and was enthusiastic about the place. He was also, to a certain point. He joined with me in my admiration of the noble Minster, its Saxdale Chantry, and the stupendous tower. He sighed regretfully as I spoke of the picturesque open market, the best in the kingdom for ducklings. He admitted that no provincial museum contains a finer collection of ichthyosauri. When I carried on my eulogium to the manners of the residents, which had seemed to me indicative of sweet dispositions, he stopped me mournfully. I then learnt that he was a Chipping Camdener himself, and had occupied Verbena Villa in the suburbs for thirty years. His three wives, who lie in the churchyard, were Chipping Camdeners too; and several of his children are still settled in the immediate neighbourhood.

I remarked that probably then he often visited the town. "No," he said, with a benevolent sigh, "I never go; I cannot bear it." I refrained from further inquiries. Plainly a tender nature must have suffered cruelly from the loss of his excellent wives, and from the undutiful behaviour of his sons. But a subject once started will not let itself drop; and that was the case with Chipping Camden. As we smoked, he recurred to it rather abruptly. "Well, my dear young friend," said he, "the fact is, I made a discovery which took the flavour out of Chipping Camden." I expressed all proper curiosity, and he told me what it was.

In fairy mythology descriptions are given of fascinating elf-women with hollow backs. They are charming to look at. They sing like angels. They dance like gossamer balls. They are all that is fatally bewitching. But there is nothing inside. They are only fronts, like dickies. That was precisely what Mr. John Grisler had ascertained the inhabitants of Chipping Camden to be, all except himself. He did not mean it literally. They had shoulderblades, and flesh upon them. They dressed in broadcloth and silk, which would not have vielded beyond the nap to the finger. They never betrayed to the senses their peculiarity and deficiencies. Still, there the want was, and Mr. Grisler detected it. He had long

HOLLOW.

suspected something out of the common, or, at all events, unlike the common make. By a series of skilful, painstaking experiments he got at the full and melancholy truth.

Yes; it must have been melancholy to learn that his neighbours were all nothing but animated pictures, or plaster figures economically moulded and cast with a view just to presenting a decent front. At the same time, he confessed that with the sorrow something of relief was mingled. "You see," he said, mournfully and profoundly, but with the becoming composure of a man of high moral courage, "when you are thoroughly convinced that there really is nothing inside, that your neighbours simply are nicely shaded, well springed and oiled, and respectably clothed automata, it is surprising how easy it is to deal with affairs. A highprincipled man, such as I have humbly tried to train myself to be, is much more unembarrassedly, if I may coin a word, high principled when he has to think of himself and his own standard of right and wrong alone. He can pursue his object of carrying out his own ideas of the True, the Beautiful, the Delightful, so much more directly when he knows he is free from the vexatious obligation to consider whether other people's rights stand in the way of his appropriation of the necessary material means for his generous aims."

He proceeded to give me a number of autobiographical illustrations of his meaning. Outside his villa, for example, was a meadow belonging to a tradesman in the town. For the health and amenity of Chipping Camden it was very important that it should be kept an open space. As the property of a man in business, not rich, and liable to the temptations offered by jerry-builders, it was in perpetual danger of bricks and mortar. The one chance of its preservation was to throw it into the grounds of the contiguous Verbena Villa. Mr. Grisler amused me much by explaining how, eventually, he succeeded. His plan was to encourage the establishment of a rival shop. In the end the consequence was the ruin of both; and he triumphantly purchased the field cheap at an auction ordered by the Bankruptcy Court. As he observed, he could not, with a comfortable conscience, have carried into effect his little

HOLLOW.

scheme, unless he had first satisfied himself that the honest grocer and his enterprising competitor were but cleverly contrived outsides.

That is a single specimen. He acknowledged his own amazement at the universal operativeness in a practical way of the discovery. Every act of life was given through it a pleasant little obliquity. One who has only his own true-remember, his true-interests to consult, and his duty to himself, together with the eternal verities therein involved, finds that they are incessantly clamorous and importunate. The whole activity of his friends, fellows, foes, is scarcely enough to minister to his virtuous cravings. When all is seen converging to a self, as the sole reality with an inside, and with a solid presentable back, to it, that centre swells, hardens, and waxes into ideally noble and luxuriant proportions. A personality cribbed and cabined on all sides by a pervading sense of a heap of equal personalities cannot develop as it otherwise might. That was not Mr. John Grisler's case at Chipping Camden; and he seems to have used his opportunities with a

clear perception of all the duties they imposed upon him.

But, he admitted to me, it was hard and. ultimately, ungrateful work. Endowed yourself with full animation, an all-round figure, with the proper complement of bowels, you pine at last in the constant company of bloodless shadows, as you know all else to be. You grow impatient also at the absurd pretence they will from time to time set up of having individual insides of their own. They grimace, and protest, and are spiteful at being put to the service of a positively existing fact, like yourself, as if they were somebodies, when you know, and know they know that you know, what counterfeits they are. It was as bad, he grieved to say, with his sons, who were shams too, like other Chipping Camdeners, and with his married daughter, a sham also. The only two realities beside himself in the parish were two other daughters. They were excellent girls who devoted themselves to their father, when they might have acted as the independent entities they happened to be. Only, unluckily, they both died a little over twenty, and he was left alone among shadows.

HOLLOW.

In the circumstances, being at liberty to live where and how he pleased, with no estate, only a competent Government annuity, and no dependents who were not hollow-backed, and with a perfect conscience and digestion, he had quitted Chipping Camden for ever. For the rest of his days he intended to stay in London. That is to say, he should, if he found men or things amenable to the requirements of his inner development. I asked if Londoners had more of insides than Chipping Camdeners. He answered that at first he hoped they had. Unluckily, the experience of transactions with them showed they were equally hollow. At all events, they were, I trusted, amiable and complaisant automata. "So so," he replied. "But, happily, I am not exacting."

Of course, I did not believe all his talk, though I did not tell him as much. But I have seen a good deal of him since, and have watched his conduct to others. It is much what I suppose it was during his residence at Chipping Camden. From it I think I can gather why he grew tired of the place and of his neighbours there. Anybody with a vigorous sense of the unsubstantiality of shadows is apt to treat them as such. After a time they begin to be angry that they have been found out. Mr. Grisler meets a number of outsides at our club itself. He frankly treats them as what they are; and I notice that they do not like it.

I might not like it myself, if I were a mere outside. Mr. Grisler, however, compliments me upon being all-round. I dare say I am; for I have discovered that most of my neighbours, like his, are hollow. That is an infallible sign, he assures me, that a man's self is solid.

THE END.

PRINTED BY WILLIAM CLOWES AND SONS, LIMITED, LONDON AND BECCLES.

MESSRS. LONGMANS, GREEN, & CO.'S CLASSIFIED CATALOGUE

01

WORKS IN GENERAL LITERATURE.

History, Politics, Polity, Political Memoirs, &c.

- EVELYN ABBOTT, M.A., LL.D. Part I .- From the Earliest Times to the Ionian Revolt. Crown 8vo., 10s. 6d. Part II.-- 500-445 B.C. Cr. 8vo., 105. 6d.
- Acland and Ransome .-- A HAND-BOOK IN OUTLINE OF THE POLITICAL HISTORY OF ENGLAND TO 1896. Chro-nologically Arranged. By A. H. DYKE ACLAND, M.P., and CYRIL RANSOME, M.A. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- ANNUAL REGISTER (THE). A Review of Public Events at Home and Abroad, for the year 1897. 8vo., 18s.
 - Volumes of the ANNUAL REGISTER for the years 1863-1896 can still be had. 18s. each.
- Amos.-PRIMER OF THE ENGLISH CONSTITUTION AND GOVERNMENT. By SHELDON AMOS, M.A. Cr. 8vo., 6s.
- Arnold. INTRODUCTORY LECTURES ON MODERN HISTORY. By THOMAS ARNOLD, D.D., formerly Head Master of Rugby School. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Baden-Powell-THE INDIAN Examined VILLAGE COMMUNITY. with Reference to the Physical. Ethnographic, and Historical Conditions of the Provinces; chiefly on the Basis of the Revenue-Settlement Records and District Manuals. By B. H. BADEN-POWELL, M.A., C.I.E. With Map. 8vo., 16s.
- Bagwell-IRELAND UNDER THE TUDORS. By RICHARD BAGWELL, LL.D. (3 vols). Vols. I. and II. From the first Invasion of the Northmen to the year 1578. 8vo., 32s. Vol. III. 1578-1603. 800., 181.
- Ball.-HISTORICAL REVIEW OF THE LEGISLATIVE SYSTEMS OPERATIVE IN IRELAND, from the Invasion of Henry the Second to the Union (1172-1800). By the Rt. Hon. J. T. BALL. 8vo., 6s.
- Besant .--- THE HISTORY OF LONDON. By Sir WALTER BESANT. With 74 bound as a School Prize Book, as. 6d.

- Abbott.--A HISTORY OF GREECE. BY Brassey (LORD).--PAPERS AND AD-DRESSES.
 - NAVAL AND MARITIME, 1872-1893. 2 vols. Crown 8vo., 105.
 - MERCANTILE MARINE AND NAVIGA-TION, from 1871-1894. Cr. 8vo., 5s. IMPERIAL FEDERATION AND COLONI-
 - SATION FROM 1880-1804. Crown 8vo., 5s.
 - POLITICAL AND MISCELLANEOUS, 1861-1894. Crown 8vo., 5s.
 - Bright .-- A HISTORY OF ENGLAND. By the Rev. J. FRANCE BRIGHT, D.D.
 - Period I. MEDIÆVAL MONARCHY:
 - A.D. 449-1485. Crown 8vo., 4s. 6d. Period 11. PERSONAL MONARCHY: 1485-1688. Crown 8vo., 5s. Period III. CONSTITUTIONAL MON-
 - ARCHY: 1689-1837. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d. Period IV. THE GROWTH OF DEMO-CRACY: 1837-1880. Crown 8vo., 6s.
 - Buckle,-HISTORY OF CIVILISATION IN ENGLAND. By HENRY THOMAS BUCKLE. 3 vols. Crown 8vo., 241.
 - Burke.-- A HISTORY OF SPAIN, from the Earliest Times to the Death of Ferdinand the Catholic. By ULICE RALPH BURKE, M.A. 2 vols. 8vo., 32s.
 - Chesney .-- INDIAN POLITY: a View of the System of Administration in India. By General Sir GEORGE CHESNEY, K.C.B. With Map showing all the Administrative Divisions of British India. 8vo., 215.
 - Corbett .-- DRAKE AND THE TUDOR NAVY, with a History of the Rise of England as a Maritime Power. By JULIAN S. CORBETT. With Portrait, Illustrations and Maps. 2 vols. 8vo., 36s.
 - Creighton .-- A HISTORY OF THE PA-PACY FROM THE GREAT SCHISM TO THE SACK OF ROME (1378-1527). By M. CREIGHTON, D.D., Lord Bishop of London. 6 vols. Cr. 8vo., 6s. each
 - Cuningham .--- A SCHEME FOR IM-PERIAL FEDERATION : a Senate for the Empire. By GRANVILLEC. CUNINGHAM of Montreal, Canada. Cr. 8vo., 3s 6d.

MANUFACTOR I STATIST ----

History Politics, Polity, Political Memoirs, &c .- continued.

Macaulay (LORD). - continued.

ESSAYS which may be had separately, price 6d. each sewed, 1s, each cloth. Addison and Wal- (Ranke and Glad-	
pole.	stone.
Johnson.	Milton and Machia- velli.
Hallam's Constitu-	Lord Byron.
tional History.	Lord Clive.
Warren Hastings.	Lord Byron,and The
The Earl of Chat-	Comic Dramatists
ham(Two Essays).	of the Restoration.
Frederick the Great.	

MISCELLANEOUS WRITINGS.

- People's Edition. 1 vol. Cr. 8vo., 4s. 6d. Library Edition. 2 vols. 8vo., 21s.
- Liorary Eatlion. 2 vols. 8vo., 21. Popular Edition. Cr. 8vo., 2s. 6d. Cabinet Edition. Including Indian Penal Code, Lays of Ancient Rome, and Miscellancous Poems. 4 vols. Post 8vo., 245.
- SELECTIONS FROM THE WRITINGS OF LORD MACAULAY Edited, with Occasional Notes, by the Right Hon. Sir G.O. Trevelyan, Bart. Cr. 8vo., 6r.
- MacColl. THE SULTAN AND THE POWERS. By the Rev. MALCOLM MAC-Coll, M.A., Canon of Ripon. 8vo., Ios. 6d.
- Mackinnon. THE UNION OF ENG-LAND AND SCOTLAND a Study of International History. By JAMES MAC-KINNON, Ph.D. Examiner in History to the University of Edinburgh. 8vo., 16.
- May.—The Constitutional History of England since the Accession of George III. 1760-1870. By Sir Thomas ERSKINE MAY, K.C.B. (Lord Farnborough). 3 vols. Crown 8vo., 18.

Merivale (THE LATE DEAN).

- HISTORY OF THE ROMANS UNDER THE EMPIRE. 8 vols. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d. each.
- THE FALL OF THE ROMAN REPUBLIC: a Short History of the Last Century of the Commonwealth. 12mo., 75. 6d.
- GENERAL HISTORY OF ROME, from the Foundation of the City to the Fall of Augustulus, B.C. 753-A.D. 476. With 5 Maps. Crown 8vo., 71. 6d.

- Montague.-THE ELEMENTS OF ENG-LISH CONSTITUTIONAL HISTORY. By F.C. MONTAGUE, M.A. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Richman.—APPENZELL: Pure Democracy and Pastoral Life in Inner-Rhoden. A Swiss Study. By IRVING B. RICHMAN, Consul-General of the United States to Switzerland. With Maps. Crown 8vo., 5t.

Seebohm (FREDERIC).

- THE ENGLISH VILLAGE COMMUNITY Examined in its Relations to the Manorial and Tribal Systems, &c. With 13 Maps and Plates. 8vo., 16r.
- THE TRIBAL SYSTEM IN WALES being Part of an Inquiry into the Structure and Methods of Tribal Society. With 3 Maps. 8vo., 123.
- Sharpe.—LONDON AND THE KINGDOM: a History derived mainly from the Archives at Guildhall in the cutstody of the Corporation of the City of London. By REGINALD R. SHARPE, D. C. L., Records Clerk in the Office of the Town Clerk of the City of London. 3 vols. 8vo., 10. 6d. each.
- Smith.—CARTHAGE AND THE CARTHA-GINIANS. By R. BOSWORTH SMITH, M.A., With Maps, Plans, &c. Cr. 8vo., 32. 6d.
- Stephens.—A HISTORY OF THE FRENCH REVOLUTION. By H. MORSE STEPHENS, 8vo. Vols. I. and II., 18r. each.
- Stubbs.—HISTORY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF DUBLIN, from its Foundation to the End of the Eighteenth Century. By J. W. STUBBS, 8vo., 125, 6d.
- Suther and.—The History of Australia and New Zealand, from 1606-1800. By Alexander Suther-LAND, M.A., and GEOGE SUTHER-LAND, M.A. Crown 8vo. 21. 6d.
- Taylor.—A STUDENT'S MANUAL OF THE HISTORY OF INDIA. By Colonel MEADOWS TAYLOR, C.S.I., &c. Cr. 8vo., yr. 6d.
- Todd.—PARLIAMENTARY GOVERNMENT IN THE BRITISH COLONIES. BY ALPHEUS TODD, LL.D. 8vo., 3os. net.

4

History, Politics, Polity, Political Memoirs, &c.-...continued.

- Wakeman and Hassall.-Essays INTRODUCTORY TO THE STUDY OF ENGLISH CONSTITUTIONAL HISTORY. By Resident Members of the University of Oxford. Edited by HENRY OFFLEY WAKEMAN, M.A., and ARTHUR HAS-SALL, M.A. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Walpole.—HISTORY OF ENGLAND FROM THE CONCLUSION OF THE GREAT WAR IN 1815 TO 1858. By SPENCER WALPOLE. 6 vols. Crown 8vo., 6s. each.
- Wood-Martin.-PAGAN IRELAND: an Archæological Sketch. A Handbook of Irish Pre-Christian Antiquities. By W. G. WOOD-MARTIN, M.R.I.A. With 512 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 151.
- Wylie.-HISTORY OF ENGLAND UNDER HENRY IV. By JAMES HAMILTON WYLIE, M.A., one of H.M. Inspectors of Schools. 4 vols. Crown 8vo. Vol. I., 1399-1404, 105. 6d. Vol. II. 155. Vol. III. 155. Vol. IV. 215.

Biography, Personal Memoirs, &c.

- Armstrong .-- THE LIFE AND LETTERS OF EDMUND J. ARMSTRONG. Edited by G. F. SAVAGE ARMSTRONG. Fcp. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Bacon .- THE LETTERS AND LIFE OF FRANCIS BACON, INCLUDING ALL HIS OCCASIONAL WORKS. Edited by JAMES SPEDDING. 7 vols. 8vo., £4 4s.
- **Bagehot.** -- BIOGRAPHICAL STUDIES. By WALTER BAGEHOT. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Blackwell.-PIONEER WORK IN OPEN-ING THE MEDICAL PROFESSION TO WOMEN: Autobiographical Sketches. By Dr. ELIZABETH BLACKWELL, Cr. 8vo., 6s.
- Buss.-FRANCES MARY BUSS AND HER WORK FOR EDUCATION. By ANNIE E. RIDLEY. With 5 Portraits and 4 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Carlyle.—THOMASCARLYLE: a History of his Life. By JAMES ANTHONY FROUDE. 1795-1835. 2 vols. Crown 8vo., 7s. 1834-1881. 2 vols. Crown 8vo., 7s.
- Digby .-- THE LIFE OF SIR KENELM DIGBY, by one of his Descendants, the Author of 'The Life of a Conspirator,' 'A Life of Archbishop Laud,' etc. With 7 Illustrations. 8vo., 16s.
- Duncan.-ADMIRAL DUNCAN. By the EARL OF CAMPERDOWN. With 3 Portraits. 8vo., 16s.
- Erasmus.— Life and Letters of Erasmus. By James Anthony Froude. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- FALKLANDS. By the Author of 'The Life of Sir Kenelm Digby,' 'The Life of a Prig,' etc. With Portraits and other Illustrations. 8vo., 10s. 6d.

- Faraday. FARADAY AS A DIS-By JOHN TYNDALL. Cr. COVERER. 8vo., 3r. 6d.
- FOREIGN COURTS AND FOREIGN HOMES. By A. M. F. Crown 8vo., 75. 6d.
- Fox.-The Barly History of Charles JAMES FOX. By the Right Hon. Sir G. O. TREVELYAN, Bart. Library Edition. 8vo., 18s. Cabinet Edition. Crown 8vo., 6s.

- Halifax .--- THE LIFE AND LETTERS OF SIR GEORGE SAVILE, BARONET, FIRST MARQUIS OF HALIFAX. With a New Edition of his Works, now for the first time collected and revised. By H. C. FOXCROFT. With 2 Portraits. 2 vols. 8vo., 36s.
- Hamilton.-LIFE OF SIR WILLIAM HAMILTON. By R. P. GRAVES. 8vo. 3vols. 15s. each. ADDENDUM. 8vo., 6d.
- Havelock.—MEMOIRS OF SIR HENRY HAVELOCK, K.C.B. By JOHN CLARK MARSHMAN. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Haweis.—My MUSICAL LIFE. By the Rev. H. R. HAWEIS. With Portrait of Richard Wagner and 3 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Holroyd.-The Girlhood of MARIA JOSEPHA HOLROYD (Lady Stanley of Recorded in Letters of a Alderly). Hundred Years Ago, from 1776-1796. Edited by J. H. ADEANE. With 6 Edited by J. H. ADEANE. Portraits. 8vo., 18s.
- Jackson .--- STONEWALL JACKSON AND THE AMERICAN CIVIL WAR. Bv Lieut.-Col. G. F. R. HENDERSON, York and Lancaster Regiment. With 2 Portraits and 33 Maps and Plans. 2 vols, 8vo., 421.

and the second second second - ----

5

Biography, Personal Memoirs, &c.--continued.

- Berthier, Davout, and Oudinot. Translated. 2 vols. 8vo., 24s.
- Luther.-LIFE OF LUTHER. By JULIUS KÖSTLIN. With Illustrations Bv from Authentic Sources. Translated from the German. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Macaulay.—THE LIFE AND LETTERS OF LORD MACAULAY. By the Right Hon. Sir G. O. TREVELYAN, Bart., M.P. Popular Edit. 1 vol. Cr. 8vo., 25.6d. Student's Edition. I vol. Cr. 8vo., 6s. Cabinet Edition, 2 vols, Post 8vo., 12s. Library Edition. 2 vols. 8vo., 36s. 'Edinburgh Edition.' 2 vols. 8vo., 6s. each.
- Marbot.-The Memoirs of the Baron
- Max Müller.-Auld Lang Syne. By the Right Hon. Professor F. MAX MÜL-LER. With Portrait. 8vo., 10s. 6d.
- Meade. GENERAL SIR RICHARD MEADE AND THE FEUDATORY STATES OF CENTRAL AND SOUTHERN INDIA : a Record of Forty-three Years' Service as Soldier, Political Officer and Administrator. By THOMAS HENRY THORNTON, C.S.I., D.C.L. With Portrait, Map and 16 Illustrations. 8vo., 105. 6d. net.
- Nansen. FRIDTJOF NANSEN, 1861-1893. By W. C. BRÖGGER and NORDAHL ROLFSEN. Translated by WILLIAM ARCHRR. With 8 Plates, 48 Illustrations in the Text, and 3 Maps. 8vo., 125. 6d.
- Newdegate. THE CHEVERELS OF CHEVEREL MANOR. By Lady NEW-DIGATE-NEWDEGATE, Author of 'Gos-sip from a Muniment Room'. With 6 Illustrations from Family Portraits. 8vo., 105. 6d.
- Place.-THE LIFE OF FRANCIS PLACE. By GRAHAM WALLAS. 8vo., 125.

- Lejeune. MEMORES OF BARON LE- Rawlinson. A MEMOR OF MAJOR-JEUNE, Alde-de-Camp to Marshals GENERAL SIE HENRY CRESWICKE GENERAL SIR HENRY CRESWICKE RAWLINSON, Bart, K.C.B. By GEO. RAWLINSON, M.A., F.R.G.S., Canon of Canterbury. With an Introduction by Field-Marshal LORD ROBERTS of Kandahar, V.C. With Map, 3 Portraits and an Illustration. 8vo., 16s.
 - Beeve .- MEMOIRS OF THE LIFE AND CORRESPONDENCE OF HENRY REEVE, C. B., D. C. L., late Editor of the 'Edin-burgh Review' and Registrar of the Privy Council. By J. KNOX LAUGH-TON, M.A. 2 vols. 8vo.
 - Romanes.-THE LIFE AND LETTERS OF GEORGE JOHN ROMANES, M.A., LL.D., F.R.S. Written and Edited by his Wife. With Portrait and 2 With Portrait and 2 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 6s.
 - DE MARBOT. Translated from the Seebohm.—The Oxford Reformers French. 2 vols. Crown 8vo., 7s. —John Colet, Erasmus and Thomas MORE : a History of their Fellow-Work. By FREDERIC SEEBOHM. 8vo., 14.
 - By FREDERIC GREDOWN OF THE Shakespeare. OUTLINES OF THE LIFE OF SHAKESPEARE. By J. O. HALLIWELL-PHILLIPPS. With Illustrations and Facsimiles. 2 vols. Royal 8vo., £1 15. Shakespeare's TRUE LIFE. By JAS.
 - WALTER. With 500 Illustrations by GERALD E. MOIRA. Imp. 8vo., 215.
 - Verney.-MEMOIRS OF THE VERNEY FAMILY.
 - Vols. I. and II. DURING THE CIVIL WAR. By FRANCES PARTHENOPE VERNEY. With 38 Portraits, Woodcuts and Facsimile. Royal 8vo., 42s.
 - Vol. III. DURING THE COMMON-WEALTH. 1650-1660 By MARGARET M. VERNEY. With 10 Portraits, &c. Royal 8vo., 215.
 - Wellington .-- LIFE OF THE DUKE OF
 - WELLINGTON. By the Rev. G. R. GLEIG, M.A. Crown 8vo., 3r. 6d. Wills.-W. G. WILLS, DRAMATIST AND PAINTER. BY FREEMAN WILLS. With Photogravure Portrait. 8vo., 101.6d.

Travel and Adventure, the Colonies, &c.

Arnold.—SEAS AND LANDS. By Sir Ball.—THE ALPINE GUIDE. By the EDWIN ARNOLD. With 71 Illustrations. | late JOHN BALL, F.R.S., &c., President Cr. 8vo., 3r. 6d.

Baker (Sir S. W.).

- EIGHT YEARS IN CEYLON. With 6 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. THE RIFLE AND THE HOUND IN CEY-LON. With 6 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 3r. 6d.
- of the Alpine Club. A New Edition, Reconstructed and Revised on behalf of the Alpine Club, by W. A. B. COOLIDGE, Vol. I. THE WESTERN ALPS. The
 - Alpine Region, South of the Rhone Valley, from the Col de Tenda to the Simplon Pass. With 9 New and Revised Maps. Crown Svo., 12. net.

Travel and Adventure, the Colonies, &c.-continued.

Bent.-THE RUINED CITIES OF MASH- Froude (JAMES A.). ONALAND: being a Record of Excavation and Exploration in 1891. By J. THEODORE BENT. With 117 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Brassey.-VOYAGES AND TRAVELS OF LORD BRASSEY, K.C.B., D.C.L., 1862-1894. Arranged and Edited by Captain S. EARDLEY-WILMOT. 2 vols. Cr. 8vo., 10J.

Brassey (The late LADY).

- A VOYAGE IN THE 'SUNBEAM'; OUR HOME ON THE OCEAN FOR ELEVEN MONTHS.

Cabinet Edition. With Map and 66 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d. Sitver Library Edition. With 66 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3t. 6d. Popular Edition. With 60 Illustra-tions. 4to., 6d. sewed, 1s. cloth. School Editions. With 37 Illustrations. Evon or cloth or or white archiment Fcp., 2s.cloth, or 3s.white parchment.

SUNSHINE AND STORM IN THE EAST.

Cabinet Edition. With 2 Maps and 114 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 75.6d. Popular Edition. With 103 Illustra-tions. 4to., 6d. sewed, 1s. cloth.

IN THE TRADES, THE TROPICS, AND THE ' ROARING FORTIES'. Cabinet Edition. With Map and 220 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d. Popular Edition. With 183 Illustrations. 4to., 6d. sewed, 1s. cloth.

THREE VOYAGES IN THE 'SUNBEAM'. Popular Edition. With 346 Illustra-tions. 4to., 2s. 6d.

Browning .-- A GIRL'S WANDERINGS IN HUNGARY. By H. ELLEN BROWN-ING. With Map and so Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Churchill .-- THE STORY OF THE MA-LAKAND FIELD FORCE. By Lieut. WINSTON L. SPENCER CHURCHILL With Maps and Plans. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.

Crawford. - South AMERICAN SKETCHES. By ROBERT CRAWFORD, M.A. Crown 8vo., 6s.

- OCEANA: or England and her Colonies. With 9 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- THE ENGLISH IN THE WEST INDIES: or the Bow of Ulysses. With 9 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., as. bds., as. 6d. cl.
- Howitt.--VISITS TO REMARKABLE PLACES, Old Halls, Battle-Fields, Scenes illustrative of Striking Passages in English History and Poetry. By WILLIAM HOWITT. With 80 Illustra-By tions. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Knight (E. F.).

- THE CRUISE OF THE 'ALERTE': the Narrative of a Search for Treasure on the Desert Island of Trinidad. With 2 Maps and 23 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3r. 6d.
- WHERE THREE EMPIRES MEET: a Narrative of Recent Travel in Kashmir, Western Tibet, Baltistan, Ladak, Gilgit, and the adjoining Countries. With a Map and 54 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- THE 'FALCON' ON THE BALTIC: & Voyage from London to Copenhagen in a Three-Tonner. With 10 Fullpage Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Lees and Clutterbuck.-B. C. 1887: A RAMBLE IN BRITISH COLUMBIA. By J. A. LEES and W. J. CLUTTERBUCK. With Map and 75 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 31.6d.
- Max Müller-LETTERS FROM CON-STANTINOPLE. By Mrs. MAX MÖLLER. With 12 Views of Constantinople and the neighbourhood. Crown 8vo., 6s.

Nansen (FRIDTJOF).

- THE FIRST CROSSING OF GREENLAND. With numerous Illustrations and a Map. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- ESKIMO LIFE. With 31 Illustrations. 80., 16.

Oliver .--- CRAGS AND CRATERS : Rambles in the Island of Réunion. By WILLIAM DUDLEY OLIVER, M.A. With 27 Illustrations and a Map. Cr. 8vo., 6s.

7

Travel and Adventure, the Colonies, &c.—continued.

Smith. —CLIMBING IN THE BRITISH ISLES. By W. P. HASKETT SMITH. With Illustrations by ELLIS CARR, and Numerous Plans.	THREE IN NORWAY. By Two at Them. With a Map and 59 Illustra- tions. Cr. 8vo., as. boards, as. 6d. cloth.
Numerous Fians.	TyndallThe GLACIERS OF THE ALPS:
Part I. ENGLAND. 16mo., 3s. 6d.	being a Narrative of Excursions and Ascents. An Account of the Origin and
Part II. WALES AND IRELAND. 16mo., 31. 6d.	Phenomena of Glaciers, and an Exposi- tion of the Physical Principles to which they are related. By JOHN TYNDALL, F.R.S. With 6r Illustrations. Crown
Stephen THE PLAYGROUND OF	8vo., 6s. 6d. net.
EUROPE. By LESLIE STEPHEN. New Edition, with Additions and 4 Illustra- tions. Crown 8vo., 6s. net.	VivianSERVIA: the Poor Man's Paradise. By HERBERT VIVIAN, M.A.
	800., 155.

Sport and Pastime.

THE BADMINTON LIBRARY.

Edited by HIS GRACE THE DUKE OF BEAUFORT, K.G., and

A. E. T. WATSON.

Complete in 28 Volumes. Crown 8vo., Price 105. 6d. each Volume, Cloth.

• • The Volumes are also issued half-bound in Leather, with gilt top. The price can be had from all Booksellers.

ARCHERY. By C. J. LONGMAN and	BIL
Col. H. WALROND. With Contribu-	R
tions by Miss LEGH, Viscount DILLON,	B
&c. With 2 Maps, 23 Plates, and 172	F
Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo.,	
10s. 6d.	D

ATHLETICS. By MONTAGUE SHEAR-MAN. With 6 Plates and 52 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 101. 6d. COURSING AND FALCONRY. By HARDING COX and the Hon. GERALD

- BIG GAME SHOOTING. By CLIVE Phillipps-Wolley.
 - Vol. I. AFRICA AND AMERICA. With Contributions by Sir SAMUEL W. BAKER, W. C. OSWELL, F. C. SELOUS, &c. With 20 Plates and 57 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., ros. 6d.
 - Vol. II. EUROPE, ASIA, AND THE ARCTIC REGIONS. With Contributions by Lieut.-Colonel R. HEBER PERCY, Major ALGERNON C. HEBER PERCY, &c. With 17 Plates and 56 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., Ios. 6d.

L.

- BILLIARDS. By Major W. BROADFOOT, R.E. With Contributions by A. H. BOYD, SYDENHAM DIXON, W. J. FORD, &c. With 11 Plates, 19 Illustrations in the Text, and numerous Diagrams. Crown Svo., 101, 6d.
- COURSING AND FALCONRY. By HARDING COX and the Hon. GERALD LASCELLES. With so Plates and 56 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., Ior. 6d.
- CRICKET. By A. G. STEEL, and the Hon. R. H. LYTTELTON. With Contributions by ANDREW LANG, W. G. GRACE, F. GALE, &c. With 18 Plates and 53 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 102. 6d.
- CYCLING. By the EARL OF ALBE-MARLE, and G. LACY HILLIER. With 19 Plates and 44 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 340, no. 56.

Sport and Pastime-continued.

THE BADMINTON LIBRARY-continued.

- MIDDLETON, The Honourable Mrs. ARMYTAGE, &c. With Musical Ex-amples, and 38 Full-page Plates and 93 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.
- DRIVING. By His Grace the DUKE OF BEAUFORT, K.G. With Contributions by other Authorities. With 12 Plates and 54 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 103. 6d.
- FENCING, BOXING, AND WREST-LING. By WALTER H. POLLOCK, F. C. GROVE, C. PREVOST, E. B. MITCHELL, and WALTER ARMSTRONG. With 18 Plates and 24 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 10s. 6d.
- FISHING. By H. CHOLMONDELEY-PEN-IELL.
 - Jol. I. SALMON AND TROUT. With Contributions by H. R. FRANCIS, Major JOHN P. TRAHERNE, &c. With 9 Plates and numerous Illustrations of Tackle, &c. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.
 - Vol. II. PIKE AND OTHER COARSE FISH. With Contributions by the MARQUIS OF EXETER, WILLIAM SENIOR, G. CHRISTOPHER DAVIES, &c. With 7 Plates and numerous Illustrations of Tackle, &c. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.
- GOLF. By HORACE G. HUTCHINSON. With Contributions by the Rt. Hon. A. J. BALFOUR, M.P., Sir WALTER SIMPSON, Bart., ANDREW LANG, &c. With 32 Plates and 57 Illustrations in the Text. Cr. 8vo., 10s. 6d.

- DANCING. By Mrs. LILLY GROVE, F.R.G.S. With Contributions by Miss MIDDLETON, The Honourable Mrs. With Contributions by the EARL OF SUFFOLK AND BERKSHIRE. MAN, &c. With 5 Plates and 54 Illus-trations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.
 - MOUNTAINEERING. By C. T. DENT. With Contributions by Sir W. M. CON-WAY, D. W. FRESHFIELD, C. E. MA-THEWS, &c. With 13 Plates and 95 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.
 - POETRY OF SPORT (THE).—Selected by HEDLEY PEEK. With a Chapter on Classical Allusions to Sport by ANDREW LANG, and a Special Preface to the Badminton Library by A. E. T. WAT-SON. With 32 Plates and 74 Illustra-tions in the Text. Crown 8vo., ros. 6d.
 - RACING AND STEEPLE-CHASING. By the EARL OF SUFFOLK AND BERK-SHIRE, W. G. CRAVEN, the HON. F. LAWLEY, ARTHUR COVENTRY, and ALFRED E. T. WATSON. With Frontispiece and 56 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 10s. 6d.
 - RIDING AND POLO. By Captain ROBERT WEIR, the DUKE OF BEAU-FORT, the EARL OF SUFFOLK AND BERKSHIRE, the EARL OF ONSLOW, &c. With 18 Plates and 41 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 101. 6d.
 - ROWING. By R. P. P. Rows and C. M. PITMAN. With Contributions by C. B. SHITH. PUNTING. By P. W. SQUIRE. With 20 Plates and 55 Illus-trations in the Text; also 4 Maps of the Oxford and Cambridge Boat-race and Metropolitan Championship Course, Henley Course, Oxford Course, and Cambridge Course. Crown 8vo., 10s. 6d.
 - SEA FISHING. By JOHN BICKERDYKE, Sir H. W. GORE-BOOTH, ALFRED C. HARMSWORTH, and W. SENIOR. With 22 Full-page Plates and 175 Illustrations in the Text. Crown Svo., 10s. 6d.

٩

The second s

Sport and Pastime-continued.

THE BADMINTON LIBRARY-continued.

SHOOTING.

- Vol. I. FIELD AND COVERT. By LORD WALSINGHAM and Sir RALPH PAYNE-GALLWEY, Bart. With Contribu-tions by the Hon. GERALD LAS-CELLES and A. J. STUART-WORTLEY. With 11 Plates and 94 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.
- Vol. II. MOOR AND MARSH. By LORD WALSINGHAM and Sir RALPH PAYNE-GALLWEY, Bart. With Contributions by LORD LOVAT and LORD CHARLES LENNOX KERE. With 8 Plates and 57 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 101. 6d.
- SKATING, CURLING, TOBOGGAN-ING. By J. M. HEATHCOTE, C. G. TEBBUTT, T. MAXWELL WITHAM, Rev. JOHN KERR, ORMOND HAKE, HENRY A. BUCK, &c. With 12 Plates and 272 Illustrations in the Text. Cr. 8vo., 10s. 6d.
- SWIMMING. By Archibald Sinclair and WILLIAM HENRY, Hon. Secs. of the Life-Saving Society. With 13 Plates and 106 Illustrations in the Text. Cr. 8vo., 10s. 6d.

TENNIS, LAWN TENNIS, RAC-QUETS, AND FIVES. By J. M. and C. G. HEATHCOTE, E. O. PLEYDELL-BOUVERIE, and A. C. AINGER. With Contributions by the Hon. A. LYTTEL-TON, W. C. MARSHALL, Miss L. DOD, With 12 Plates and 67 Illustra-&c. ' tions in the Text. Crown 8vo., 10s. 6d.

YACHTING.

- Vol. I. CRUISING, CONSTRUCTION OF YACHTS, YACHT RACING RULES, FITTING-OUT, &c. By Sir EDWARD SULLIVAN, Bart., THE EARL OF PEMBROKE, LORD BRASSEY, K.C.B., E. SETH-SMITH, C.B., G. L. WATSON, R. T. PRITCHETT, E. F. KNIGHT, &c. With 21 Plates and 93 Illustrations in the Text, and from Photographs. Crown 8vo., 10s. 6d.
- Vol. II. YACHT CLUBS, YACHTING IN AMERICA AND THE COLONIES, YACHT RACING, &c. By R. T. PRITCHETT, THE MARQUIS OF DUFFERIN AND AVA, K.P., THE EARL OF ONSLOW, JAMES MCFERRAN, &c. With 35 Plates and 160 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.

FUR. FEATHER AND FIN SERIES.

Edited by A. E. T. WATSON.

Crown 8vo., price c. each Volume.

. The Volumes are also issued half-bound in Leather, with gilt top. The price can be had from all Booksellers.

- With 11 Illustrations and various Diagrams in the Text. Crown 8vo., 5s.
- THE GROUSE. Natural History, by the Rev. H. A. MACPHERSON; Shooting, Rev. H. A. MACPHERSON, by A. J. STUART-WORTLEY; Cookery, by GEORGE SAINTSBURY. With 13 Illustrations and various Diagrams in the Text. Crown 8vo., 5s.
- THE PARTRIDGE. Natural History, by the Rev. H. A. MACPHERSON; Shooting, by A. J. STUART-WORTLEY; Cookery, by GEORGE SAINTSBURY. With the Rev. H. A. MACPHERSON; Shooting, by A. J. STUART-WORTLEY; Cookery, by GEORGE SAINTSBURY. the Rev. H. A. MACPHERSON; Shooting, by A. J. STUART-WORTLEY; Cookery, by ALEXANDER INNESSHAND. With 10 Illustrations and various Diagrams. Crown 8vo., 5s.
 - THE HARE. Natural History, by the Rev. H. A. MACPHERSON; Shooting, by the Hon. GRAAL LASCELLES; Coursing, by CHARLES RICHARDSON; Hunting, by J. S. GIBBONS and G. H. LONGMAN; Cookery, by Col. KENNEY HERBERT. With 9 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., cr.

Sport and Pastime-continued.

FUR. FEATHER AND FIN SERIES-continued.

- ED DEER. Natural History, by the Rev. H. A. MACPHERSON; Deer Stalking, by CAMERON OF LOCHIEL Stag Hunting, by Viscount EBRING-TON: Cookery. by ALEXANDER INNES Star Hunting, by Viscount EBRING-TON: Cookery. by ALEXANDER INNES RED DEER. the Rev. H. A. MACPHERSON; Deer Stalking, by CAMERON OF LOCHIEL. Stag Hunting, by Viscount EBRING-TON; Cookery, by ALEXANDER INNES SHAND. With 10 Illustrations. Crown Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 5s. 8vo., 5s. THE RABBIT. By J. E. HARTING, &c. THE TROUT. By the MARQUESS OF With Illustrations. [In preparation. GRANBY. With Chapters on Breeding WILDFOWL. By the Hon. JOHN by Colonel F. H. CUSTANCE ; Cookery, With Illustrations. by ALEXANDER INNES SHAND. With SCOTT MONTAGU. [In preparation.] 12 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 5s. André.—COLONEL BOGEY'S SKETCH-BOOK. Comprising an Eccentric Col-Ford.-THE THEORY AND PRACTICE OF ARCHERY. BY HORACE FORD. New lection of Scribbles and Scratches found Edition, thoroughly Revised and Re-written by W. BUTT, M.A. With a Prein disused Lockers and swept up in the Pavilion, together with sundry After-Dinner Sayings of the Colonel. By R. ANDRE, West Herts Golf Club. face by C. J. LONGMAN, M.A. 8vo., 14s. Francis.- A Book on Angling : or, Treatise on the Art of Fishing in every Oblong 4to., 2s. 6d. Branch; including full Illustrated List of Salmon Flies. By FRANCIS FRANCIS. MAGAZINE BADMINTON (THE) With Portrait and Coloured Plates. Crown 8vo., 155.
 - Gibson .--- TOBOGGANING ON CROOKED KUNS. By the Hon. HARRY GIBSON. With Contributions by F. DE B. STRICK-LAND and 'LADY-TOBOGGANER'. With 40 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s.
 - Graham.-COUNTRY PASTIMES FOR BOYS. By P. ANDERSON GRAHAM. With 252 Illustrations from Drawings and Photographs. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - Lang.—ANGLING SKETCHES. By A. LANG. With 20 Illustrations. Crown By A. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - Lillie.—CROQUET: its History, Rules, and Secrets. By ARTHUR LILLIE, Champion Grand National Croquet Club, 1872; Winner of the 'All-Comers' Chub, 1872; Winner of the 'All-Comers' Championship,' Maidstone, 1896. With 4 Full-page Illustrations by LUCIEN DAVIS, 15 Illustrations in the Text, and 27 Diagrams. Crown 8vo., 6s.
 - Longman.-CHESS OPENINGS. By FREDERICK W. LONGMAN. Fcp. 8vo., 25. 6d.
 - Madden.-THE DIARY OF MASTER WILLIAM SILENCE : A Study of Shakespeare and of Elizabethan Sport. By the Right Hon. D. H. MADDEN, Vice-Chancellor of the University of Dublin. 8vo., 16s.

and the second second

- OF SPORTS AND PASTIMES. Edited by ALFRED E. T. WATSON). With numerous Illustra-(' Rapier ' tions. Price 15. Monthly. Vols. I.-VI., 6r. each.
- DEAD SHOT (THE): or, Sportsman's Complete Guide. Being a Treatise on the Use of the Gun, with Rudimentary and Finishing Lessons on the Art of Shooting Game of all kinds. Also Game-driving, Wildfowl and Pigeonshooting, Dog-breaking, etc. By MARKS-MAN. With numerous Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.
- Ellis.—CHESS SPARKS; or, Short and Bright Games of Chess. Collected and Arranged by J. H. ELLIS, M.A. 8vo., 43. 6d.
- Folkard. -- THE WILD-FOWLER : A Treatise on Fowling, Ancient and Modern; descriptive also of Decoys and Flight-ponds, Wild-fowl Shooting, Gunning-punts, Shooting-yachts, &c. Also Fowling in the Fens and in Foreign Countries, Rock-fowling, &c., &c., by H. C. FOLKARD. With 13 Engravings on Steel, and several Woodcuts. 8vo., 125. 6d.

79 LONGMANS & CO.'S STANDARD AND GENERAL WORKS.

Sport and Pastime-continued.

- Complete Revelation of the Secrets of Cheating at Games of Chance and Skill. By JOHN NEVIL MASKELYNE, of the Egyption Hall. With 62 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Park.-THE GAME OF GOLF. By WILLIAM PARK, Junr., Champion Golfer, 1887-89. With 17 Plates and 26 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.

Payne-Gallwey (Sir RALPH, Bart.).

- LETTERS TO YOUNG SHOOTERS (First Series). On the Choice and Use of a Gun. With 41 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- LETTERS TO YOUNG SHOOTERS (Second Series). On the Production, Preservation, and Killing of Game. With Directions in Shooting Wood-Pigeons and Breaking-in Retrievers. With Portrait and 103 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 125. 6d.
- LETTERS TO YOUNG SHOOTERS (Third Series). Comprising a Short Natural History of the Wildfowl that are Rare or Common to the British Islands. with Complete Directions in Shooting Wildfowl on the Coast and Inland. With 200 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 18s.
- Pole.-THE THEORY OF THE MODERN SCIENTIFIC GAME OF WHIST. By WILLIAM POLE. Fcp. 8vo., 2s. 6d.

Yeterinary Medicine, &c.

Steel (JOHN HENRY).

- A TREATISE ON THE DISEASES OF THE With 88 Illustrations. 8vo., DOG. 105. 6d.
- A TREATISE ON THE DISEASES OF THE OX. With 119 Illustrations. 8vo., 15s.
- A TREATISE ON THE DISEASES OF THE SHEEP. With 100 Illustrations. 8vo., 125.
- OUTLINES OF EQUINE ANATOMY: a Manual for the use of Veterinary Students in the Dissecting Room. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Fitzwygram .-- Horses and Stables. By Major-General Sir F. FITZWYGRAM, Bart. With 56 pages of Illustrations. 8vo., 2s. 6d. net.

- Maskelyne.-SHARPS AND FLATS : a Proctor.-How TO PLAY WHIST : WITH THE LAWS AND ETIQUETTE OF WHIST. By RICHARD A. PROCTOR. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - Ribblesdale.—The Queen's Hounds AND STAG-HUNTING RECOLLECTIONS. By LORD RIBBLESDALE, Master of the Buckhounds, 1892-95. With Introduc-Buckhounds, 1892-95. With Introduc-tory Chapter on the Hereditary Master-ship by E. BURROWS. With 24 Plates and 35 Illustrations in the Text, including reproductions from Oil Paintings in the possession of Her Majesty the Queen at Windsor Castle and Cumberland Lodge, Original Drawings by G. D. GILES, and from Prints and Photographs. 8vo., 255.
 - Ronalds.-THE FLY-FISHER'S ENTO-MOLOGY. By ALFRED RONALDS. With 20 Coloured Plates. 8vo., 14s.
 - Thompson and Cannan. HAND-IN-HAND FIGURE SKATING. By NOR-CLIFFE G. THOMPSON and F. LAURA CANNAN, Members of the Skating Club. With an Introduction by Captain J. H. THOMSON, R.A. With Illustrations. 16mo., 6s.
 - Wilcocks. The SEA FISHERMAN : Comprising the Chief Methods of Hook and Line Fishing in the British and other Seas, and Remarks on Nets, Boats, and Boating. By J. C. WILCOCKS. Illustrated. Crown 8vo., 6s.
 - Schreiner. -- THE ANGORA GOAT (published under the auspices of the South African Angora Goat Breeders' Association), and a Paper on the Ostrich (reprinted from the Zoologist for March, 1897). By S. C. CRONWRIGHT With 26 Illustrations. SCHRIENER. 8vo., 10s. 6d.
 - 'Stonehenge.'-THE DOG IN HEALTH AND DISEASE. By 'STONEHENGE'. With 78 Wood Engravings. 8vo., 7s. 6d.

Youatt (WILLIAM).

- THE HORSE. Revised and enlarged. By W. WATSON, M.R.C.V.S. With 52 Wood Engravings. 8vo., 7s. 6d. THE DOG. Revised and enlarged. With
- 33 Wood Engravings. 8vo., 6s.

Mental, Moral, and Political Philosophy.

LOGIC, RHETORIC, PSYCHOLOGY, &.

Т. К. Аввотт, В.D. 12mo., 3.

Aristotle.

- THE ETHICS: Greek Text, Illustrated with Essay and Notes. By Sir ALEX-ANDER GRANT, Bart. 2 vols. 8vo., 32s.
- AN INTRODUCTION TO ARISTOTLE'S ETHICS. Books I.-IV. (Book X. c. vi.-ix. in an Appendix.) With a continuous Analysis and Notes. By the Rev. EDWARD MOORE, D.D. Cr. 8vo., 105. 6d.

Bacon (FRANCIS).

- COMPLETE WORKS. Edited by R. I ELLIS, JAMES SPEDDING, and D. D.
- HEATH, 7 vols. 8vo., 53 13. 6d. LETTERS AND LIFE, including all his occasional Works. Edited by JAMES SPEDDING, 7 vols. 8vo., 54 4. THE ESSAYS: with Annotations. By
- RICHARD WHATELY, D.D. 8vo. 105. 6d.
- THE ESSAYS: Edited, with Notes. By F. STORR and C. H. GIBSON. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- THE ESATS. With Introduction, Notes, and Index. By E. A. ABBOTT, D.D. 2 vols. Fcp. 8vo., 6. The Text and Index only, without Introduction and Notes, in One Volume. Fcp. 8vo., 25. 6d.

Bain (ALEXANDER).

- MENTAL SCIENCE. Crown 8vo., 6s. 6d. MORAL SCIENCE. Crown 8vo., 4s. 6d. The two works as above can be had in one
- volume, price IOS. 6d.
- SENSES AND THE INTELLECT. 8vo., 151. EMOTIONS AND THE WILL. 8vo., 15s. LOGIC, DEDUCTIVE AND INDUCTIVE. Part I., 4s. Part II., 6s. 6d.

PRACTICAL ESSAYS. Crown 8vo., 25.

Bray.-THE PHILOSOPHY OF NECES-SITY; or Law in Mind as in Matter. By CHARLES BRAY. Crown Svo., 5.

Crozier (JOHN BEATTIE).

- HISTORY OF INTELLECTUAL DEVELOP-MENT : on the Lines of Modern Evolution.
 - Vol. I. Greek and Hindoo Thought ; Græco-Roman Paganism; Judaism; and Christianity down to the Closing of the Schools of Athens by Justinian, 529 A.D. 8vo., 14.

- Abbott.-THE ELEMENTS OF LOGIC. By Crozier (JOHN BEATTIE)-continued. CIVILISATION AND PROGRESS; being the Outlines of a New System of Political, Religious and Social Philosophy. 8vo., 14s.
 - Davidson.—THE LOGIC OF DEFINI-TION, Explained and Applied. By WILLIAM L. DAVIDSON, M.A. Crown 8vo., 6s.
 - Green (THOMAS HILL). The Works of. Edited by R. L. NETTLESHIP. Vols. I. and II. Philosophical Works
 - 8vo., 16s. each. Vol. 111. Miscellanies. With Index to the three Volumes, and Memoir. 8vo., 215.
 - LECTURES ON THE PRINCIPLES OF POLITICAL OBLIGATION. 8vo., 51.

Hodgson (SHADWORTH H.)

- TIME AND SPACE: a Metaphysical Essay. 8vo., 16s.
- THE THEORY OF PRACTICE : an Ethical Inquiry. 2 vols. 8vo., 24s.
- THE PHILOSOPHY OF REFLECTION. 2 vols. 8vo., 213.
- THE METAPHYSIC OF EXPERIENCE. 4 vols. I. General Analysis of Experience. II. Positive Science. III. Analysis of Conscious Action. IV. The Real Universe. 4 vols. 8vo., 36s. net.
- Hume .--- THE PHILOSOPHICAL WORKS OF DAVID HUME. Edited by T. H. GREEN and T. H. GROSE. 4 vols. 8vo., 56s. Or separately, Essays. 2 vols. 281. Treatise of Human Nature, 2 vols. 281.
- James.-THE WILL TO BELIEVE, and other Essays in Popular Philosophy. By WILLIAM JAMES, M.D., LL.D., &c. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Justinian. -- THE INSTITUTES OF JUS-TINIAN: Latin Text, chiefly that of Huschke, with English Introduction, Translation, Notes, and Summary. By THOMAS C. SANDARS, M.A. 8vo., 185.

Kant (IMMANUEL).

- CRITIQUE OF PRACTICAL REASON, AND OTHER WORKS ON THE THEORY OF Translated by T. K. ABBOTT, ETHICS. B.D. With Memoir. 8vo., 12s. 6d.
- FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES OF THE METAPHYSIC OF ETHICS. Trans-lated by T. K. ABBOTT, B.D. Crown Svo., gi.

Mental, Moral and Political Philosophy-continued.

Kant (IMMANUEL)-continued.

INTRODUCTION TO LOGIC, AND HIS ESSAY ON THE MISTAKEN SUBTILITY OF THE FOUR FIGURES. Translated by T. K. ABBOTT. 8vo., 6s.

Killick.--HANDBOOK TO MILL'S SYS-TEM OF LOGIC. By Rev. A. H. KIL-LICK, M.A. Crown 8vo., 31. 6d.

Ladd (GEORGE TRUMBULL).

OUTLINES OF DESCRIPTIVE PSYCHO-LOGY: a Text-Book of Mental Science for Colleges and Normal Schools. 8vo., 123.

PHILOSOPHY OF KNOWLEDGE: an Inquiry into the Nature, Limits and Validity of Human Cognitive Faculty. 8vo., 18.

PHILOSOPHY OF MIND: an Essay on the Metaphysics of Psychology. 8vo., 16s.

ELEMENTS OF PHYSIOLOGICAL PSY-CHOLOGY. 8vo., 213.

OUTLINES OF PHYSIOLOGICAL PSY-CHOLOGY. A Text-Book of Mental Science for Academies and Colleges. 8vo., 122.

- PRIMER OF PSYCHOLOGY. Crown 8vo., 5s. 6d.
- Lutoslawski. THE ORIGIN AND GROWTH OF PLATO'S LOGIC. By W. LUTOSLAWSKI. 8vo., 215.

Max Müller (F.).

THE SCIENCE OF THOUGHT. 8vo., 213. THERE INTRODUCTORY LECTURES ON THE SCIENCE OF THOUGHT. 8vo., 21. 6d. net.

Mill.—ANALYSIS OF THE PHENOMENA OF THE HUMAN MIND. By JAMES MILL. 2 vols. 8vo., 28s.

Mill (JOHN STUART).

A SYSTEM OF LOGIC. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d. ON LIBERTY. Cr. 8vo., 1s. 4d. CONSIDERATIONS ON REPRESENTATIVE GOVERNMENT. Crown 8vo., as. UTILITARIANISM. 8vo., as. 6d.

(Mill (JOHN STUART)-continued.

- EXAMINATION OF SIR WILLIAM HAMILTON'S PHILOSOPHY. 8vo., 16. NATURE, THE UTILITY OF RELIGION, AND THRISM. Three Essays. 8vo., 5.
- Romanes.—MIND AND MOTION AND MONISM. By GEORGE JOHN ROMANES, LL.D., F.R.S. Crown 8vo., 4. 6d.

Stock (ST. GEORGE).

DEDUCTIVE LOGIC. Fcp. 8vo., 3. 6d. LECTURES IN THE LYCEUM; or, Aristotle's Ethics for English Readers. Edited by ST. GEORGE STOCK. Crown 8vo., 7. 6d.

Sully (JAMES).

THE HUMAN MIND: a Text-book of Psychology. 2 vols. 8vo., 215.

- OUTLINES OF PSYCHOLOGY. Crown 8vo., 9s.
- THE TEACHER'S HANDBOOK OF PSY-CHOLOGY. Crown 8vo., 6s. 6d.
- STUDIES OF CHILDHOOD. 8vo. Ior. 6d. CHILDREN'S WAYS: being Selections from the Author's 'Studies of Childhood,' with some additional Matter. With 25 Figures in the Text. Crown 8vo., 4J. 6d.
- Sutherland. THE ORIGIN AND GROWTH OF THE MORAL INSTINCT. By ALEXANDER SUTHERLAND, M.A. 2 vols. 8vo., 28.
- Swinburne.—PICTURE LOGIC: an Attempt to Popularise the Science of Reasoning. By ALFRED JAMES SWIN-BURNE, M.A. With 23 Woodcuts. Crown 8vo., 55.

Weber.—HISTORY OF PHILOSOPHY. By ALFRED WEBER, Professor in the University of Strasburg, Translated by FRANK THILLY, Ph.D. 8vo., 16s.

Whately (ARCHBISHOP).

BACON'S ESSAYS. With Annotations. 8vo., 101. 6d.

ELEMENTS OF LOGIC. Cr. 8vo., 4s. 6d. ELEMENTS OF RHETORIC. Cr. 8vo., 4s. 6d.

LESSONS ON REASONING. Fcp. 8vo., 13. 6d.

Mental, Moral and Political Philosophy-continued.

Zeller (Dr. EDWARD, Professor in the [Zeller (Dr. EDWARD)-continued. University of Berlin).

THE STOICS, EPICUREANS, AND SCEP-TICS. Translated by the Rev. O. J. REICHEL, M.A. Crown 8vo., 155.

OUTLINES OF THE HISTORY OF GREEK PHILOSOPHY. Translated by SARAH F. ALLEYNE and EVELYN ABBOTT. Crown 8vo., 10s. 6d.

- PLATO AND THE OLDER ACADEMY. Translated by SARAH F. ALLEYNE and ALFRED GOODWIN, B.A. Crown 8vo., 18s.
- SOCRATES AND THE SOCRATIC SCHOOLS. Translated by the Rev. O. J. RRICHEL, M.A Crown 8vo., 10s. 6d.
- ARISTOTLE AND THE EARLIER PERI-PATETICS. Translated by B. F. C. COSTELLOE, M.A., and J. H. MUIR-HEAD, M.A. 2 vols. Cr. 8vo., 243.

MANUALS OF CATHOLIC PHILOSOPHY.

(Stonyhurst Series.)

A MANUAL OF POLITICAL ECONOMY. By C. S. DEVAS, M.A. Cr. 8vo 6s. 6d.	MORAL PHILOSOPHY (ETHICS AND NATU- RAL LAW). By JOSEPH RICEABY, S.J. Crown 8vo., 51.
FIRST PRINCIPLES OF KNOWLEDGE. By JOHN RICKABY, S.J. Crown 8vo., 5s.	NATURAL THEOLOGY. By BERNARD
GENERAL METAPHYSICS. By JOHN RICK- ABY, S.J. Crown 800., 55.	BOEDDER, S.J. Crown 8vo., 6s. 6d.
LOGIC. By RICHARD F. CLARKE, S J. Crown 8vo., 55.	PSYCHOLOGY. By MICHAEL MAHER, S.J. Crown 8vo., 6s. 6d.

History and Science of Language, &c.

Davidson.—LEADING AND IMPORTANT ENGLISH WORDS · Explained and Ex-	Max Müller (F.)—continued.
emplified. By WILLIAM L. DAVID- SON, M.A. Fcp. 8vo., 3s. 6d.	THREE LECTURES ON THE SCIENCE OF LANGUAGE, AND ITS PLACE IN GENERAL EDUCATION, delivered at
Farrar.—Language and Languages. By F. W. Farrar, D.D., F.R.S., Cr. 8vo., 6s.	Oxford, 1889. Crown Svo., 3r. net.
Graham.—ENGLISH SYNONYMS, Class - fied and Explained : with Practical Exercises. By G. F. GRAHAM. Fcap 8vo., 6s.	Roget. — THESAURUS OF ENGLISH WORDS AND PHRASES. Classified and Arranged so as to Facilitate the Ex- pression of Ideas and assist in Literary Composition. By PETER MARK ROGET, M.D., F.R.S. Recomposed throughout,
Max Müller (F.).	enlarged and improved, partly from the Author's Notes, and with a full Index,
THE SCIENCE OF LANGUAGE, Founded on Lectures delivered at the Royal Institution in 1861 and 1863. 2 vols. Crown 8vo., 105.	by the Author's Son, JOHN LEWIS ROGET. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.
BIOGRAPHIES OF WORDS, AND THE HOME OF THE ARYAS. Crown Svo., 5 ⁵ .	Whately.—English Synonyms. By E. Jane Whately. Fcap. 8vo., 33.

LONGMANS & CO.'S STANDARD AND GENERAL WORKS. 76

Political Economy and Economics.

- Ashley.-English Economic History | Macleud (HENRY DUNNING)-cont. AND THEORY. By W. J. ASHLEY. Cr. 8vo., Part I., 5s. Part II., 10s. 6d.
- Bagehot.-ECONOMIC STUDIES. Bv WALTER BAGEHOT. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Brassey .--- PAPERS AND ADDRESSES ON WORK AND WAGES. By Lord BRASSEY. Crown 8vo., 5s.
- Channing.—THE TRUTH ABOUT AGRI-CULTURAL DEPRESSION : An Economic Study of the Evidence of the Royal Commission. By FRANCIS ALLSTON CHANNING, M.P., one of the Commission. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Devas .--- A MANUAL OF POLITICAL ECONOMY. By C. S. DEVAS, M.A. Crown 8vo., 6s. 6d.
- Dowell.-A HISTORY OF TAXATION AND TAXES IN ENGLAND, from the Earliest Times to the Year 1885. By STEPHEN DOWELL (4 vols. 8vo.). Vols. STEPHEN DOWELL (4 vols. 8vo.). I. and II. The History of Taxation, 213. Vols. III. and IV. The History of Taxes, 215.
- Jordan.-THE STANDARD OF VALUE. By WILLIAM LEIGHTON JORDAN. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Macleod (HENRY DUNNING).
- BIMETALISM. 8vo., 5s. net.
- THE ELEMENTS OF BANKING. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- THE THEORY AND PRACTICE OF BANK-ING. Vol. I. 8vo., 125. Vol. II. 145.

- - THE THEORY OF CREDIT. 8vo. Vol. I. Ios. net. Vol. II., Part I., Ios. net. Vol. II. Part II., 103. net.
- INDIAN CURRENCY. 8vo., as. 6d. net. Mill.-POLITICAL ECONOMY. By JOHN STUART MILL
 - Popular Edition. Crown 8vo., 356d. Library Edition. 2 vols. 8vo., 30s.
- Mulhall.-INDUSTRIES AND WEALTH OF NATIONS. By MICHARL G. MUL-HALL, F.S.S. With 32 Full-page Diagrams. Crown 8vo., 8s. 6d.
- Soderini .- SOCIALISM AND CATHOLI-From the Italian of Count D SODERINI. By RICHARD SHEE. With a Preface by CISM. Edward Soderini. IENERY-SHEE Cardinal VAUGHAN. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Symes .- POLITICAL ECONOMY : a Short Text-book of Political Economy. With a Supplementary Chapter on Socialism. By J. E. SYMES, M.A. Crown 8vo., as. 6d.
- Toynbee.-LECTURES ON THE IN-DUSTRIAL REVOLUTION OF THE 18th CENTURY IN ENGLAND. By ARNOLD TOYNBRE. With a Memoir of the Author by BENJAMIN JOWETT, D.D. 8vo., 10s. 6d.
- Webb (SIDNEY and BEATRICE).
 - THE HISTORY OF TRADE UNIONISM. With Map and full Bibliography ot the Subject. 8vo., 18s.
 - INDUSTRIAL DEMOCRACY: a Study in Trade Unionism. 2 vols. 8vo., 25s. net. PROBLEMS OF MODERN INDUSTRY. 8vo., 7s. 6d.

STUDIES IN ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE.

Issued under the auspices of the London School of Economics and Political Science.

- THE HISTORY OF LOCAL RATES IN ENG-LAND: Five Lectures. By EDWIN CANNAN, M.A. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.
- GERMAN SOCIAL DEMOCRACY. By With an BERTRAND RUSSELL, B.A. With an Appendix on Social Democracy and the Woman Question in Germany by ALYS RUSSELL, B.A. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- SELECT DOCUMENTS ILLUSTRATING THE HISTORY OF TRADE UNIONISM.
 - 1. The Tailoring Trade. Edited by W. F. GALTON. With a Preface by SIDNEY WEBB, LL.B. Crown 8vo., 5s.
- LOCAL VARIATIONS OF RATES AND WAGES. By F. W. LAURENCE, B.A., Fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge. [In the press.]

DEPLOIGE'S REFERENDUM EN SUISSE. Translated with Introduction and Notes, by C. P. TREVELYAN, M.A.

[In preparation

SELECT DOCUMENTS ILLUSTRATING THE STATE REGULATION OF WAGES. Edited, with Introduction and Notes, by W. A. S. HEWINS, M.A.

[In preparation.

- HUNGARIAN GILD RECORDS. Edited by Dr. JULIUS MANDELLO, of Budapest. [In preparation,
- THE RELATIONS BETWEEN ENGLAND and the Hanseatic League. By Miss E. A. MACARTHUR. [In preparation.
- THE ECONOMIC POLICY OF COLBERT. By A. J. SARGENT, B.A. [In preparation.

Evolution, Anthropology, &c.

Clodd (EDWARD).

- THE STORY OF CREATION : a Plain Account of Evolution. With 77 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- A PRIMER OF EVOLUTION: being a Popular Abridged Edition of 'The Story of Creation'. With Illus-trations. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.
- Lang .-- CUSTOM AND MYTH: Studies of Early Usage and Belief. By ANDREW LANG. With 15 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Lubbock .--- THE ORIGIN OF CIVILISA-TION and the Primitive Condition of Man. By Sir J. LUBBOCK, Bart., M.P. With 5 Plates and 20 Illustrations in the Text. 8vo., 18s.
- Classical Literature, Translations, &c. Abbott.-HELLENICA. A Collection of Cicero.-CICERO'S CORRESPONDENCE. Essays on Greek Poetry, Philosophy, By R. Y. TYRRELL, Vols. I., II., III. Essays on Greek Poetry, Philosophy, History, and Religion. Edited by EVELYN ABBOTT, M.A., LL.D. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- **Æschylus.**—EUMENIDES OF ÆSCHY-LUS. With Metrical English Translation. By J. F. DAVIES. 8vo., 75.
- Aristophanes.-The ACHARNIANS OF ARISTOPHANES, translated into English Verse. By R. Y. TYRRELL. Cr. 8vo., 15.
- Aristotle .-- Youth AND OLD AGE, LIFE AND DEATH, AND RESPIRATION. Translated, with Introduction and Notes, by W. OGLE, M.A., M.D., F.R.C.P. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Becker (W. A.). Tra Rev. F. Metcalfe, B.D. Translated by the
 - GALLUS: or, Roman Scenes in the Time of Augustus. With 26 Illustrations. Post 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - CHARICLES: or, Illustrations of the Private Life of the Ancient Greeks. With 26 Illustrations. Post 8vo., 35. 6d.
- Butler. THE AUTHORESS OF THE ODYSSEY, WHERE AND WHEN SHE WROTE, WHO SHE WAS, THE USE SHE MADE OF THE ILIAD, AND HOW THE POEM GREW UNDER HER HANDS. By SAMUEL BUTLER, Author of 'Erewhon, &c. With 14 Illustrations and 4 Maps. 8vo., 10s. 6d.

Romanes (GEORGE JOHN).

- DARWIN, AND AFTER DARWIN: an Exposition of the Darwinian Theory, and a Discussion on Post-Darwinian **Ouestions**,
 - Part I. THE DARWINIAN THEORY. With Portrait of Darwin and 125
 - Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 10. 6d. Part II. POST-DARWINIAN QUES-TIONS: Heredity and Utility. With
 - Portrait of the Author and 5 Illus-trations. Cr. 8vo., zos. 6d. Part III. POST-DARWINIAN QUES-TIONS: Isolation and Physiological Selection. Crown 8vo., 5s.
- AN EXAMINATION OF WEISMANNISM. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- SSAYS. Edited by C. LLOYD MORGAN, Principal of University Essays. College, Bristol. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- 8vo., each 12s. Vol. IV., 15s. Vol V., 145.
- Homer. -- THE ILIAD OF HOMER. Freely rendered into English Prose for the use of those that cannot read the original. By SAMUEL BUTLER, Author of 'Erewhon,' 'Life and Habit,' etc. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Horace.—THE WORKS OF HORACE, rendered into English Prose. With With Life, Introduction, and Notes. By WILLIAM COUTTS, M.A. Crown 8vo., 5s. net.
- By Lang .-- Homer AND THE EPIC. ANDREW LANG. Crown 8vo., gr. net.
- Lucan.—THE PHARSALIA OF LUCAN. Translated into Blank Verse. By Sir EDWARD RIDLEY. 8vo., 141.
- Mackail.-Select Epigrams from THE GREEK ANTHOLOGY. By J. W. MACKAIL. Edited with a Revised Text, Introduction, Translation, and Notes 8vo., 16s.
- Rich.-A DICTIONARY OF ROMAN AND GREEK ANTIQUITIES. By A. RICH, B.A. With 2000 Woodcuts. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.

کی د در مدر در معارضه د

78 LONGMANS & CO.'S STANDARD AND GENERAL WORKS.

Classical Literature, Translations, &c.--continued.

- Sophocles.-Translated into English Virgil.-THE ÆNEID OF VIRGIL. Transerse. By ROBERT WHITELAW, M.A., Assistant Master in Rugby School. Cr. 8vo., 8s. 6d.
- Tacitus.-THE HISTORY OF P. COR-NELIUS TACITUS. Translated into English, with an Introduction and Notes, Critical and Explanatory, by ALBERT WILLIAM Quill, M.A., T.C.D. 2 Vols. Vol. I., 8vo., 7s. 6d., Vol. II., 8vo., 125. 6d.
- Tyrrell.-TRANSLATIONS INTO GREEK AND LATIN VERSE. Edited by R. Y. TYRRELL. Svo., 6s.

- lated into English Verse by JOHN CON-INGTON. Crown 8vo., 6s.
 - Translated THE POEMS OF VIRGIL. into English Prose by JOHN CONING-TON. Crown 8vo., 6r.
 - THE ÆNEID OF VIRGIL, freely translated into English Blank Verse. By W. J. THORNHILL. Crown 8vo., 75. 6d.
 - THE ÆNEID OF VIRGIL. Translated into English Verse by JAMES RHOADES. Books I.- VI. Crown 8vo., 5s. Books VII.-XII. Crown 8vo., 5s.

Poetry and the Drama.

Allingham (WILLIAM).

- IRISH SONGS AND POEMS. With Frontispiece of the Waterfall of Asaroe, Fcp. 8vo., 6s.
- With Por-LAURENCE BLOOMFIELD. trait of the Author. Fcp. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- FLOWER PIECES; DAY AND NIGHT SONGS; BALLADS. With 2 Designs by D. G. ROSSETTI. Fcp. 8vo., 6s.; large paper edition, 125.
- LIFE AND PHANTASY : with Frontispiece by Sir J. E. MILLAIS, Bart., and Design by ARTHUR HUGHES. Fcp. 8vo., 6s.; large paper edition, 12s.
- THOUGHT AND WORD, AND ASHBY MANOR: a Play. Fcp. 8vo., 6s.; large paper edition, 125.

BLACKBERRIES. Imperial 16mo., 6s.

Sets of the above 6 vols. may be had in uniform half-parchment binding, price 30s.

Armstrong (G. F. SAVAGE).

- POEMS: Lyrical and Dramatic. Fcp. 8vo., 6s.
- KING SAUL. (The Tragedy of Israel, Part I.) Fcp. 8vo., 5s.
- KING DAVID. (The Tragedy of Israel, Part II.) Fcp. 8vo., 6s.

- Armstrong (G.F.SAVAGE)-continued. KING SOLOMON.
 - (The Tragedy of Israel, Part III.) Fcp. 8vo., 6s.
 - UGONE: a Tragedy. Fcp. 8vo., 6s.
 - A GARLAND FROM GREECE : Poems. Fcp. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
 - STORIES OF WICKLOW: Poems. Fcp. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
 - MEPHISTOPHELES IN BROADCLOTH: a Satire. Fcp. 8vo., 4s.
 - ONE IN THE INFINITE: a Poem. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Armstrong .--- THE POETICAL WORKS OF EDMUND J. ARMSTRONG. Fcp. 8vo., 5s.
- Arnold.-THE LIGHT OF THE WORLD : or, the Great Consummation. By Sir EDWIN ARNOLD. With 14 Illustrations after HOLMAN HUNT. Crown 8vo., 6s.

Beesly (A. H.).

- BALLADS, AND OTHER VERSE. FCD. 8vo., 5s.
- DANTON, AND OTHER VERSE. Fcp. 8vo., 4s. 6d.

Bell (Mrs. HUGH).

- CHAMBER COMEDIES: a Collection of Plays and Monologues for the Draw-
- ing Room. Crown Svo., 6s. FAIRY TALE PLAYS, AND HOW TO ACT THEM. With or Diagrams and 52 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6r.

Poetry and the Drama—continued.	
Cochrane (ALFRED). THE KESTREL'S NEST, and other Verses. Fcp. 8vo., 35. 6d.	Lecky.—POEMS. By W. E. H. LECKY. Fcp. 8vo., 55.
LEVIOR PLECTRO: Occasional Verses. Fcp. 8vo., 3s. 6d.	Lytton (THE EARL OF) (OWEN MEREDITH). THE WANDERER. Cr. 8vo., 10s. 6d.
Douglas. — POEMS OF A COUNTRY GENTLEMAN. By Sir GEORGE DOUG- LAS, Bart. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.	LUCILE. Crown 8vo., 103. 6d. Selected Poems. Cr. 8vo., 103. 6d.
Goothe. FAUST, Part I., the German Text, with Introduction and Notes. By ALBERT M. SELSS, Ph.D., M.A. Cr. 8vo., 5. THE FIRST PART OF THE TRAGEDY	MacaulayLAYS OF ANCIENT ROME, WITH IVEY, AND THE ARMADA. By Lord MACAULAY. Illustrated by G. SCHARF. Fcp. 4to., 105. 6d. Bijou Edition.
OF GOETHE'S FAUST IN ENGLISH. By THOS. E. WEBR, LL.D. New and Chesper Edition, with the Death of Faust, from the Second Part. Crown 8vo., 6s.	18mo., 2s. 6d., gilt top. ————————————————————————————————————
Gurney (Rev. ALFRED, M.A.). DAY-DREAMS: Poems. Cr. 8vo, 3r. 6d. LOVE'S FRUITION, and other Poems.	Annotated Edition. Fcp. 8vo., 1s. sewed, 1s. 6d. cloth. MacDonald (GEORGE, LL.D.).
Fcp. 8vo., 2s. 6d. Hampton.—For REMEMBRANCE. A Record of Life's Beginnings. Three Poetical Quotations for Every Day in the Year for Birth, Baptism, Death. Illustrative of our Life, Temporal, Spirit- ual, Eternal. Interleaved for Names. Compiled by the Lady LAURA HAMP- TON. Fcp. 8vo., 3s. 6d.	A BOOK OF STRIFE, IN THE FORM OF THE DIARY OF AN OLD SOUL: POEMS. 18mo., 6s. RAMPOLLI: GROWTHS FROM A LONG- PLANTED ROOT; being Translations, new and old (mainly in verse), chiefly from the German; along with 'A Year's Diary of an Old Soul'. Crown 8vo., 6s.
 Ingelow (JEAN). POETICAL WORKS. 2 vols. Fcp. 8vo., 121. Complete in One Volume. Crown 8vo., 71. 6d. LYRICAL AND OTHER POEMS. Selected from the Writings of JEAN INGELOW. Fcp. 8vo., 21. 6d.; cloth plain, 32. cloth gilt. Lang (ANDREW). GRASS OF PARNASSUS. Fcp. 8vo., 23. 6d. net. THE BLUE POETRY BOOK. Edited by ANDREW LANG. With 100 Illustra- tions. Crown 8vo., 6s. Layard.—Songs IN MANY MOODS. By NINA F. LAYARD. And THE WANDEENING ALBATROSS, &C. By ANDRE CORDER. In one volume. Crown 8vo., 53. 	 Moffat.—CRICKETY CRICKET: Rhymes and Parodies. By DOUGLAS MOFFAT. With Frontispiece by Sir FRANK LOCK- WOOD, Q.C., M.P., and 53 Illustrations by the Author. Crown 8vo., as. 6d. Morris (WILLIAM). POETICAL WORKS—LIBRARY EDITION. Complete in Ten Volumes. Crown 8vo., price 6s. each :— THE EARTHLY PARADISE. 4 vols. 6s. each. THE LIFE AND DEATH OF JASON. 6s. THE DEFENCE OF GUENEVERE, and other Poems. 6s. THE STORY OF SIGURD THE VOLSUNG, and the Fall of the Niblungs. 6s. LOVE IS ENOUGH; or, The Freeing of Pharamond: a Morality; and POEMS BY THE WAY. 6s.

•

. . **.** .

LONGMANS & CO.'S STANDARD AND GENERAL WORKS.

Poetry and the Drama—continued.

Morris (WILLIAM)-continu	ed.
THE ODYSSEY OF HOMER.	Done into
English Verse. 6s.	
THE ÆNEIDS OF VIRGIL.	Done into

English Verse. 6s.

Certain of the Poetical Works may also be had in the following Editions :---THE EARTHLY PARADISE.

Popular Edition. 5 vols. 12mo., 25s.; or 5s. each, sold separately. The same in Ten Parts, 25s.; or 2s. 6d.

each, sold separately.

- Cheap Edition, in 1 vol. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d. LOVE IS ENOUGH; or, The Freeing of Bhamanda and the freeing of Pharamond : a Morality. Square crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- POEMS BY THE WAY. Square crown 8vo., 6s.
- * For Mr. William Morris's Prose Works, see pp. 22 and 31.

Nesbit.-LAYS AND LEGENDS. By E. NESBIT (Mrs. HUBERT BLAND). First Second Series. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. Secon Series, with Portrait. Crown 8vo., 5s.

- **Biley** (JAMES WHITCOMB). OLD FASHIONED ROSES : Poems.
 - 12mo., 55. A CHILD-WORLD POEMS. Fcp. 8vo.
 - RUBAINAT OF DOC SIFERS. With 43 Illustrations by C. M RELYEA. Crown 8vo., 6s.

THE GOLDEN YEAR. From the Verse and Prose of JAMES WHITCOMB RILEY. Compiled by CLARA E. LAUGHLIN. Fcp. 8vo.

Romanes.--- A SELECTION FROM THE POEMS OF GEORGE JOHN ROMANES, M.A., LL.D., F.R.S. With an Intro-duction by T. HERBERT WARREN, President of Magdalen College, Oxford, Crown 8vo., 4s. 6d.

Russell .-- SONNETS ON THE SONNET : an Anthology compiled by the Rev. MATTHEW RUSSELL, S.J. Crown 8vo., 35. 6d.

- Shakespeare.-Bowdler's FAMILY SHAKESPEARE. With 36 Woodcuts. 1 vol. 8vo., 14s. Or in 6 vols. Fcp. 8vo., 215.
 - THE SHAKESPEARE BIRTHDAY BOOK. By MARY F. DUNBAR. 32mo., 15. 6d.
- OEMS. By JOHN LUCAS Selected and Edited by Tupper.-POEMS. TUPPER. WILLIAM MICHAEL ROSSETTI. Crown 8vo., 5s.
- Wordsworth. SELECTED POEMS. By ANDREW LANG. With Photogravure Frontispiece of Rydal Mount. With 16 Illustrations and numerous Initial Letters By ALFRED PARSONS, A.R.A. Crown 8vo., gilt edges, 3s. 6d.
- Wordsworth and Coleridge.--A DESCRIPTION OF THE WORDSWORTH AND COLERIDGE MANUSCRIPTS IN THE POSSESSION OF Mr. T. NORTON LONG-MAN. Edited, with Notes, by W. HALE WHITE. With 3 Facsimile Reproductions. 4to., 105. 6d.

Fiction, Humour, &c.

By | Deland (MARGARET). FRANCIS ALLINGHAM. Cr. 8vo., 6s.

PHILIP AND HIS WIFE. Cr. 8vo., 2s. 6d.

THE WISDOM OF FOOLS : Stories. Cr 8vo., 53.

OLD CHESTER TALES. Crown 8vo

Diderot. -- RAMEAU'S NEPHEW : Translation from Diderot's Autographic Text. By SYLVIA MARGARET HILL. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

By L DOUGALL. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Anstey.-Voces Populi. Reprinted 'Punch'. By F. ANSTEY. from First Series. With 20 Illustrations by J. BERNARD PARTRIDGE. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d. Beaconsfield (THE EARL OF). NOVELS AND TALES.

Allingham.-CROOKED PATHS.

Complete in 11 vols. Cr. 8vo., 15. 6d. each.

Vivian Grey Sybil. TheYoungDuke,&c. Henrietta Temple. Venetia. Alroy, Ixion, &c. Contarini Fleming, Coningsby. åc. Lothair.

Endymion. s. The Hughenden Tancred. NOVELS AND TALES. Edition. With 2 Portraits and 11 Dougall. - BEGGARS ALL. Vignettes. 11 vols. Cr. 8vo., 425.

1

Fiction, Humour, &c.—continued.

Doyle (A. CONAN).

- MICAH CLARKE : a Tale of Monmouth's Rebellion. With 10 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- THE CAPTAIN OF THE POLESTAR, and other Tales. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d. THE REFUGEES: a Tale of the Hugue-
- nots. With 25 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- THE STARK-MUNRO LETTERS. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Farrar (F. W., Dean of Canterbury). DARKNESS AND DAWN: or, Scenes in the Days of Nero. An Historic Tale. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
 - GATHERING CLOUDS: a Tale of the Days of St. Chrysostom. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Fowler (EDITH H.).
- THE YOUNG PRETENDERS. A Story of Child Life. With 12 Illustrations by PHILIP BURNE-JONES. Cr. 8vo., 6s. THE PROFESSOR'S CHILDREN. With
- 24 Illustrations by ETHEL KATE BURGESS. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Froude.-THE TWO CHIEFS OF DUN-BOY: an Irish Romance of the Last Century. By JAMES A. FROUDE. Cr. 8vo., 3r. 6d.
- Gilkes .-- KALLISTRATUS: An Autobiography. A Story of the Hannibal and the Second Punic War. By A. H. GILKES, M.A., Master of Dulwich Col-lege. With 3 Illustrations by MAURICE GREIFFENHAGEN. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Graham .-- THE RED SCAUR : a Story of the North Country. By P. ANDER-SON GRAHAM. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Gurdon .- MEMORIES AND FANCIES : Suffolk Tales and other Stories; Fairy Legends; Poems; Miscellaneous Arti-Cles. By the late LADY CAMILLA GURDON, Author of 'Suffolk Folk-Lore'. Crown 8vo., 5.

Haggard (H. RIDER).

- HEART OF THE WORLD. With 15 Illustrations, Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. JOAN HASTE. With 20 Illustrations.
- Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- THE PEOPLE OF THE MIST. With 16 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3. 6d. MONTEZUMA'S DAUGHTER. With 24
- Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. od.
- SHE. With 32 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo. 31. 6d.

Haggard (H. RIDER)-continued.

- ALLAN QUATERMAIN. With 31 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- MAIWA'S REVENCE. Crown 8vo., 1s. 6d. COLONEL QUARITCH, V.C. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- CLEOPATRA. With 20 Illustrations Crown 8vo., 3r. 6d. BEATRICE. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d. ERIC BRIGHTEYES. With 51 Illustra-
- tions. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d. NADA THE LILY. With 23 Illustra-
- tions. Cr. 8vo., 3r. 6d. ALLAN'S WIFE. With 34 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3r. 6d.
- THE WITCH'S HEAD. With 16 Illus-
- trations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. MR. MERSON'S WILL. With 16 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- DAWN. With 16 Illustrations. Crown 8vo. 3. 6d.
- Haggard and Lang .--- THE WORLD'S DESIRE. By H. RIDER HAGGARD and ANDREW LANG. With 27 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Harte. -- IN THE CARQUINEZ WOODS, and other Stories. By BRET HARTE. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Hope.—THE HEART OF PRINCESS OSRA. By ANTHONY HOPE. With 9 Illustrations by JOHN WILLIAMSON. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Hornung.-THE UNBIDDEN GUEST. By E. W. HORNUNG. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Jerome.-Sketches in Lavender: Blue and Green. By JEROME K. JEROME, Author of 'Three Men in a Boat,' &c. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- JOYCE. OLD CELTIC ROMANCES : Twelve of the most beautiful of the Ancient Irish Romantic Tales. Trans-lated from the Gaelic. Cr. 8vo., 3. 6d.
- Lang.-A MONK OF FIFE: a Story of the Days of Joan of Arc. By ANDREW LANG. With 13 Illustrations by SELWYN IMAGE. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Levett-Yeats (S.).

- THE CHEVALIER D'AURIAC. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- A GALAHAD OF THE CREEKS, and other Stories. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- THE HEART OF DENISE, and other Stories. Crown 8vo., 6s

Fiction. Humour. &c.-continued.

Lyall (EDNA).

- THE AUTOBIOGRAPHY OF A SLANDER. Fcp. 8vo., 1s. sewed.
- Presentation Edition. With 20 Illustrations by LANCELOT SPEED. 8vo., 2s. 6d. net. Cr.
- THE AUTOBIOGRAPHY OF A TRUTH. Fcp. 8vo., 1s. sewed; 1s. 6d. cloth. DOREEN: The Story of a Singer. Cr. 8vo., 6s.

WAYFARING MEN. Crown 8vo., 6s. HOPE THE HERMIT: a Romance of Borrowdale. Crown 8vo., 6s.

Melville (G. J. WHYTE).

The Gladiators.	Holmby House.
The Interpreter.	Kate Coventry.
Good for Nothing.	Digby Grand.
The Queen's Maries.	General Bounce.

Cr. 8vo., 15. 6d. each.

Merriman.-FLOTSAM: a Story of the Indian Mutiny. By HENRY SETON MER-RIMAN. With Frontispiece and Vignette by H. G. MASSEY, A.R.E. Crown 8vo., 35. 6d.

Morris (WILLIAM). .

- THE SUNDERING FLOOD. Crown Svo., 75. 6d.
- THE WATER OF THE WONDROUS ISLES. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- THE WELL AT THE WORLD'S END. 2 vols., 8vo., 28s.
- THE STORY OF THE GLITTERING PLAIN. which has been also called The Land of the Living Men, or The Acre of the Undying. Square post 8vo., 5s. net.
- THE ROOTS OF THE MOUNTAINS, Written in Prose and Verse. Square crown 8vo., 8s.
- A TALE OF THE HOUSE OF THE WOLF-INGS. Written in Prose and Verse. Square crown 8vo., 6s.
- A DREAM OF JOHN BALL, AND A KING'S LESSON. 12mo., 15. 6d.
- NEWS FROM NOWHERE ; or, An Epoch of Rest. Post 8vo., 15. 6d. * For Mr. William Morris's Poetical
- Works, see p. 19.

Newman (CARDINAL).

- LOSS AND GAIN : The Story of a Convert. Crown 8vo. Cabinet Edition, 6s.; Popular Edition, 3s. 6d. CALLISTA: A Tale of the Third Cen-
- tury. Crown 8vo. Cabinet Edition, 6s.; Popular Edition, 3s. 6d.

Oliphant.-OLD MR. TREDGOLD. Bv Mrs. OLIPHANT. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.

Phillipps-Wolley.-SNAP: a Legend of the Lone Mountain. By C. PHIL-LIPPS-WOLLEY. With 13 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Quintana.-THE CID CAMPEADOR; Historical Romance. an By D. ANTONIO DE TRUEBA Y LA QUINTANA. Translated from the Spanish by HENRY J. GILL, M.A., T.C.D. Crown 8vo., 6s.

Rhoscomyl (OWEN).

- THE JEWEL OF YNYS GALON : being a hitherto unprinted Chapter in the History of the Sea Rovers. With 12 Illustrations by LANCELOT SPEED. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- BATTLEMENT AND TOWER: a Romance. With Frontispiece by R. CATON WOODVILLE. Crown 8vo., 6.
- FOR THE WHITE ROSE OF ARNO : A Story of the Jacobite Rising of 1745. Crown 8vo., 6s.

Sewell (ELIZABETH M.).

A Glimpse of the World. | Amy Herbert. Laneton Parsonage. Cleve Hall.

Margaret Percival.

Gertrude. Katharine Ashton.

Home Life.

- After Life. The Earl's Daughter.
- The Experience of Life. | Ursula. Ivors Cr. 8vo., 1s. 6d. each, cloth plain. 2s. 6d. each, cloth extra, gilt edges.
- Stevenson (ROBERT LOUIS
 - THE STRANGE CASE OF DR. JEKYLL AND MR. HYDE. Fcp. 8vo., 15. sewed, 1s. 6d. cloth.
 - THE STRANGE CASE OF DR. JERYLL AND MR. HYDE; with Other Fables. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - MORE NEW ARABIAN NIGHTS-THE DYNAMITER. By ROBERT LOUIS STEVENSON and FANNY VAN DE GRIFT STEVENSON. Crown Svo., 25. 6d.
 - THE WRONG BOX. By ROBERT LOUIS STEVENSON and LLOYD OSBOURNE. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Suttner. LAY DOWN YOUR ARMS (Die Waffen Nieder): The Autobiography of Martha Tilling. By BERTHA VON SUTTNER. Translated by T. HOLMES. Crown 8vo., 15. 6d.
- Taylor. EARLY ITALIAN LOVE-STORIES. Edited and Retold by UNA TAYLOR. With 12 Illustrations by H. J. FORD.

Fiction, Humour, &c.—continued.	
 Trollope (ANTHONY). THE WARDEN. Cr. 8vo., 15. 6d. BARCHESTER TOWERS. Cr. 8vo., 15. 6d. Walford (L. B.). LEDDY MARGET. Crown 8vo., 6s. IVA KILDARE: a Matrimonial Problem. Crown 8vo., 6s. Mr. SMITH: a Part of his Life. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d. COUSINS. Crown 8vo., 26. 6d. TROUBLESOME DAUGHTERS. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d. COUSINS. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d. TROUBLESOME DAUGHTERS. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d. PAULINE. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d. DICK NETHERBY. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d. THE HISTORY OF A WEEK. Crown 8vo. 25. 6d. ASTIFF-NECKED GENERATION. Crown 8vo. 25. 6d. NAN, and other Stories. Cr. 8vo., 25. 6d. NAN, and other Stories. Cr. 8vo., 25. 6d. THE MISCHIEF OF MONICA. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d. 	 WatsonRACING AND CHASING: a Volume of Sporting Stories and Sketches. By ALFRED E. T. WATSON, Editor of the 'Badminton Magazine'. With 52 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d. Weyman (STANLEY). THE HOUSE OF THE WOLF. Cr. 8vo., 6s. A GENTLEMAN OF FRANCE. Cr. 8vo., 6s. SHREWSBURY. With 24 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s. Whishaw (FRED.). A BOYAR OF THE TERRIBLE: a Romance of the Court of Ivan the Cruel, First Tzar of Russia. With rs Illustrations by H. G. MASSEY, A.R.E. Cr. 8vo., 6s. A TSAR'S GRATITUDE. Cr. 8vo., 6s.
THE ONE GOOD GUEST. Cr. 8vo. 2s. 6d. 'PLOUGHED,' and other Stories. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d. THE MATCHMAKER. Cr. 8vo., 2s. 6d.	WoodsWEEPING FERRY, and other Stories. By MARGARET L. WOODS, Author of 'A Village Tragedy'. Crown 8vo., 6s.
Popular Science (Natural History, &c.).	
Butler.—OUR HOUSEHOLD INSECTS. An Account of the Insect-Pests found in Dwelling-Houses. By EDWARD A. BUTLER, B.A., B.Sc. (Lond.). With 113 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.	Hartwig (Dr. GEORGE)—continued. THE SUBTERRANEAN WORLD. With 3Mapsand 80 Woodcuts. 8vo., 7s. net. THE AERIAL WORLD. With Map. 8 Plates and 60 Woodcuts. 8vo., 7s. net.
Furneaux (W.).	HEROES OF THE POLAR WORLD. 10

Fistion Humann & mation

- HEROES OF THE POLAR WORLD. 19 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 25.
- WONDERS OF THE TROPICAL FORESTS. 40 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 2s.
- WORKERS UNDER THE GROUND. 20 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 2s.
- MARVELS OVER OUR HEADS. Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 2s. 20
- SEA MONSTERS AND SEA BIRDS. Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d. 75
- DENIZENS OF THE DEEP. 117 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.
- VOLCANOES AND EARTHQUAKES. 30 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d.
- WILD ANIMALS OF THE TROPICS. 66 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Helmholts.-POPULAR LECTURES ON SCIENTIFIC SUBJECTS. By HERMANN VON HELMHOLTZ. With 68 Woodcuts. 2 vois. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. each.

T

Furneaux (W.).

Bu A

- THE OUTDOOR WORLD; or, The Young Collector's Handbook. With 18 Plates, 16 of which are coloured, and 549 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- BUTTERFLIES AND MOTHS (British). With 12 coloured Plates and 241 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 75. 6d.
- LIFE IN PONDS AND STREAMS. With 8 coloured Plates and 331 Illustrations in the Text. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.

Hartwig (Dr. GEORGE).

- THE SEA AND ITS LIVING WONDERS. With 12 Plates and 303 Woodcuts. 8vo., 7s. net.
- THE TROPICAL WORLD. With 8 Plates and 172 Woodcuts. 8vo., 7s. net.
- THE POLAR WORLD. With 3 Maps, 8 Plates and 85 Woodcuts. 8vo., 7s. net.

Popular Science (Natural History, &c.).

Hudson (W. H.).

.

۰.

- BRITISH BIRDS. With a Chapter on Structure and Classification by FRANK E, BEDDARD, F.R.S. With 16 Plates (8 of which are Coloured), and over 100 Illustrations in the Text. Crown 8vo., 75. 6d.
- BIRDS IN LONDON. With 17 Plates and 15 Illustrations in the Text. 8vo., 125.
- Proctor (RICHARD A.).
 - LIGHT SCIENCE FOR LEISURE HOURS. Familiar Essays on Scientific Subjects. 3 vols. Crown 8vo., 5^s. each vol. Cheap edition, Crown 8vo., 3^s. 6d.
 - ROUGH WAYS MADE SMOOTH. Familiar Essays on Scientific Subjects. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - PLEASANT WAYS IN SCIENCE. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - NATURE STUDIES. By R. A. PROCTOR, GRANT ALLEN, A. WILSON, T. FOSTER and E. CLODD. Crown 8vo., 31. 6d.
 - LEISURE READINGS. By R. A. PROC-TOR, E. CLODD, A. WILSON, T. FOSTER, and A. C. RANYARD. Cr. Svo., 32. 6d.

* For Mr. Proctor's other books see Messrs. Longmans & Co.'s Catalogue of Scientific Works.

- Stanley.—A FAMILIAR HISTORY OF BIRDS. By E. STANLEY, D.D., formerly Bishop of Norwich. With 160 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3J. 6d.
- Wood (Rev. J. G.).
 - HOMES WITHOUT HANDS: a Description of the Habitation of Animals, classed according to the Principle of Construction. With 140 Illustrations. 8vo., 73. net.

Wood (Rev. J. G.)-continued.

- INSECTS AT HOME . a Popular Account of British Insects, their Structure, Habits and Transformations. With 700 Illustrations. 8vo., 7s. net.
- INSECTS ABROAD: a Popular Account of Foreign Insects, their Structure, Habits and Transformations. With 600 Illustrations. 8vo., 7s. net.
- BIBLE ANIMALS: a Description of every Living Creature mentioned in the Scriptures. With 112 Illustrations. 8vo., 7s. net.
- PETLAND REVISITED. With 33 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- OUT OF DOORS; a Selection of Original Articles on Practical Natural History. With 11 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 31. 6d.
- STRANGE DWELLINGS: a Description of the Habitations of Animals, abridged from 'Homes without Hands'. With 60 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- BIRD LIFE OF THE BIBLE. 32 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3. 6d.
- WONDERFUL NESTS. 30 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 31. 6d.
- HOMES UNDER THE GROUND. 28 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- WILD ANIMALS OF THE BIBLE. 29 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- DOMESTIC ANIMALS OF THE BIBLE. 23 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- THE BRANCH BUILDERS. 28 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.
- SOCIAL HABITATIONS AND PARASITIC NESTS. 18 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 21.

Works of Reference.

Longmans' GAZETTEER OF THE WORLD. Edited by GEORGE G. CHIS-HOLM, M.A., B.Sc. Imp. 8vo., £2 24. cloth, £2 125. 6d. half-morocco.

Maunder (Samuel).

BIOGRAPHICAL TREASURY. With Supplement brought down to 1889. By Rev. JAMES WOOD. Fcp. 8vo., 6s.

THE, Maunder (Samuel)-continued.

- TREASURY OF GEOGRAPHY, Physical, Historical, Descriptive, and Political. With 7 Maps and 16 Plates. Fcp. 8vo., 6s.
- THE TREASURY OF BIBLE KNOW-LEDGE. By the Rev. J. AYRE, M.A. With 5 Maps, 15 Plates, and 300 Woodcuts. Fep. Swo, 6r.

Works of Reference-continued.

Maunder (Samuel)-continued.

TREASURY OF KNOWLEDGE AND LIBRARY OF REFERENCE. Fcp. 8vo., 61.

HISTORICAL TREASURY : Fcp. 8vo., 6s.

- SCIENTIFIC AND LITERARY TREASURY. Fcp. 8vo., 6s.
- THE TREASURY OF BOTANY. Edited by J. LINDLEY, F.R.S., and T. MOORE, F.L.S. With 274 Woodcuts and 20 Steel Plates. 2 vols. Fep. 8vo., 125.
- **Roget.--**THESAURUS OF ENGLISHWORDS AND PHRASES. Classified and Arranged so as to Facilitate the Expression of Ideas and assist in Literary Composition. By PETER MARK ROGET, M.D., F.R.S. Recomposed throughout, enlarged and improved, partly from the Author's Notes and with a full Index, by the Author's Son, JOHN LEWIS ROGET. Crown 8vo., 10s. 6d.
- Willich .-- POPULAR TABLES for giving information for ascertaining the value of Lifehold, Leasehold, and Church Property, the Public Funds, &c. Bv CHARLES M. WILLICH. Edited by H. BENCE JONES. Crown 8vo., 101. 6d.

Children's Books.

Buckland .-- Two LITTLE RUNAWAYS. | Adapted from the French of LOUIS DESNOYERS. By JAMES BUCKLAND. With 110 Illustrations by CECIL ALDIN.

Crake (Rev. A. D.).

- EDWY THE FAIR; or, the First Chronicle of Æscendune. Crown 8vo., 25.6d.
- ALFGAR THE DANE: or, the Second Chronicle of Æscendune. Cr. 8vo., 2s. 6d.
- THE RIVAL HEIRS: being the Third and Last Chronicle of Æscendune. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d.
- THE HOUSE OF WALDERNE. A Tale of the Cloister and the Forest in the Days of the Barons' Wars. Crown 8vo., 25. 6d.
- BRIAN FITZ-COUNT. A Story of Wallingford Castle and Dorchester Abbey. Crown 8vo., as. 6d.

Lang (ANDREW)-EDITED BY.

- THE BLUE FAIRY BOOK. With 138 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s. RED FAIRY BOOK. With 100
- THE RED FAIRY BOOK. Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s. THE GREEN FAIRY BOOK. W
- With 99 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- THE YELLOW FAIRY BOOK. With 104 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- With 67 THE PINK FAIRY BOOK. HE PINK FAIRI FORM. 6r. Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6r.
- THE BLUE POETRY BOOK. Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- School THE BLUE POETRY BOOK. Edition, without Illustrations. Fcp. 8vo., as. 6d.

- Lang (ANDREW)—continued. THE TRUE STORY BOOK. With 66 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s.
 - THE RED TRUE STORY BOOK. With 100 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s.
 - THE ANIMAL STORY BOOK. With 67 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s. The Arabian Nights Entertain-
 - MENTS. With Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s.
- Meade (L. T.).
 - DADDY'S BOY. With Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - DEB AND THE DUCHESS. With Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - THE BERESFORD PRIZE. With Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. THE HOUSE OF SURPRISES. With Illu-
 - strations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Praeger. (S. ROSAMOND).

- THE ADVENTURES OF THE THREE BOLD BABES: Hector, Honoria and Alisander. A Story in Pictures. With 24 Coloured Plates and 24 Outline Pictures. Oblong 4to., 35. 6d.
- THE FURTHER DOINGS OF THE THREE BOLD BABES. With 25 Coloured Plates and 24 Outline Pictures. Oblong 4to., 31. 6d.
- Stevenson.-- A Child's GARDEN OF VERSES. By ROBERT LOUIS STEVENSON. fcp. 8vo., 5s.
- Sullivan.—HERE THEY ARE! More Stories._Written and Illustrated by JAMES F. SULLIVAN. Crown 8vo., 6r.

. -----

Children's Books-continued.

Upton (FLORENCE K., and BERTHA).

- THE ADVENTURES OF TWO DUTCH DOLLS AND A 'GOLLIWOGG'. With 3r Coloured Plates and numerous Illustrations in the Text. Oblong 4to., 6s.
- THE GOLLIWOOG'S BICYCLE CLUB. With 3r Coloured Plates and numerous Illustrations in the Text. Oblong 4to., 6r.
- Upton (FLORENCE K., and BERTHA)continued.
 - THE VEGE-MEN'S REVENCE. With 31 Coloured Plates and numerous Illustrations in the Text. Oblong 4to., 6r.
- THE GOLLIWOGG AT THE SEA-SIDE. With Coloured Plates and Illustrations in the Text. Oblong 4to., 6s. Wordsworth.-THE SNOW GARDEN,
- Wordsworth.—The Snow GARDEN, and other Fairy Tales for Children. By ELIZABETH WORDSWORTH. With 10 Illustrations by TREVOR HADDON. Crown 8vo., 31. 6d.

Longmans' Series of Books for Girls.

Price 2s. 6d. each.

ATELIER (THE) DU LYS: or an Art Student in the Reign of Terror.

BY THE SAME AUTHOR.

Mademoiselle Mori: a Tale of Modern Rome. In the Olden Time: a Tale of the Peasant War in Germany. The Fiddler of Lugau. A Child of the Revolution.

ATHERSTONE PRIORY. By L. N. COMYN.

- THE STORY OF A SPRING MORNING, &c. By Mrs. MOLESWORTH. Illustrated.
- THE PALACE IN THE GARDEN. By
- Mrs. MOLESWORTH. Illustrated. NEIGHBOURS. By Mrs. MOLESWORTH. THE THIRD MISS ST. QUENTIN. By

Mrs. MOLESWORTH.

- VERY YOUNG; and QUITE ANOTHER STORY. Two Stories. By JEAN INGE-LOW.
- CAN THIS BE LOVE ? By LOUISA PARE.
- KEITH DERAMORE. By the Author of 'Miss Molly'.
- SIDNEY. By MARGARET DELAND.
- AN ARRANGED MARRIAGE. By DORO-THEA GERARD.
- LAST WORDS TO GIRLS ON LIFE AT SCHOOL AND AFTER SCHOOL, By MARIA GREY.
- STRAY THOUGHTS FOR GIRLS. By LUCT H. M. SOULSBY, Head Mistress of Oxford High School. 16mo., 13. 6d. net.

The Silver Library.

CROWN 8vo. 3s. 6d. EACH VOLUME.

- Arnold's (Sir Edwin) Seas and Lands. With 71 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Bagehot's (W.) Biographical Studies. 31, 6d.
- Bagehot's (W.) Economic Studies. 3s. 6d.
- Bagehot's (W.) Literary Studies. With Portrait. 3 vols. 3s. 6d. each.
- Baker's (Sir S. W.) Eight Years in Ceylon. With 6 Illustrations. 31.6d.
- Baker's (Sir S. W.) Rifle and Hound in Ceylon. With 6 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Baring-Gould's (Rev. S.) Curious Myths of the Middle Ages. 3s. 6d.
- Baring-Gould's (Rev. S.) Origin and Development of Religious Belief. 2 vols. 3. 6d. each.

- Becker's (W. A.) Gallus: or, Roman Scenes in the Time of Augustus. With 26 Illustrations. 31. 6d.
- Becker's (W. A.) Charicles: or, Illustrations of the Private Life of the Ancient Greeks. With 26 Illustrations. 35.6d.
- Bent's (J. T.) The Ruined Cities of Mashonaland. With 117 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Brassey's (Lady) & Yoyage in the 'Sunbeam'. With 66 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Clodd's (E.) Story of Greation: a Plain Account of Evolution. With 77 Illustrations. 31. 6d.

The Silver Library—continued.

- Conybears (Rev. W. J.) and Howson's (Yery Rev. J. S.) Life and Epistles of St. Paul. With 46 Illustrations. 3r. 6d.
- Dougall's(L.) Beggars All; a Novel. 35.6d.
- Doyle's (L. Conan) Micah Clarke : a Tale of Monmouth's Rebellion. With 10 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Doyle's (L. Conan) The Captain of the Polestar, and other Tales. 31. 6d.
- Doyle's (A. Conan) The Refugees : A Tale of the Huguenots. With 25 With 25 Illustrations, 3s. 6d.
- Doyle's (A. Conan) The Stark Munro Letters. 3. 6d. Froude's (J. I.) The History of England,
- from the Fall of Wolsey to the Defeat of the Spanish Armada. 12 vols. 3. 6d. each.
- Froude's (J. A.) The English in Ireland.
- 3 vols. Ios. 6d. Froude's (J. L.) The Divorce of Catherine of Aragon. 35. 6d. Froude's (J. L.) The Spanish Story of
- the Armada, and other Essays. 3s. 6d.
- Froude's (J. L.) Short Studies on Great Subjects. 4 vols. 31. 6d. each. Froude's (J. A.) The Council of Trent.
- 35. 6d.
- Froude's (J. L.) Thomas Carlyle: a History of his Life.
 - 1795-1835. 2 vols. 7s. 1834-1881. 2 vols. 7s.
- 1834-1881. 2 vols. 7s. Froude's (J. L.) Casar: a Sketch. 3s. 6d.
- Froude's (J. A.) Oceana; or, England and her Colonies. With 9 Illustra-
- tions. 3. 6d. Froude's (J. L.) The Two Chiefs of Dun-boy: an Irish Romance of the Last
- Century. 3s. 6d.
- Wellington. With Portrait. 3. 6d. Greville's (C. C. F.) Journal of the
- Reigns of King George IV., King William IV., and Queen Victoria.
- 8 vols, 3s. 6d. each. Haggard's (H. R.) She: A History of Adventure. 32 Illustrations. 3s. 6d. Haggard's (H. R.) Allan Quatermain.
- With 20 Illustrations. 35. 6d.
- Haggard's (H. R.) Colonel Quaritch, V.C. : a Tale of Country Life. 3r. 6d. Haggard's (H. R.) Cleopatra. With 29
- Illustrations. 35. 6d. Haggard's (H. R.) Eric Brighteyes. With 51 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Haggard's (H. R.) Beatrice. 31. 6d
- Haggard's (H. R.) Allan's Wife. With 34 Illustrations. 35. 6d.

and the second s

- Haggard's (H. R.) Heart of the World. With 15 Illustrations. 31. 6d.
- Haggard's (H. R.) Montesuma's Daughter. With 25 Illustrations. 31. 6d.
- Haggard's (H. R.) The Witch's Head.
- With 16 Illustrations. 3s. 6d. Haggard's (H. R.) Mr. Messon's Will. With 16 Illustrations. 31. 6d. Haggard's (H. R.) Nada the Lily. With
- 23 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- With 16 Illus-Haggard's (H. R.) Dawn. trations. 3s. 6d. Haggard's (H. R.) The People of the Mist.
- With 16 Illustrations. 3. 6d. Haggard's (H. R.) Joan Haste. With
- 20 Illustrations. 3. 6d. Hadgard (H. R.) and Lang's (L.) The World's Desire. With 27 Illus. 3. 6d.
- Harte's (Bret) In the Carquines Woods,
- and other Stories. 31. 6d. Helmholtz's (Hermann von) Popular Lectures on Scientific Subjects. With 68 Illustrations. 2 vols. 35. 6d. each. Hornung's (E. W.) The Unbidden Guest.
- 35. 6d.
- Howitt's (W.) Visits to Remarkable Places. With 80 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Jefferies'(R.) The Story of My Heart : My Autobiography. With Portrait. 3. 6d.
- Jefferies' (R.) Field and Hedgerow. With Portrait. 3s. 6d.
- Jefferfes' (R.) Rod Deer. 17 Illus. 35. 6d. Jefferies' (R.) Wood Magie : a Fable.
- 3s. 6d. Jefferies' (R.) The Toilers of the Field.
- With Portrait from the Bust in Salis-
- bury Cathedral. 3. 6d. Kaye (Sir J.) and Malleson's (Colonel) History of the Indian Mutiny of 1867-8. 6 vols. 3s. 6d. each.
- Knight's(E.F.)The Gruise of the 'Alerte': the Narrative of a Search for Treasure on the Desert Island of Trinidad. With 2 Maps and 23 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Knight's (E. F.) Where Three Empires Meet : a Narrative of Recent Travel in Kashmir, Western Tibet, Baltistan, Gilgit. With a Map and 54 Illustra-
- tions. 35.6d Enight's (E. F.) The 'Falcen' on the Baltic. With Map and 11 Illustra-
- tions. 33. 6d. Kostlin's (J.) Life of Luther. With 62
- Illustrations, &c. 31. 6d. Lang's (A.) Angling Sketches. 20 Illustrations. 3s. 6d. Lang's (A.) A Monk of Fife. With 13
- Illustrations. 3s. 6d.

The Silver Library-continued.

- Lang's (A.) Custom and Myth: Studies of Early Usage and Belief. 3s. 6d.
- Lang's (Andrew) Cock Lane and Common-Sense. With a New Preface, 31. 6d.
- Lees (J. A.) and Clutterbuck's (W.J.)B.C. 1887, A Ramble in British Columbia. With Maps and 75 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Macaulay's (Lord) Essays and Lays of Ancient Rome. With Portrait and Illustration. 3s. 6d.
- Macleod's (H. D.) Elements of Banking. 35. 6d.
- Marbot's (Baron de) Memoirs. Translated. 2 vols. 75.
- Marshman's (J.C.) Memoirs of Sir Henry Havelock. 3. 6d.

Merivale's (Dean) History of the Romans under the Empire. 8 vols. 3s. 6d. ca.

- Merriman's (H. S.) Flotsam : a Story of the Indian Mutiny. 35. 6d.
- Mill's (J. S.) Political Economy. 3s. 6d.
- Mill's (J. S.) System of Logic. 3s. 6d.
- Milner's (Geo.) Country Pleasures: the Chronicle of a Year chiefly in a garden. 3s. 6d.
- Hansen's (F.) The First Grossing of Greenland. With Illustrations and a Map. 35. 6d.
- Phillipps-Wolley's (C.) Snap: a Legend of the Lone Mountain. With 13 Illustrations. 3s. 6d.
- Prostor's (R. A.) The Moon. 3s. 6d.
- Proctor's (R. A.) The Orbs Around Us. 3s. 6d.
- Proctor's (R. A.) The Expanse of Heaven. 35. 6d.
- Proctor's (R. A.) Other Worlds than Ours. 31. 6d.

- Proctor's (R. A.) Our Place among Infinities: a Series of Essays contrasting our Little Abode in Space and Time with the Infinities around us. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. Proctor's (R. A.) Other Suns than
- Ours. 3s. 6d. Proctor's (R. A.) Rough Ways made
- Smooth. 35. 6d.
- Proctor's (R. A.) Pleasant Ways in Science. 3r. 6d. Science. 3s. 6d. Proctor's (R. A.) Myths and Maryels
- of Astronomy. 3. 6d. Proctor's (R. A.) Light Science for Leisure Hours. First Series, 3. 6d. Proctor's (R. A.) Nature Studies. 3. 6d.
- Proctor's (R. A.) Leisure Readings. By R. A. PROCTOR, EDWARD CLODD, ANDREW WILSON, THOMAS FOSTER,

and A. C. RANYARD. With Illustrations. 35. 6d.

- Ressetti's (Maria F.) & Shadow of Dante. 3s. 6d.
- Smith's (R. Bosworth) Carthage and the Carthaginians. With Maps, Plans, &c. 35. 6d.
- Stanley's (Bishop) Familiar History of Birds. With 160 Illustrations. 31. 6d.
- Stevenson's (R. L.) The Strange Case of Dr. Jekyll and Mr. Hyde; with other Fables. 3s. 6d. Stevenson (R. L.) and Osbourne's (Ll.)
- The Wrong Box. 3s. 6d. Stevenson (Robt. Louis) and Stevenson's
- (Fanny van de Grift)Nore New Arabian Nights. - The Dynamiter. 3s. 6d.
- Weyman's (Stanley J.) The House of the Wolf: a Romance. 3s. 6d.
- Wood's (Rev. J. G.) Petland Revisited. With 33 Illustrations. 3s. 6d. Wood's (Rev. J. G.) Strange Dwellings.
- With 60 Illustrations. 31. 6d. Wood's (Rev. J. G.) Out of Doors. With
- II Illustrations. 3s. 6d.

Cookery, Domestic Management, &c.

Acton.-MODERN COOKERY. By ELIZA | De Salis (Mrs.). ACTON. With 150 Woodcuts. Fcp. 8vo., 4s. 6d.

Bull (THOMAS. M.D.).

HINTS TO MOTHERS ON THE MANAGE-MENT OF THEIR HEALTH DURING THE PERIOD OF PREGNANCY. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d. The Maternal Management of

CHILDREN IN HEALTH AND DISEASE. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.

- CAKES AND CONFECTIONS À LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo., 1s. 6d.
- Dogs: a Manual for Amateurs. Fcp. 8vo., 11. 6d.
- DRESSED GAME AND POULTRY & LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.
- DRESSED VEGETABLES À LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.

Cookery, Domestic Management, &c.—continued.

De Salis (Mrs.)-continued.

DRINKS À LA MODE, FCD. 8vo., 13. 6d.

ENTRÉES À LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo., 13. 6d.

FLORAL DECORATIONS. Fcp. 8vo., 15.6d.

- GARDENING À LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo. Part I. Vegetables. 15, 6d. Part II. Fruits. 15. 6d.
- NATIONAL VIANDS À LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.

NEW-LAID EGGS. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.

OYSTERS À LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.

- PUDDINGS AND PASTRY & LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo., 1s. 6d.
- SAVOURIES À LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.
- Soups and Dressed Fish λ LA Mode. Fcp. 8vo., 1s. 6d.

SWEETS AND SUPPER DISHES & LA MODE. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.

De Salis (Mrs.)-continued.

- TEMPTING DISHES FOR SMALL IN-COMES. Fcp. 8vo., 15. 6d.
- WRINKLES AND NOTIONS FOR EVERY HOUSEHOLD. Cr. 8vo., 15. 6d.
- Lear.-MAIGRE COOKERY. By H. L. SIDNEY LEAR. 16mo., 25.
- Poole.—COOKERY FOR THE DIABETIC. By W. H. and Mrs. POOLE. With Preface by Dr. PAVY. Fcp. 8vo., 2s. 6d.
- Walker (Jane H.).
 - A BOOK FOR EVERY WOMAN. Part I. The Management of Children in Health and out of Health. Cr. 8vo., 2s. 6d. Part II. Woman in Health and out
 - of Health. Crown 8vo, 2s. 6d.
 - A HANDBOOK FOR MOTHERS: being Simple Hints to Women on the Management of their Health during Pregnancy and Confinement, together with Plain Directions as to the Care of Infants. Cr. 8vo., 2s. 6d.

Miscellaneous and Critical Works.

and the second second

- Allingham.--VARIETIES IN PROSE. By WILLIAM ALLINGHAM. 3 vols. Cr. 8vo, 18s. (Vols. 1 and 2, Rambles, by PATRICIUS WALKER. Vol. 3, Irish Cr. WORKS, p. 32. Autumn Holidays of A Count Sketches, etc.)
- Armstrong.-Essays and Sketches. By EDMUND J. ARMSTRONG. Fcp. 8vo., 51.
- Bagehot.-LITERARY STUDIES. By WALTER BAGEHOT. With Portrait. 3 vols. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. each.
- Baring-Gould.-CURIOUS MYTHS OF THE MIDDLE AGES. By Rev. S. BARING-GOULD. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Baynes .--- SHAKESPEARE STUDIES, AND OTHER ESSAYS. By the late THOMAS SPENCER BAYNES, LL.B., LL.D. With a Biographical Preface by Prof. LEWIS CAMPBELL. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d.

- And see MISCELLANEOUS THEOLO.
 - AUTUMN HOLIDAYS OF A COUNTRY PARSON. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - COMMONPLACE PHILOSOPHER. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - CRITICAL ESSAYS OF A COUNTRY PARSON. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - EAST COAST DAYS AND MEMORIES. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - LANDSCAPES, CHURCHES AND MORA-LITIES. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - LEISURE HOURS IN TOWN. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - LESSONS OF MIDDLE AGE. Cr.8vo., 31.6d.
 - OUR LITTLE LIFE. Two Series. Cr. 8vo., 3r. 6d. each.
 - OUR HOMELY COMEDY: AND TRAGEDY. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - **RECREATIONS OF A COUNTRY PARSON.** Three Series. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d. each.

·•.

Miscellaneous and Critical Works-continued.

Butler (SAMUEL).

1

- EREWHON. Cr. 8vo., 5s. THE FAIR HAVEN. A Work in Defence of the Miraculous Element in our Lord's Ministry. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- LIFE AND HABIT. An Essay after a Completer View of Evolution. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- EVOLUTION, OLD AND NEW. Cr. 8vo., 105. 6d.
- ALPS AND SANCTUARIES OF PIEDMONT AND CANTON TICINO. Illustrated.
- Pott 4to., 103.6d. Luck, or Cunning, as the Main Means of Organic Modification? Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Ex VOTO. An Account of the Sacro Monte or New Jerusalem at Varallo-Sesia. Crown 8vo., 105. 6d.
- CHARITIES REGISTER, THE AN-NUAL, AND DIGEST. Volume for 1898: being a Classified Register of Charities in or available in the Metropolis. With an Introduction by C. S. LOCH, Secretary to the Council of the Charity Organisation Society, London. 8vo., 4s.
- Clough .- A STUDY OF MARY WOLL-STONECRAFT, AND THE RIGHTS OF WOMEN. By EMMA RAUSCHENBUSCH-CLOUGH, Ph. D. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- Dreyfus.-LECTURES ON FRENCH LITERATURE. Delivered in Melbourne by IRMA DREYFUS. With Portrait of the Author. Large crown 8vo., 125. 6d.
- Evans.—The Ancient Stone Imple-ments, Weapons, and Ornaments OF GREAT BRITAIN. By Sir JOHN Evans, K.C.B., D.C.L., LL.D., F.R.S., etc. With 537 Illustrations. Medium 8vo., 28s.
- Gwilt .-- AN ENCYCLOPÆDIA OF ARCHI-TECTURE. By JOSEPH GWILT, F.S.A. Illustrated with more than 1100 Engravings on Wood. Revised (1888), with Alterations and Considerable Additions by WYATT PAPWORTH. 8vo., £2 125.6d.
- Hamlin .-- A TEXT-BOOK OF THE HIS-TORY OF ARCHITECTURE. By A. D. F. TORY OF ARCHITECTORE. BY A. D. F. HAMLIN, A.M. With 229 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 75. 6d. Haweis.-MUSIC AND MORALS. By the Madden.-The DIARY OF MASTER
- Rev. H. R. HAWEIS. With Portrait of the Author, and numerous Illustrations. Facsimiles and Diagrams. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.

Hime. - STRAY MILITARY PAPERS. By Lieut.-Colonel H. W. L. HIME (late Royal Artillery). 8vo., 7s. 6d.

CONTENTS. - Infantry Fire Formations-On Marking at Rifle Matches-The Progress of Field Artillery-The Reconnoitering Duties of Cavalry.

- Indian Ideals (No. 1).
 - SUTRA: an Inquiry into NÅRADA Love (Bhakti-Jijnasa). Translated from the Sanskrit, with an Independent Commentary, by E. T. STURDY. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d. net.
- Jefferies (RICHARD).
 - FIELD AND HEDGEROW. With Portrait. Crown 8vo., 3. 6d. THE STORY OF MY HEART : my Auto-
 - biography. With Portrait and New Preface by C. J. LONGMAN. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. RED DEER. With 17 Illustrations by J.
 - CHARLTON and H. TUNALY. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - THE TOILERS OF THE FIELD. With Portrait from the Bust in Salisbury
 - Cathedral. Crown 8vo., 3. 6d. WOOD MAGIC: a Fable. With Frontis-piece and Vignette by E. V. B. Cr. 8vo., 31.6d.
- Johnson.-The Patentee's Manual: a Treatise on the Law and Practice of Letters Patent. By J. & J. H. JOHN-SON, Patent Agents, &c. 8vo., 1or. 6d.
- JOYCE. THE ORIGIN AND HISTORY OF IRISH NAMES OF PLACES. By P. W. JOYCE, LL.D. Seventh Edition. 2 Crown 8vo., 5s. each. vols.
- Lang (ANDREW).
 - MODERN MYTHOLOGY. 8vo., os.
 - LETTERS TO DEAD AUTHORS. Fcp. 8vo., 2s. 6d. net. BOOKS AND BOOKMEN.
 - With . 2 Coloured Plates and 17 Illustrations. Fcp. 8vo., 2s. 6d. net. OLD FRIENDS. Fcp. 8vo., 2s. 6d. net.

 - LETTERS ON LITERATURE. Fcp. 8vo., 25. 6d. net.
 - COCK LANE AND COMMON-SENSE. Crown 8vo., 3r. 6d. The Book of Dreams and Ghosts.
 - Crown 8vo., 6s.
 - ESSAYS IN LITTLE. With Portrait of
- WILLIAM SILENCE : a Study of Shakespeare and Elizabethan Sport. By the Right Hon. D. H. MADDEN. 8vo., 16s.

Stational Stational

Miscellaneous and Critical Works-continued.

Max Müller (F.).

- INDIA: WHAT CAN IT TEACH US? Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- CHIPS FROM A GERMAN WORKSHOP. Vol. I. Recent Essays and Addresses.
 - Cr. 8vo., 5s. Vol. II. Biographical Essays. Cr. 8vo., 5s. Vol. III. Essays on Language and
 - Literature. Cr. 8vo., 5s.
 - Vol. IV. Essays on Mythology and Folk Lore. Crown 8vo., 5s.
- CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE SCIENCE OF MYTHOLOGY. 2 vols. 8vo., 325.
- Milner. -- COUNTRY PLEASURES: the Chronicle of a Year chiefly in a Garden. By GEORGE MILNER. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Morris (WILLIAM).

- SIGNS OF CHANGE. Post 8vo., 4s. 6d. HOPES AND FEARS FOR ART. Cr. 8vo., 4s. 6d.
- AN ADDRESS DELIVERED AT THE DIS-TRIBUTION OF PRIZES TO STUDENTS OF THE BIRMINGHAM MUNICIPAL SCHOOL OF ART, 21ST FEBRUARY, 1894. 8vo., 2s. 6d. net.
- Orchard. THE ASTRONOMY OF 'MILTON'S PARADISE LOST'. By T. N. ORCHARD. 13 Illustrations. 8vo., 6s. net.
- Poore(George Vivian, M.D., F.R.C.P.). ESSAYS ON RURAL HYGIENE. With 13
 - Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s. 6d. THE DWELLING HOUSE. With With 36 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Proctor. -- STRENGTH: How to get Strong and keep Strong, with Chapters on Rowing and Swimming, Fat, Age, and the Waist. By R. A. PROCTOR. With 9 Illustrations. Cr. 8vo, 2s.

- PROGRESS IN WOMEN'S EDUCA. TION IN THE BRITISH EMPIRE Being the Report of the Education Sec. tion, Victorian Era Exhibition, 1897. Edited by the COUNTESS OF WARWICK With 10 Illustrations. Crown 8vo., 6s
- Richmond. BOYHOOD: a Plea for Continuity in Education. By ENNIS RICHMOND. Crown 8vo., 2s. 6d.
- Rossetti.-A SHADOW OF DANTE : being an Essay towards studying Himself, his World, and his Pilgrimage. By MARIA FRANCESCA ROSSETTI. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Solovyoff.—A MODERN PRIESTESS OF ISIS (MADAME BLAVATSKY). Abridged and Translated on Behalf of the Society for Psychical Research from the Russian of VSEVOLOD SERGYEEVICH SOLOVYOFF. By WALTER LEAF, Litt. D. Cr. 8vo., 6s.
- Soulsby (Lucy H. M.). STRAY THOUGHTS ON READING. Small 8vo., 2s. 6d. net. STRAY THOUGHTS FOR GIRLS. 16mo.,
 - 15. 6d. net.
 - STRAY THOUGHTS FOR MOTHERS AND TEACHERS. Fcp. 8vo., 2s. 6d. net.
 - STRAY THOUGHTS FOR INVALIDS. 16mo., 25. net.
- Stevens .-- ON THE STOWAGE OF SHIPS AND THEIR CARGOES. With Information regarding Freights, Charter-Parties. &c. By ROBERT WHITE STEVENS. 8vo., 213.
- Turner and Sutherland. THE DEVELOPMENT OF AUSTRALIAN LITER-ATURE. By HENRY GYLES TURNER and ALEXANDER SUTHERLAND. With 5 Portraits and an Illust. Cr. 8vo., 55.
- White.--AN EXAMINATION OF THE CHARGE OF APOSTASY AGAINST WORDSWORTH. By WILLIAM HALE WHITE. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

Miscellaneous Theological Works.

* * For Church of England and Roman Catholic Works see MESSRS. LONGMANS & CO.'S Special Catalogues.

BalfourTHE FOUNDATIONS OF BE-	Bird (ROBERT)—continued.
LIEF: being Notes Introductory to the	JESUS, THE CARPENTER OF NAZARETH.
Study of Theology. By the Right Hon.	Twelfth Edition. Crown 8vo, 55.
A THUR J. BALFOUR, M.P. 8vo., 12s. 6d.	To be had also in Two Parts, price
•	2s. 6d. each.
Bird (Robert).	Part. IGALILEE AND THE LAKE OF
A CHILD'S RELIGION. Crown 8vo., 2s.	Gennesaret.

A CHILD'S RELIGION. Crown 8vo., 2s. JOSEPH THE DREAMER. Cr. 8vo., 5s.

. .

Part II. -- JERUSALEM AND THE PERÆA.

32 LONGMANS & CO.'S STANDARD AND GENERAL WORKS.

Miscellaneous Theological Works-continued.

- Boyd (A. K. H.) (' A.K.H.B.'). OCCASIONAL AND IMMEMORIAL DAYS: Discourses. Crown 8vo., 75. 6d.
 - COUNSEL AND COMFORT FROM A CITY PULPIT. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - SUNDAY AFTERNOONS IN THE PARISH CHURCH OF A SCOTTISH UNIVERSITY CITY. Crown 8vo., 31. 6d.
 - CHANGED ASPECTS OF UNCHANGED TRUTHS. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
 - GRAVER THOUGHTS OF A COUNTRY PARSON. Three Series. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d. each.
 - PRESENT DAY THOUGHTS. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.

SEASIDE MUSINGS. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.

- 'TO MEET THE DAY' through the Christian Year; being a Text of Scripture, with an Original Meditation and a Short Selection in Verse for Every Day. Crown 8vo., 4s. 6d.
- Gibson.—THE ABBE DE LAMENNAIS AND THE LIBERAL CATHOLIC MOVE-MENT IN FRANCE. By the HON. W. GIBSON. With Portrait. 8vo., 121. 6d.

Kalisch (M. M., Ph.D.).

- BIBLE STUDIES. Part I. Prophecies of Balaam. 8vo., 10s. 6d. Part II. The Book of Jonah. 8vo., 10s. 6d.
- COMMENTARY ON THE OLD TESTAMENT: with a new Translation. Vol. I. Genesis. 8vo., 18. Or adapted for the General Reader. 12. Vol. II. Exodus. 15. Or adapted for the General Reader. 12. Vol. III. Leviticus, Part I. 15. Or adapted for the General Reader. 8. Vol. IV. Leviticus, Part II. 15. Or adapted for the General Reader. 8.
- Lang.—THE MAKING OF RELIGION. By ANDREW LANG. 8vo., 121.
- Macdonald (GEORGE). UNSPOKEN SERMONS. Three Series.
 - UNSPOKEN SERMONS. Three Series. Crown 8vo., 31. 6d. each.
 - THE MIRACLES OF OUR LORD. Crown 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- Martineau (JAMES).

50,000-9/98.

HOURS OF THOUGHT ON SACRED THINGS: Sermons. 2 Vols. Crown 8vo. 3J. 6d. each.

Martineau (JAMES)-continued.

- ENDEAVOURS AFTER THE CHRISTIAN LIFE. Discourses. Cr. 8vo., 7s. 6d.
- THE SEAT OF AUTHORITY IN RELIGION. 8vo., 143.
- ESSAYS, REVIEWS, AND ADDRESSES. 4 Vols. Crown 8vo., 7s. 6d. each. I. Personal; Political. II. Ecclesiastical; Historical. III. Theological; Philosophical. IV. Academical; Religious.
- HOME PRAYERS, with Two Services for Public Worship. Crown 8vo. 3s. 6d.

Max Müller (F.).

- THE ORIGIN AND GROWTH OF RE-LIGION, as illustrated by the Religions of India. The Hibbert Lectures, delivered at the Chapter House, Westminster Abbey, in 1878. Crown 8vo., 55.
- INTRODUCTION TO THE SCIENCE OF RELIGION: Four Lectures delivered at the Royal Institution. Cr. 8vo., 3s. 6d.
- NATURAL RELIGION. The Gifford Lectures, delivered before the University of Glasgow in 1888. Cr. 8vo., 55.
- PHYSICAL RELIGION. The Gifford Lectures, delivered before the University of Glasgow in 1890. Cr. 8vo., 5^{5.}
- ANTHROPOLOGICAL RELIGION. The Gifford Lectures, delivered before the University of Glasgow in 1891. Cr. 8vo., 55.
- THEOSOPHY; or, PSYCHOLOGICAL RELI-GION. The Gifford Lectures, delivered before the University of Glasgow in 1892. Cr. 8vo., 5s.
- THREE LECTURES ON THE VEDANTA PHILOSOPHY, delivered at the Royal Institution in March, 1894. 8vo., 5s.
- **Romanes.**—Thoughts on Religion. By George J. Romanes, LL.D., F.R.S. Crown 8vo., 4s. 6d.
- LOED. Crown Vivekananda.—VOGA PHILOSOPHY: Lectures delivered in New York, Winter of 1895-6, by the SWAMI VIVEKAN-ANDA, on Raja Yoga; or, Conquering the Internal Nature; also Patanjali's Yoga Aphorisms, with Commentaries. Crown 8vo., 35, 6d.

.

